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The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 provides safe harbor for forward-looking statements

Certain information included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and other materials filed or to be filed by the

Company as defined herein with the Securities and Exchange Commission SEC as well as information

included in oral statements or other written statements made or to be made by the Company contain statements that

are or will be forward-looking such as statements relating to rental operations business and property development

activities joint venture relationships acquisitions and dispositions including related pro forma financial

information future capital expenditures financing sources and availability litigation and the effects of regulation

including environmental regulation and competition These forward-looking statements generally are accompanied

by words such as believes anticipates expects estimates should seeks intends planned
outlook and goal or similar expressions Although the Company believes that the expectations reflected in such

forward-looking statements are based on reasonable assumptions the Company can give no assurance that its

expectations will be achieved As forward-looking statements these statements involve important risks uncertainties

and other factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from the expected results and accordingly such

results may differ from those expressed in any forward-looking statements made by or on behalf of the Company
The Company assumes no obligation to update or supplement forward looking statements that become untrue

because of subsequent events These risks uncertainties and other factors include without limitation uncertainties

affecting real estate businesses generally such as entry into new leases renewals of leases and dependence on

tenants business operations risks relating to our ability to maintain and increase property occupancy and rental

rates risks relating to the current cycle of deleveraging and related pressure on asset prices risks relating to the

current credit crisis and economic decline risks relating to construction and development activities risks relating to

acquisition and disposition activities risks relating to the integration of the operations of entities that we have

acquired or may acquire risks relating to joint venture relationships and any possible need to perform under certain

guarantees that we have issued or may issue in connection with such relationships possible environmental liabilities

risks relating to leverage and debt service including availability of financing terms acceptable to the Company and

sensitivity of the Companys operations and financing arrangements to fluctuations in interest rates dependence on

the primary markets in which the Companys properties are located the existence of complex regulations relating to

status as REIT and the adverse consequences of the failure to qualify as REIT risks relating to litigation

including without limitation litigation involving entities that we have acquired or may acquire and the potential

adverse impact of market interest rates on the market price for the Companys securities See Managements
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Forward-Looking Statements



PART

ITEM BUSINESS

The Company

Liberty Property Trust the Trust is self-administered and self-managed Maryland real estate investment trust

REIT Substantially all of the Trusts assets are owned directly or indirectly and substantially all of the Trusts

operations are conducted directly or indirectly by its subsidiary Liberty Property Limited Partnership

Pennsylvania limited partnership the Operating Partnership and together with the Trust and their consolidated

subsidiaries the Company

The Company completed its initial public offering in 1994 to continue and expand the commercial real estate

business of Rouse Associates Pennsylvania general partnership and certain affiliated entities collectively the

Predecessor which was founded in 1972 As of December 31 2008 the Company owned and operated 357

industrial and 297 office properties the Wholly Owned Properties in Operation totaling 63.8 million square feet

In addition as of December 31 2008 the Company owned 17 properties under development which when completed

are expected to comprise 3.2 million
square

feet the Wholly Owned Properties under Development and 1336

acres of developable land substantially all of which is zoned for commercial use Additionally as of December 31

2008 the Company had an ownership interest through unconsolidated joint ventures in 46 industrial and 49 office

properties totaling 13.1 million square feet the JV Properties in Operation and together with the Wholly Owned

Properties in Operation the Properties in Operation four properties under development which when completed

are expected to comprise 1.4 million square feet the JV Properties under Development and together with the

Wholly Owned Properties under Development the Properties under Development and together with the Properties

in Operation the Properties and 648 acres of developable land substantially all of which is zoned for commercial

use

The Company provides leasing property management development and other tenant-related services for the

Properties The Companys industrial Properties consist of variety of warehouse distribution service assembly

light manufacturing and research and development facilities They include both single-tenant and multi-tenant

facilities with most designed flexibly to accommodate various types of tenants space requirements and industrial

uses The Companys office Properties are multi-story and single-story office buildings located principally in

suburban mixed-use developments or office parks Substantially all of the Companys Properties are located in prime

business locations within established business communities In addition the Company individually or through joint

ventures owns urban office properties in Philadelphia and Washington D.C Going forward the Companys product

and market selection will favor metro-office multi-tenant industrial and flex properties and markets with strong

demographic and economic fundamentals

The Trust is the sole general partner and also limited partner of the Operating Partnership owning 96.0% of the

common equity of the Operating Partnership at December 31 2008 The common units of limited partnership interest

in the Operating Partnership the Common Units other than those owned by the Trust are exchangeable on one-

for-one basis subject to anti-dilution protections for the Trusts Common Shares of Beneficial Interest $0.00 par

value per share the Common Shares As of December 31 2008 the Common Units held by the limited partners

were exchangeable for 4.1 million Common Shares The Company has issued several series of Cumulative

Redeemable Preferred Units of the Operating Partnership the Preferred Units The outstanding Preferred Units of

each series are exchangeable on one-for-one basis after stated dates into corresponding series Cumulative

Redeemable Preferred Shares of the Trust Collectively the ownership of the holders of Common and Preferred Units

is reflected on the Trusts financial statements as minority interest

In addition to this Annual Report on Form 10-K the Company files with or furnishes to the SEC periodic and current

reports proxy statements and other information The Company makes these documents available on its website

www.libertyproperty.com free of charge as soon as reasonably practicable after such material is electronically filed

with or furnished to the SEC Any document the Company files with or furnishes to the SEC is available to read

and copy at the SECs Public Reference Room at 100 Street NE Room 1580 Washington DC 20549 Further

information about the public reference facilities is available by calling the SEC at 800 SEC-0330 These documents

also may be accessed on the SECs web site http//www.sec.gov

Also posted on the Companys website is the Companys Code of Conduct which applies to all of its employees and

also serves as code of ethics for its chief executive officer chief financial officer and persons performing similar

functions The Company will send the Code of Conduct free of charge to anyone who requests copy in writing



from its Investor Relations Department at the address set forth on the cover of this filing The Company intends to

satisFy the disclosure requirement under Item 5.05 of Form 8-K regarding any
amendments to or waivers of the Code

of Conduct by posting the required information in the Corporate Governance section of its website

Management and Employees

The Companys 481 employees as of February 23 2009 operate under the direction of 19 senior executives who
have been affiliated with the Company and the Predecessor for 17

years on average The Company and the

Predecessor have developed and managed commercial real estate for the past 36 years The Company maintains an

in-house leasing and property management staff which enables the Company to better understand the characteristics

of the local markets in which it operates to respond quickly and directly to tenant needs and to better identiFy local

real estate opportunities At December 31 2008 the Companys reportable segments were based on the Companys
method of internal reporting and are as follows

REPORTABLE SEGMENTS MARKETS

Northeast Southeastern PA Lehigh/Central PA New Jersey

Midwest Minnesota Milwaukee Chicago

Mid-Atlantic Maryland Carolinas Richmond Virginia Beach

South Jacksonville Orlando Boca Raton Tampa Texas Arizona

Philadelphia Philadelphia Northern Virginia/Washington D.C

United Kingdom County of Kent West Midlands

Business Objective and Strategies for Growth

The Companys business objective is to maximize long-term profitability for its shareholders by being recognized

leader in commercial real estate through the ownership management development and acquisition of superior office

and industrial properties The Company intends to achieve this objective through offering office and industrial

properties in multiple markets and operating as leading landlord in the industry The Company believes that this

objective will provide the benefits of enhanced investment opportunities economies of scale risk diversification both

in terms of geographic market and real estate product type access to capital and the ability to attract and retain

personnel The Company also strives to be leading provider of customer service providing an exceptional and

positive customer experience The Company seeks to be an industry leader in sustainable development and to operate

an energy-efficient portfolio In pursuing its business objective the Company seeks to achieve combination of

internal and external growth maintain conservative balance sheet and pursue strategy of financial flexibility

Products

The Company strives to be recognized quality provider of five products industrial properties including big box

warehouse multi-tenant industrial and flex/RD and office properties including single-story office and multi-story

office Going forward the Companys product selection will favor metro-office multi-tenant industrial and flex

properties Going forward the Companys market selection will favor markets with strong demographic and

economic fundamentals Consistent with the Companys strategy and market opportunities the Company may

pursue office and industrial products other than those noted above

Markets

The Company operates primarily in the Mid-Atlantic Southeastern Midwestern and Southwestern United States

Additionally the Company owns certain assets in the United Kingdom The Companys goal is to operate in each of

its markets with an appropriate product mix of office and industrial properties In some markets it may offer only one

of its product types Generally the Company seeks to have presence in each market sufficient for the Company to

be viewed as significant participant in each market The Companys efforts emphasize business park development

and asset aggregation The Company gathers information from internal sources and independent third parties and

analyzes this information to support its evaluation of markets and market conditions

Organizational Plan

The Company seeks to maintain management organization that facilitates efficient execution of the Companys

strategy As part of this effort the Company pursues human resources plan designed to create and maintain highly

regarded real estate company through recruiting training and retaining capable people The structure is designed to

support local office entrepreneurial platform operating within value-added corporate structure The Company
upgrades its information technology periodically to keep pace with advances in available technology



Internal Growth Strategies

The Company seeks to maximize the profitability of its Properties by endeavoring to maintain high occupancy levels

while obtaining competitive rental rates controlling costs and focusing on customer service efforts

Maintain High Occupancies

The Company believes that the quality and diversity of its tenant base and its strategy of operating in multiple

markets is integral to achieving its goal of attaining high occupancy levels for its portfolio The Company targets

financially stable tenants in an effort to minimize uncertainty relating to the ability of the tenants to meet their lease

obligations

Cost Controls

The Company seeks to identif best practices to apply throughout the Company in order to enhance cost savings and

other efficiencies The Company also employs an annual capital improvement and preventative maintenance program

designed to reduce the operating costs of the Properties in Operation and maintain the long-term value of the

Properties in Operation

Customer Service

The Company seeks to achieve high tenant retention through comprehensive customer service program which is

designed to provide an exceptional and positive customer experience The customer service program establishes best

practices and provides an appropriate customer feedback process The Company believes that the program has been

helpful in increasing customer satisfaction

Energy Efficiency Initiatives

The Company is committed to improving the energy efficiency of the existing buildings in its portfolio and has made

substantial effort to design environmentally friendly features in the buildings it develops

The Company has been an active participant in the U.S Green Building Councils Leadership in Energy and

Environmental Design LEED program The LEED program which was created to recognize environmental

leadership in the building industry establishes voluntary consensus-based national standard for developing high-

performance sustainable buildings The Company currently has over seven million square feet of LEED projects

completed or under construction including the 1.25 million square foot Comcast Center

The Company believes that building in accordance with LEED standards is environmentally responsible and can lead

to significant operating efficiencies The Company believes that green building techniques such as construction

waste management recycling waste onsite energy
conservation occupancy sensors associated with lighting and

high performance HVAC systems and improvement of environmental quality maximization of daylight and use of

low-emitting materials can result in positive environmental results and significant economic returns to tenants in

terms of savings in operating costs and improved employee performance

The Company has also taken significant steps to measure the energy efficiency of the existing buildings in the

portfolio and to move forward with efforts to improve the energy efficiency of the buildings in the portfolio These

efforts have included in various cases conducting energy audits performing lighting retrofits and installing

lighting controls installing building automation systems installing improvements designed to increase energy

efficiency and establishing and implementing green property management guide and green training program

The Companys efforts in this area are ongoing The Company intends to continue to explore methods of enhancing

the performance of the buildings in its existing portfolio

External Growth Strategies

The Company seeks to enhance its long-term profitability through the development acquisition and disposition of

properties either directly or through joint ventures The Company also considers acquisitions of real estate operating

companies

However current market conditions are not favorable for the development acquisition and disposition of properties

and consequently the Company expects growth in profitability from these sources to be limited at least in the near

term



Wholly Owned Properties

Development

The Company pursues attractive development opportunities focusing primarily on high-quality suburban industrial

and office properties within its existing markets When the Companys marketing efforts identify opportunities the

Company will consider pursuing opportunities outside of the Companys established markets The Company and its

Predecessor have developed over 59 million square feet of commercial real estate during the past 36
years The

Companys development activities generally fall into two categories build-to-suit projects and projects built for

inventory projects that are less than 75% leased prior to commencement of construction The Company develops

build-to-suit projects for existing and new tenants The Company also builds properties for inventory where the

Company has identified sufficient demand at market rental rates to justify such construction

During the year ended December 31 2008 the Company completed three build-to-suit projects and 14 inventory

projects totaling 3.2 million square feet and representing an aggregate Total Investment as defined below of $217.0

million As of December 31 2008 these completed development properties were 61.2% leased The Total

Investment for Property is defined as the Propertys purchase price plus closing costs and managements estimate

as determined at the time of acquisition of the cost of necessary building improvements in the case of acquisitions or

land costs and land and building improvement costs in the case of development projects and where appropriate

other development costs and carrying costs

As of December 31 2008 the Company had 17 Wholly Owned Properties under Development which are expected to

comprise upon completion 3.2 million square feet and are expected to represent Total Investment of $373.6

million These Wholly Owned Properties under Development were 63.0% pre-leased as of December 31 2008 The

scheduled deliveries of the 3.2 million square feet of Wholly Owned Properties under Development are as follows in

thousands except percentages

SQUARE FEET PERCENT LEASED TOTAL

SCHEDULED IN-SERVICE DATE IND-DIST IND-FLEX OFFICE TOTAL DECEMBER 312008 INVESTMENT

Quarter 2009 90 90 85.9% 16321

Quarter 2009 920 126 78 1124 52.0% 71893
3rdQuarter2009 100 69 333 502 13.6% 88723
4thQuarter2009 961 177 1138 95.2% 126212

Quarter 2010 95 95 72.3% 24206
4th Quarter 2010 211 211 50.8% 46245

Total 1981 195 984 3160 63.0% 373600

The Company believes that because it is fully integrated real estate firm its base of commercially zoned land in

existing industrial and office business parks provides competitive advantage for future development activities As

of December 31 2008 the Company owned 1336 acres of land held for development substantially all of which is

zoned for commercial use Substantially all of the land is located adjacent to or within existing industrial or business

parks with site improvements such as public sewers water and utilities available for service The Company
anticipates that its land holdings would support as and when developed 13.6 million square feet of property The

Companys investment in land held for development as of December 31 2008 was $209.6 million

Through development agreement with Kent County Council the Company develops commercial buildings at Kings

Hill 650-acre mixed use development site in the County of Kent England The Company also is the project

manager for the installation of infrastructure on the site and receives portion of the proceeds from the sale of land

parcels to home builders The site has planning consent for 2.0 million square feet of commercial space and 2750
homes of which approximately 800000 square feet of commercial space and 2100 homes have now been

completed

Acquisitions/Dispositions

The Company seeks to acquire properties consistent with its business objectives and strategies The Company
executes its acquisition strategy by purchasing properties that management believes will create shareholder value

over the long-term

During the year ended December 31 2008 the Company acquired one property comprising 107000 square feet for

Total Investment of$17.0 million

The Company disposes of properties and land held for development that no longer fit within the Companys strategic

plan or with respect to which the Company believes it can optimize cash proceeds During the year ended December



31 2008 the Company sold 13 operating properties which contained 665000 square feet and 24 acres of land for

aggregate proceeds of $83.0 million

Joint Venture Properties

The Company from time to time considers joint venture opportunities with institutional investors or other real estate

companies Joint venture partnerships provide the Company with additional sources of capital to share investment

risk and fund capital requirements In some instances joint venture partnerships provide the Company with additional

local market or product type expertise

As of December 31 2008 the Company had investments in and advances to unconsolidated joint ventures totaling

$266.6 million see Note to the Companys Consolidated Financial Statements

Development

During the year ended December 31 2008 unconsolidated joint ventures in which the Company held an interest

completed three inventory projects totaling 351000 square feet and representing Total Investment of $42.5 million

As of December 31 2008 these completed development properties were 65.9% leased Additionally the final

306000 square feet of Comcast Center owned by joint venture in which the Company has 20% interest

representing Total Investment of $124.1 million were brought into service

As of December 31 2008 unconsolidated joint ventures in which the Company held an interest had four JV

Properties under Development which are expected to comprise upon completion 1.4 million leaseable square feet

and are expected to represent Total Investment of $186.4 million These JV Properties under Development were

38.1% pre-leased as of December 31 2008

As of December 31 2008 unconsolidated joint ventures in which the Company held an interest owned 648 acres of

land held for development substantially all of which is zoned for commercial use Substantially all of the land is

located adjacent to or within existing industrial or business parks with site improvements such as public sewers

water and utilities available for service The Company anticipates that its joint venture land holdings would support

as and when developed 6.5 million square feet of property

Acquisitions/Dispositions

During the year ended December 31 2008 none of the unconsolidated joint ventures in which the Company held an

interest acquired any properties

During the year ended December 31 2008 joint venture in which the Company held 50% interest realized

proceeds of $1.4 million from the sale of one acre of land

ITEM 1A RISK FACTORS

The Companys results of operations and the ability to make distributions to our shareholders and service our

indebtedness may be affected by the risk factors set forth below The Company refers to itself as we us or our
in the following risk factors This section contains some forward looking statements You should refer to the

explanation of the qualifications and limitations on forward-looking statements on page
29

Risks Related to Our Business

Recent turmoil in the global credit markets and current economic downturn could adversely affrct our business

and financial condition

The Companys business is subject to the risks in this section Current economic conditions have increased the

probability the Company will experience these risks Recent turmoil in the global credit markets and declines and

continuing weakness in the general economy have negatively impacted the Companys normal business practices

particularly its financing activities

We have historically relied on access to the credit markets in the conduct of our business In particular we currently

utilize $600 million credit facility and additionally we have as of December 31 2008 $2.1 billion of senior

unsecured debt and $198.6 million of secured debt Our credit facility expires in January 2010 subject to right to

extend for one-year period Although we are not aware of any
instances in which banks participating in the credit

facility have been unable or unwilling to participate in draws under the facility it is possible that the financial issues



confronting the banking industry could lead to such an occurrence If such circumstance occurred it is possible that

the Company could not access the full amount which is supposed to be available under the credit facility

Additionally if the financial issues confronting the banking industry persist it is possible that the amount and terms

available for renewal of the credit facility could be adversely impacted Our secured and unsecured debt matures at

various times between 2009 and 2019 Only small portion of the principal of our debt is repaid prior to maturity

Therefore we generally need to refinance our outstanding debt as it matures In 2009 we have $270 million of

senior unsecured debt and $41.8 million of secured debt maturing

The circumstances noted above have adversely impacted liquidity in the debt markets making financing terms for

borrowers less attractive and in certain cases resulting in the practicable unavailability of certain types of debt

financing For example the market for senior unsecured debt financing has been generally unavailable to REITs

during 2008 We anticipate that the senior unsecured debt market will be unavailable for the remainder of 2009 As

consequence we have shified our financing strategy to include more secured debt

In addition to our reliance on access to credit markets in the conduct of our business we have relied on the proceeds

from the sale of our real estate assets to fund our growth opportunities The absence of available financing to

facilitate purchase and sale transactions has reduced our ability to rely on the proceeds to fund our growth

opportunities

Additionally to the extent that credit continues to be less available than in the past and/or more costly than in the

past this state of affairs will likely have an adverse impact on the value of commercial real estate Uncertainty in the

markets about the pricing of real estate has also reduced our ability to rely on the sale of our real estate assets to fund

our growth opportunities

The dramatic and pervasive nature of the economic downturn engendered by the credit crisis has resulted in

substantial job losses and financial stress to the businesses which form our tenant base Although the Company
endeavors to lease to credit-worthy tenants and has historically experienced relatively few defaults due to tenant

bankruptcy in this economic environment the Company may sustain substantially increased tenant defaults due to

bankruptcy or otherwise Such losses may be greater than expected and may result in material diminution in the

income generated by the Companys portfolio

Recent developments in the general economy have affected some of our existing tenants and could have an

adverse impact on our ability to collect rent or renew leases with these tenants resulting in negative effrct on

our cash flow from operations

Recent developments in the general economy and the global credit markets have had significant adverse effect on

many companies in numerous industries particularly the financial services and banking industries We have tenants

in these and other industries which may be experiencing these adverse effects Should any of our tenants that may
experience downturn in its business that weakens its financial condition delay lease commencement fail to make

rental payments when due become insolvent or declare bankruptcy the result could be termination of the tenants

lease and material losses to us Our cash flow from operations and our ability to make expected distributions to our

shareholders and service our indebtedness could in such case be adversely affected

Unfavorable events affrcting our existing tenants or negative market conditions that may affect our existing

tenants could have an adverse impact on our ability to attract new tenants relet space collect rent or renew

leases and thus could have negative efftct on our cash flow from operations

Our cash flow from operations depends on our ability to lease space to tenants on economically favorable terms

Therefore we could be adversely affected by various facts and events over which we have limited control such as

lack of demand for space in the areas where our Properties are located

inability to retain existing tenants and attract new tenants

oversupply of or reduced demand for
space and changes in market rental rates

defaults by our tenants or their failure to pay rent on timely basis

the need to periodically renovate and repair our space

physical damage to our Properties

economic or physical decline of the areas where our Properties are located

potential risk of functional obsolescence of our Properties over time

10



If tenant is unable to pay rent due to us we may be forced to evict such tenants or engage in other remedies which

may be expensive and time consuming and may adversely affect our net income shareholders equity and cash

distributions to shareholders

At any time any of our tenants may experience downturn in its business that may weaken its financial condition As

result tenant may delay lease commencement fail to make rental payments when due decline to extend lease

upon its expiration become insolvent or declare bankruptcy Any tenant bankruptcy or insolvency leasing delay or

failure to make rental payments when due could result in the termination of the tenants lease and material losses to

our Company

If our tenants do not renew their leases as they expire we may not be able to rent the space Furthermore leases that

are renewed and some new leases for space that is relet may have terms that are less economically favorable to us

than current lease terms or may require us to incur significant costs such as for renovations tenant improvements or

lease transaction costs

Any of these events could adversely affect our cash flow from operations and our ability to make expected

distributions to our shareholders and service our indebtedness

significant portion of our costs such as real estate taxes insurance costs and debt service payments generally are

not reduced when circumstances cause decrease in cash flow from our Properties

We may not be able to compete successfully with other entities that operate in our indus fry

We experience great deal of competition in attracting tenants for our Properties and in locating land to develop and

properties to acquire

In our effort to lease our Properties we compete for tenants with broad spectrum of other landlords in each of our

markets These competitors include among others publicly-held REITs privately-held entities individual property

owners and tenants who wish to sublease their space Some of these competitors may be able to offer prospective

tenants more attractive financial or other terms than we are able to offer

We may experience increased operating costs which could adversely affect our operations

Our Properties are subject to increases in operating expenses such as insurance cleaning electricity heating

ventilation and air conditioning general and administrative costs and other costs associated with security

landscaping repairs and maintenance While our current tenants generally are obligated to pay significant portion

of these costs there is no assurance that these tenants will make such payments or agree to pay these costs upon

renewal or that new tenants will agree to pay these costs If operating expenses increase in our markets we may not

be able to increase rents or reimbursements in all of these markets so as to meet increased expenses without

simultaneously decreasing occupancy rates If this occurs our ability to make distributions to shareholders and

service our indebtedness could be adversely affected

Our ability to achieve growth in operating income depends in part on our ability to develop properties which may

suffer under certain circumstances

We intend to continue to develop properties when warranted by market conditions However current market

conditions are not favorable for development and consequently we expect growth in operating income from

development to be limited at least in the near term

Additionally our general construction and development activities include the risks that

construction and leasing of property may not be completed on schedule which could result in increased

expenses
and construction costs and would result in reduced profitability

construction costs may exceed our original estimates due to increases in interest rates and increased

materials labor or other costs possibly making the property unprofitable because we may not be able to

increase rents to compensate for the increase in construction costs

some developments may fail to achieve expectations possibly making them unprofitable

we may be unable to obtain or may face delays in obtaining required zoning land-use building

occupancy and other governmental permits and authorizations which could result in increased costs and

could require us to abandon our activities entirely with respect to project

11



we may abandon development opportunities after we begin to explore them and as result we may fail to

recover costs already incurred If we alter or discontinue our development efforts past and future costs of

the investment may need to be expensed rather than capitalized and we may determine the investment is

impaired resulting in loss

we may expend funds on and devote managements time to projects that we do not complete

occupancy rates and rents at newly completed properties may fluctuate depending on number of factors

including market and economic conditions and may result in lower than projected rental rates with the result

that our investment is not profitable

We face risks associated with property acquisitions

We acquire individual properties and portfolios of properties in some cases through the acquisition of operating

entities and intend to continue to do so when circumstances warrant However current market conditions are not

favorable for acquisitions and consequently we expect growth in operating income from acquisitions to be limited at

least in the near term

Additionally our acquisition activities and their success are subject to the following risks

when we are able to locate desirable property competition from other real estate investors may
significantly increase the purchase price

acquired properties may fail to perform as expected

the actual costs of repositioning or redeveloping acquired properties may be higher than our estimates

acquired properties may be located in new markets where we face risks associated with an incomplete

knowledge or understanding of the local market limited number of established business relationships in

the area and relative unfamiliarity with local governmental and permitting procedures

we may be unable to quickly and efficiently integrate new acquisitions particularly acquisitions of portfolios

of properties and operating entities into our existing operations and as result our results of operations and

financial condition could be adversely affected

We may acquire properties subject to liabilities and without any recourse or with only limited recourse with respect

to unknown liabilities As result if liability were asserted against us based upon ownership of those properties we

might have to pay substantial sums to settle it which could adversely affect our cash flow

Many of our Properties are concentrated in our primary markets and we therefore may suffer economic harm as

result of adverse conditions in those markets

Our Properties are located principally in specific geographic areas Due to the concentration of our Properties in

these areas performance is dependent on economic conditions in these areas These areas have experienced periods

of economic decline

We may not be able to access financial markets to obtain capital on timely basis or on acceptable terms

In addition to the capital market constraints previously noted our ability to access the public debt and equity markets

depends on variety of factors including

general economic conditions affecting these markets

our own financial structure and performance

the markets opinion of REITs in general

the markets opinion of REITs that own properties similar to ours

We may suffer adverse effrcts as result of the terms of and covenants relating to our indebtedness

Required payments on our indebtedness generally are not reduced if the economic performance of our portfolio of

Properties declines If the economic performance of our Properties declines net income cash flow from operations

and cash available for distribution to shareholders will be reduced If payments on debt cannot be made we could

sustain loss or in the case of mortgages suffer foreclosures by mortgagees or suffer judgments Further some

obligations including our $600 million credit facility and $2.1 billion in unsecured notes issued in past public

offerings contain cross-default andlor cross-acceleration provisions as does $10.9 million in outstanding mortgage

indebtedness at December 31 2008 which means that default on one obligation may constitute default on other

obligations
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Our credit facility and unsecured debt securities contain customary restrictions requirements and other limitations on

our ability to incur indebtedness including total debt to asset ratios secured debt to total asset ratios debt service

coverage ratios and minimum ratios of unencumbered assets to unsecured debt which we must maintain Our

continued ability to borrow under our $600 million credit facility is subject to compliance with our financial and

other covenants In addition our failure to comply with such covenants could cause default under this credit

facility and we may then be required to repay such debt with capital from other sources Under those circumstances

other sources of capital may not be available to us or be available only on unattractive terms

Our degree of leverage could limit our ability to obtain additional financing or affect the market price of our

Common Shares

Our degree of leverage could affect our ability to obtain additional financing for working capital capital

expenditures acquisitions development or other general corporate purposes Our senior unsecured debt is currently

rated investment grade by the three major rating agencies However there can be no assurance we will be able to

maintain this rating and in the event our senior debt is downgraded from its current rating we would likely incur

higher borrowing costs Our degree of leverage could also make us more vulnerable to downturn in business or the

economy generally

Further issuances of equity securities may be dilutive to our existing shareholders

The interests of our existing shareholders could be diluted if we issue additional equity securities to finance future

developments acquisitions or repay
indebtedness We are currently engaged in an ongoing offering of up to $150

million of our equity securities Additionally our Board of Trustees can authorize the issuance of additional

securities without shareholder approval Our ability to execute our business strategy depends on our access to an

appropriate blend of debt financing including unsecured lines of credit and other forms of secured and unsecured

debt and equity financing including issuances of common and preferred equity

An increase in interest rates would increase our interest costs on variable rate debt and could adversely impact our

ability to refinance existing debL

We currently have and may incur more indebtedness that bears interest at variable rates Accordingly if interest

rates increase so will our interest costs which would adversely affect our cash flow and our ability to pay principal

and interest on our debt and our ability to make distributions to our shareholders Further rising interest rates could

limit our ability to refinance existing debt when it matures

Property ownership through joint ventures will limit our ability to act exclusively in our interests and may require

us to depend on the financial performance of our co-venturers

From time to time we invest in joint ventures in which we do not hold controlling interest These investments

involve risks that do not exist with properties in which we own controlling interest including the possibility that our

partners may at any time have business economic or other objectives that are inconsistent with our objectives In

instances where we lack controlling interest our partners may be in position to require action that is contrary to

our objectives While we seek to negotiate the terms of these joint ventures in way that secures our ability to act in

our best interests there can be no assurance that those terms will be sufficient to fully protect us against actions

contrary to our interests If the objectives of our co-ventures are inconsistent with ours we may not in every case be

able to act exclusively in our interests

Additionally our joint venture partners may experience financial difficulties that impair their ability to meet their

obligations to the joint venture such as with respect to providing additional capital if required If such

circumstance presented itself we may be required to perform on their behalf if possible or suffer loss of all or

portion of our investment in the joint venture

Risks Related to the Real Estate Industry

Real estate investments are illiquid and we may not be able to sell our Properties if and when we determine it is

appropriate to do so

Real estate generally cannot be sold quickly We may not be able to dispose of our Properties promptly in response to

economic or other conditions In addition provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended the
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Code limit REITs ability to sell properties in some situations when it may be economically advantageous to do

so thereby adversely affecting returns to shareholders and adversely impacting our ability to meet our obligations to

the holders of other securities

We may experience economic harm if any damage to our Properties is not covered by insurance

We believe all of our Properties are adequately insured However we cannot guarantee that the limits of our current

policies will be sufficient in the event of catastrophe to our Properties Our existing property and liability policies

expire during 2009 We cannot guarantee that we will be able to renew or duplicate our current coverages in

adequate amounts or at reasonable prices

We may suffer losses that are not covered under our comprehensive liability fire extended coverage and rental loss

insurance policies For example we may not be insured for losses resulting from acts of war certain acts of terrorism

or from environmental liabilities If an uninsured loss or loss in excess of insured limits should occur we would
nevertheless remain liable for the loss which could adversely affect cash flow from operations

Potential liability for environmental contamination could result in substantial costs

Under federal state and local environmental laws ordinances and regulations we may be required to investigate and

clean up the effects of releases of hazardous or toxic substances or petroleum products at our Properties simply
because of our current or past ownership or operation of the real estate If unidentified environmental problems arise

we may have to make substantial payments which could adversely affect our cash flow and our ability to make

distributions to our shareholders because

as owner or operator we may have to pay for property damage and for investigation and clean-up costs

incurred in connection with the contamination

the law typically imposes clean-up responsibility and liability regardless of whether the owner or operator
knew of or caused the contamination

even if more than one person may be responsible for the contamination each person who shares legal

liability under the environmental laws may be held responsible for all of the clean-up costs

governmental entities and third parties may sue the owner or operator of contaminated site for damages
and costs

These costs could be substantial The presence of hazardous or toxic substances or petroleum products or the failure

to properly remediate contamination may materially and adversely affect our ability to borrow against sell or rent an

affected property In addition applicable environmental laws create liens on contaminated sites in favor of the

government for damages and costs it incurs in connection with contamination Changes in laws increasing the

potential liability for environmental conditions existing at our Properties may result in significant unanticipated

expenditures

It is our policy to retain independent environmental consultants to conduct Phase environmental site assessments

and asbestos surveys with respect to our acquisition of properties These assessments generally include visual

inspection of the properties and the surrounding areas an examination of current and historical uses of the properties
and the surrounding areas and review of relevant state federal and historical documents but do not involve invasive

techniques such as soil and ground water sampling Where appropriate on property-by-property basis our practice

is to have these consultants conduct additional testing including sampling for asbestos for lead in drinking water for

soil contamination where underground storage tanks are or were located or where other past site usages create

potential environmental problem and for contamination in groundwater Even though these environmental

assessments are conducted there is still the risk that

the environmental assessments and updates will not identif all potential environmental liabilities

prior owner created material environmental condition that is not known to us or the independent
consultants preparing the assessments

new environmental liabilities have developed since the environmental assessments were conducted

future uses or conditions such as changes in applicable environmental laws and regulations could result in

environmental liability for us

While we test indoor air quality on regular basis and have an ongoing maintenance program in place to address this

aspect of property operations inquiries about indoor air quality may necessitate special investigation and depending
on the results remediation Indoor air quality issues can stem from inadequate ventilation chemical contaminants
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from indoor or outdoor sources pollen viruses and bacteria Indoor exposure to chemical or biological contaminants

above certain levels can be alleged to be connected to allergic reactions or other health effects and symptoms in

susceptible individuals If these conditions were to occur at one of our Properties we may need to undertake

targeted remediation program including without limitation steps to increase indoor ventilation rates and eliminate

sources of contaminants Such remediation programs
could be costly necessitate the temporary relocation of some or

all of the Propertys tenants or require rehabilitation of the affected Property

Our Properties may contain or develop harmful mold which could lead to liability for adverse health effects and

costs of remediating the problem

When excessive moisture accumulates in buildings or on building materials mold growth may occur particularly if

the moisture problem remains undiscovered or is not addressed over period of time Some molds may produce

airborne toxins or irritants Concern about indoor exposure to mold has been increasing as exposure to mold may

cause variety of adverse health effects and symptoms including allergic or other reactions As result the presence

of significant mold at any of our Properties could require us to undertake costly remediation program to contain or

remove the mold from the affected Property In addition the presence of significant mold could expose us to liability

from our tenants employees of our tenants and others if property damage or health concerns arise

Compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act and fire safety and other regulations may require us to make

expenditures that adversely impact our operating results

All of our Properties are required to comply with the Americans with Disabilities Act ADA The ADA generally

requires that buildings be made accessible to people with disabilities Compliance with the ADA requirements could

require removal of access barriers and non-compliance could result in imposition of fines by the United States

government or an award of damages to private litigants or both Expenditures related to complying with the

provisions of the ADA could adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition and our ability to make

distributions to shareholders In addition we are required to operate our Properties in compliance with fire and safety

regulations building codes and other land use regulations as they may be adopted by governmental agencies and

bodies and become applicable to our Properties We may be required to make substantial capital expenditures to

comply with those requirements and these expenditures could have material adverse effect on our operating results

and financial condition as well as our ability to make distributions to shareholders

Terrorist attacks and other acts of violence or war may adversely impact our operating results and may afftct

markets on which our securities are traded

Terrorist attacks against our Properties or against the United States or United States interests generally may

negatively affect our operations and investments in our securities Attacks or armed conflicts could have direct

adverse impact on our Properties or operations through damage destruction loss or increased security costs Any

terrorism insurance that we obtain may be insufficient to cover the loss for damages to our Properties as result of

terrorist attacks

Furthermore any
terrorist attacks or armed conflicts could result in increased volatility in or damage to the United

States and worldwide financial markets and economy Adverse economic conditions could affect the ability of our

tenants to pay rent which could have an adverse impact on our operating results

Risks Related to Our Organization and Structure

We have elected REIT status under the federal tax laws and could suffer adverse consequences if we fail to qualify

as REIT

We have elected REIT status under federal tax laws and have taken the steps known to us to perfect that status but

we cannot be certain that we qualify or that we will remain qualified Qualification as REIT involves the application

of highly technical and complex provisions of the Code as to which there are only limited judicial or administrative

interpretations The complexity of these provisions and of the related income tax regulations is greater in the case of

REIT that holds its assets in partnership form as we do Moreover no assurance can be given that new tax laws will

not significantly affect our qualification as REIT or the federal income tax consequences of such qualification New

laws could be applied retroactively which means that past operations could be found to be in violation which would

have negative effect on the business
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If we fail to qualify as REIT in any taxable year the distributions to shareholders would not be deductible when

computing taxable income If this happened we would be subject to federal income tax on our taxable income at

regular corporate rates Also we could be prevented from qualifying as REIT for the four years following the year
in which we were disqualified Further if we requalified as REIT after failing to qualify we might have to pay the

full corporate-level tax on any unrealized gain in our assets during the period we were not qualified as REIT We
would then have to distribute to our shareholders the earnings we accumulated while we were not qualified as

REIT These additional taxes would reduce our funds available for distribution to our shareholders In addition while

we were disqualified as REIT we would not be required by the Code to make distributions to our shareholders

failure by the Company to qualify as REIT and the resulting requirement to pay taxes and interest and perhaps

penalties would cause us to default under various agreements to which we are party including under our credit

facility and would have material adverse effect on our business prospects results of operations earnings financial

condition and our ability to make distributions to shareholders

Future economic market legal tax or other considerations may lead our Board of Trustees to authorize the

revocation of our election to qualify as REIT revocation of our REIT status would require the consent of the

holders of majority of the voting interests of all of our outstanding Common Shares

Risks associated with potential borrowings necessary to make distributions to qualify as REIT distributions can
be made in Common Shares

We intend to make distributions to shareholders to comply with the distribution provisions of the Code necessary to

maintain qualification as REIT and to avoid income taxes and the non-deductible excise tax Under certain

circumstances we may be required to borrow funds to meet the distribution requirements necessary to achieve the tax

benefits associated with qualifying as REIT In such circumstances we might need to borrow funds to avoid

adverse tax consequences even if our management believes that the prevailing market conditions are not generally
favorable for such borrowings or that such borrowings would not be advisable in the absence of such tax

considerations

For distributions with respect to taxable year ending on or before December 31 2009 Company stock may be used

to meet these distribution requirements subject to the requirements of Internal Revenue Service Revenue Procedure

2009-15 200-4 I.R.B 356 Under this Revenue Procedure we are permitted to make taxable distributions of our

stock in lieu of cash if any such distribution is declared with respect to taxable year ending on or before

December 31 2009 and each of our stockholders is permitted to elect to receive its entire entitlement under such

declaration in either cash or shares of equivalent value subject to limitation in the amount of cash to be distributed

in the aggregate provided that the amount of cash that we set aside for distribution is not less than 10% of

aggregate distribution so declared and ii if too many of our stockholders elect to receive cash pro rata amount of

cash will be distributed to each such stockholder electing to receive cash but in no event will any such stockholder

receive less than its entire entitlement under such declaration

Certain officers of the Trust may not have the same interests as shareholders as to certain tax laws

Certain officers of the Trust own Common Units These units may be exchanged for our Common Shares The

officers who own those units and have not yet exchanged them for our Common Shares may suffer different and

more adverse tax consequences than holders of our Common Shares suffer in certain situations

when certain of our Properties are sold

when debt on those Properties is refinanced

if we are involved in tender offer or merger

Because these officers own units and face different consequences than shareholders do the Trust and those officers

may have different objectives as to these transactions than shareholders do

Certain aspects of our organization could have the effrct of restricting or preventing change of control of our

Company which could have an adverse effect on the price of our shares

Our charter contains an ownership limit on shares To qualify as REIT five or fewer individuals cannot own
directly or indirectly more than 50% in value of the outstanding shares of beneficial interest To this end our
Declaration of Trust among other things generally prohibits any holder of the Trusts shares from owning more than

5% of the Trusts outstanding shares of beneficial interest unless that holder gets the consent from our Board of
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Trustees This limitation could prevent the acquisition of control of the Company by third party without the consent

from our Board of Trustees

We have staggered board and certain restrictive nominating procedures Our Board of Trustees has three classes

of trustees The term of office of one class expires each year Trustees for each class are elected for three-year terms

as that class term expires The terms of the Class III Class and Class II trustees expire in 2009 2010 and 2011

respectively Any nominee for trustee must be selected under the nominating provisions contained in our Declaration

of Trust and By-Laws The staggered terms for trustees and the nominating procedures may affect shareholders

ability to take control of the Company even if change in control were in the shareholders interest

We can issue preferred shares Our Declaration of Trust authorizes our Board of Trustees to establish the

preferences and rights of any shares issued The issuance of preferred shares could have the effect of delaying

making more difficult or preventing change of control of the Company even if change in control were in the

shareholders interest

There are limitations on acquisition of and changes in control pursuant to and fiduciary protections of The Board

under Maryland law The Maryland General Corporation Law MGCL contains provisions which are applicable to

the Trust as if the Trust were corporation Among these provisions is section referred to as the control share

acquisition statute which eliminates the voting rights of shares acquired in quantities so as to constitute control

shares as defined under the MGCL The MGCL also contains provisions applicable to us that are referred to as the

business combination statute which would generally limit business combinations between the Company and any

10% owners of the Trusts shares or any affiliate thereof Further Maryland law provides broad discretion to the

Board with respect to its fiduciary duties in considering change in control of our Company including that the Board

is subject to no greater level of scrutiny in considering change in control transaction than with respect to any
other

act by the Board Finally the unsolicited takeovers provisions of the MGCL permit the Board without shareholder

approval and regardless of what is currently provided in our Declaration of Trust or By-Laws to implement takeover

defenses that our Company does not yet have including permitting only the Board to fix the size of the Board and

permitting only the Board to fill vacancy on the Board All of these provisions may have the effect of inhibiting

third party from making an acquisition proposal for our Company or of delaying deferring or preventing change in

control of the Company under circumstances that otherwise could provide the holders of Common Shares with the

opportunity to realize premium over the then current market price

Various factors out of our control could hurt the market value of our publicly traded securities

The value of our publicly traded securities depends on various market conditions which may change from time to

time In addition to general economic and market conditions and our particular financial condition and performance

the value of our publicly traded securities could be affected by among other things the extent of institutional investor

interest in us and the markets opinion of REITs in general and in particular REITs that own and operate properties

similar to ours

The market value of the equity securities of REIT may be based primarily upon the markets perception of the

REITs growth potential and its current and future cash distributions and may be secondarily based upon the real

estate market value of the underlying assets The failure to meet the markets expectations with regard to future

earnings and cash distributions likely would adversely affect the market price of publicly traded securities On

November 17 2008 we announced that our annual dividend rate was being reduced from $2.50 to $1.90 Our

payment of future dividends will be at the discretion of our Board of Trustees and will depend on numerous factors

including our cash flow financial condition and capital requirements annual distribution requirements under the

REIT provisions of the Code the general economic environment and such other factors as our Board of Trustees

deems relevant and we cannot assure you that our annual dividend rate will be maintained at its current level

Rising market interest rates could make an investment in publicly traded securities less attractive If market interest

rates increase purchasers of publicly traded securities may demand higher annual yield on the price they pay for

their securities This could adversely affect the market price of publicly traded securities

We no longer have shareholder rights plan but are not precluded from adopting one

Our shareholder rights plan expired in accordance with its terms on December 31 2007 While we did not extend or

renew the plan we are not prohibited from adopting without shareholder approval shareholder rights plan that may

discourage any potential acquirer from acquiring more than specific percentage of our outstanding Common Shares
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since upon this type of acquisition without approval of our Board of Trustees all other common shareholders would

have the right to purchase specified amount of Common Shares at substantial discount from market price

Transactions by the Trust or the Operating Partnership could adversely affrct debt holders

Except with respect to several covenants limiting the incurrence of indebtedness and covenant requiring the

Operating Partnership to maintain certain unencumbered total asset value our indentures do not contain any
additional provisions that would protect holders of the Operating Partnerships debt securities in the event of

highly leveraged transaction involving the Operating Partnership ii change of control or iii certain

reorganizations restructurings mergers or similar transactions involving the Operating Partnership or the Trust

ITEM lB UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None

ITEM PROPERTIES

The Wholly Owned Properties in Operation as of December 31 2008 consisted of 357 industrial and 297 office

properties Single tenants occupy 200 Wholly Owned Properties in Operation These tenants generally require
reduced level of service in connection with the operation or maintenance of these properties The remaining 454 of

the Companys Wholly Owned Properties in Operation are multi-tenant properties for which the Company renders

range of building operating and maintenance services

As of December 31 2008 the industrial Wholly Owned Properties in Operation were 90.1% leased The average

building size for the industrial Wholly Owned Properties in Operation was approximately 118000 square feet As of

December 31 2008 the office Wholly Owned Properties in Operation were 93.1% leased The average building size

for the office Wholly Owned Properties in Operation was approximately 73000 square feet

The JV Properties in Operation as of December 31 2008 consisted of 46 industrial and 49 office properties Single

tenants occupy 43 JV Properties in Operation These tenants generally require reduced level of service in

connection with the operation or maintenance of these properties The remaining 52 of the Companys JV Properties
in Operation are multi-tenant properties for which the Company renders

range of building operating and

maintenance services

As of December 31 2008 the industrial JV Properties in Operation were 93.5% leased The average building size for

the industrial JV Properties in Operation was approximately 185000 square feet As of December 31 2008 the

office JV Properties in Operation were 89.6% leased The average building size for the office iv Properties in

Operation was approximately 93000 square feet
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complete listing of the Wholly Owned Properties in Operation appears as Schedule III to the financial statements

of the Company included in this report The table below sets forth certain information on the Companys Properties

in Operation as of December 31 2008 in thousands except percentages

TYPE NET RENT SQUARE FEET LEASED

Northeast Industrial -Distribution 54535 14705 87.9%

-Flex 33442 3890 93.2%

Office 123948 9059 92.9%

Total 211925 27654 90.3%

Midwest Industrial -Distribution 5320 1224 100.0%

-Flex 18072 2463 83.5%

Office 28320 2468 96.7%

Total 51712 6155 92.1%

Mid-Atlantic Industrial -Distribution 33656 8843 90.5%

-Flex 9619 1188 89.8%

Office 59732 4603 93.0%

Total 103007 14634 91.2%

South Industrial -Distribution 27046 5934 93.1%

-Flex 30317 3834 90.2%

Office 59658 4620 90.5%

Total 117021 14388 91.5%

Philadelphia Industrial -Distribution

-Flex 1745 101 100.0%

Office 11130 733 99.2%

Total 12875 834 99.3%

United Kingdom Industrial -Distribution

-Flex 1148 44 100.0%

Office 2168 90 92.0%

Total 3316 134 94.6%

TOTAL Industrial -Distribution 120557 30706 90.1%

-Flex 94343 11520 89.9%

Office 284956 21573 93.1%

Total 499856 63799 91.1%

Joint Ventures Industrial -Distribution 32632 8317 93.7%

-Flex 3718 171 86.7%

Office 98591 4581 89.6%

134941 13069 92.2%

Net rent represents the contractual rent per square foot times the tenants square feet leased at December 31 2008 for tenants in

occupancy Net rent does not include the tenants obligation to pay property operating expenses and real estate taxes

Joint Ventures represent the 95 properties
owned by unconsolidated joint ventures in which the Company has an interest
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The expiring square feet and annual rent by year for the Properties in Operation as of December 31 2008 are as

follows in thousands

Total Properties in Operation

Wholly Owned Properties in Operation

INDUSTRIAL-

DISTRIBUTION INDUSTRIAL-FLEX OFFICE TOTAL

SQUARE ANNUAL SQUARE ANNUAL SQUARE ANNUAL SQUARE ANNUAL
YEAR FEET RENT FEET RENT FEET RENT FEET RENT

2009 3020 13073 1499 12955 2208 30734 6727 56762
2010 3532 16804 1715 16148 2961 42275 8208 75227
2011 2988 13667 1345 13868 2356 36304 6689 63839
2012 4698 23275 1530 15124 2320 40360 8548 78759
2013 2076 10421 1328 13950 2558 42709 5962 67080
2014 2074 11169 625 7263 2283 35506 4982 53938
Thereafter 9289 52225 2311 27592 5392 97758 16992 177575

Total 27677 $140634 10353 $106900 20078 $325646 58108 $573180

Joint Venture Properties in Operation

INDUSTRIAL

DIsTRIBUTIoN INDUSTRIAL-FLEX OFFICE TOTAL

SQUARE ANNUAL SQUARE ANNUAL SQUARE ANNUAL SQUARE ANNUAL
YEAR FEET RENT FEET RENT FEET RENT FEET RENT

2009 981 3817 18 439 358 7297 1357 11553
2010 1367 5451 135 435 9407 1807 14993
2011 938 3950 11 275 452 10748 1401 14973
2012 329 1598 90 2423 150 3420 569 7441
2013 534 2316 248 5851 782 8167
2014 1078 4981 64 330 9195 1410 14240
Thereafter 2562 13665 2155 72098 4717 85763

Total 7789 35778 126 3336 4128 118016 12043 157130

Properties in Operation

INDUSTRIAL-

DISTRIBUTION INDUSTRIAL-FLEX OFFICE TOTAL

SQUARE ANNUAL SQUARE ANNUAL SQUARE ANNUAL SQUARE ANNUAL
YEAR FEET RENT FEET RENT FEET RENT FEET RENT

2009 4001 16890 1517 13394 2566 38031 8084 68315
2010 4899 22255 1720 16283 3396 51682 10015 90220
2011 3926 17617 1356 14143 2808 47052 8090 78812
2012 5027 24873 1620 17547 2470 43780 9117 86200
2013 2610 12737 1328 13950 2806 48560 6744 75247
2014 3152 16150 627 7327 2613 44701 6392 68178
Thereafter 11851 65890 2311 27592 7547 169856 21709 263338

Total 35466 176412 10479 110236 24206 443662 70151 730310
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The table below highlights for the Properties in Operation the Companys top ten office tenants and top ten

industrial tenants as of December 31 2008 The table includes for the tenants in the JV Properties in Operation the

Companys ownership percentage of the respective joint venture

PERCENTAGE PERCENTAGE

TOP 10 OFFICE TENANTS OF NET RENT TOP 10 INDUSTRIAL TENANTS OF NET RENT

The Vanguard Group Inc 4.1% Home Depot U.S.A Inc 1.2%

GlaxoSmithKline 2.1% Kellogg USA Inc 1.1%

General Motors Acceptance Corporation 1.6% Wakefern Food Corp 1.0%

PHH Corporation 1.3% United Parcel Services Inc 0.8%

Comcast Corporation 1.2% The Dial Corporation
0.6%

Sanofi-AventisU.S Inc 1.1% Uline Inc 0.5%

PNC Bank National Association 1.0% Broder Bros Inc 0.5%

WellCare Health Plans Inc 1.0% Foxconn Corporation 0.5%

United States of America 0.9% Moore Wallace North America Inc 0.4%

United Healthcare Services Inc 0.8% Nexus Distribution Corporation

15.1% 7.0%

ITEM LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Company has been substituted for Republic Property Trust Maryland real estate investment trust and Republic

Property Limited Partnership Delaware limited partnership together Republic as party to certain litigation as

result of the Companys acquisition of Republic on October 2007 The litigation is summarized below The

litigation arises out of disputes between Republic and certain parties two of whom were members of Republics

Board of Trustees and founders of Republic The disputes include claims arising from the termination of an officer

of Republic the termination of development arrangement in West Palm Beach Florida and an attempt by Republic

to acquire certain office property from an entity controlled by the aforementioned related parties pursuant to an

option agreement entered into at the time of Republics formation

On November 17 2006 Republic disclosed in Form 8-K that Steven Grigg its President and Chief Development

Officer had notified it that he was terminating his employment purportedly for good reason as such term is

defined in his employment agreement dated December 20 2005 Mr Grigg also asserted that as result of such

termination he was entitled to the severance payments provided for under the terms of the employment agreement

The cash portion of such severance payments could be valued at up to approximately $1.8 million The Company

disagrees with Mr Grigg that there is basis for termination by Mr Grigg for good reason therefore we believe that

Mr Grigg terminated his employment without good reason as of November 13 2006 the date of his termination

letter Accordingly we believe that no severance payments are due and we have not remitted any such payments to

Mr Grigg under the terms of his employment agreement

On December 22 2006 Mr Grigg filed lawsuit against Republic in the Superior Court of the District of Columbia

Mr Grigg alleges among other things that Republic breached his employment agreement iiRepublic breached

its duties of good faith and fair dealing and iii the Noncompetition Agreement dated December 20 2005 between

Mr Grigg and Republic is unenforceable and void Mr Grigg seeks among other remedies the severance

payment allegedly due under the employment agreement ii other damages in an amount to be finally determined at

trial and iii the voiding of the Noncompetition Agreement The Company believes that Mr Griggs lawsuit is

without merit generally denies the allegations in the complaint and denies that Mr Grigg is entitled to any of the

relief sought in his complaint Republic originally asserted various counterclaims against Mr Grigg including claims

for common law fraud state securities fraud breach of his employment agreement breach of fiduciary duties and

unjust enrichment Republic subsequently voluntarily dismissed without prejudice its common law fraud state

securities fraud and unjust enrichment claims in order to pursue those claims in the litigation described below

pending in the United States District Court for the District of Columbia The Companys counterclaims against

Mr Grigg for breach of his employment agreement and breach of his fiduciary duties remain pending in the District

of Columbia Superior Court litigation On March 30 2007 the Court denied in its entirety Mr Griggs motion to

dismiss these counterclaims The Company seeks damages and other appropriate relief on these counterclaims

On March 2007 Mr Richard Kramer Republics former Non-executive Chairman of the Board filed lawsuit

against Republic in the United States District Court for the District of Maryland Southern Division in which he

sought advancement for legal fees incurred by him purportedly in connection with an independent counsels

investigation with respect to certain matters involving Republics course of dealing in West Palm Beach

development project as well as those fees incurred in filing and prosecuting this lawsuit On May 2007

Mr Kramer voluntarily dismissed this case and filed nearly identical lawsuit against Republic in the Circuit Court

of Baltimore County Maryland We believe that Mr Kramers lawsuit is without merit and filed motion to dismiss

or in the alternative motion for summary judgment seeking the dismissal of Mr Kramers lawsuit Mr Kramer filed
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motion for summary judgment against the Company On November 2007 the Court denied Mr Kramers motion

for summary judgment and granted the Companys motion to dismiss Mr Kramer has appealed the Courts

judgment

On March 28 2007 Republic filed lawsuit against Messrs Kramer and Grigg and Republic Properties Corporation
in the United States District Court of the District of Columbia This lawsuit asserts among other things claims

against all three defendants for federal and state securities fraud and common law fraud

ii Messrs Kramer and Grigg for federal and state control person liability and unjust enrichment and

iiiRepublic Properties Corporation for breach of contract and indemnification The Company seeks among
other remedies damages in an amount not less than $1.2 million the approximate value at the time of issuance
of the partnership units issued by Republic Property Limited Partnership to Republic Properties Corporation in

connection with the West Palm Beach City Center Development Contribution Agreement ii additional damages
incurred by us as result of the termination of the West Palm Beach Professional Services Agreement iiirecovery
of the costs including attorneys fees associated with previously-disclosed independent investigation iv
reimbursement for Republics expenses in this litigation including attorneys fees and other damages including

punitive damages in an amount to be finally determined at trial On April 27 2007 Republic filed an Amended
Complaint in the District of Columbia District Court action adding to the claims set forth immediately above claim

for declaratory judgment that Mr Kramer was not entitled to advancement or reimbursement of any of the fees

sought in his Maryland litigation Republic Properties Corporation Messrs Kramer and Grigg filed motions to

dismiss this lawsuit On March 31 2008 the Court granted the motion to dismiss We filed motion for

reconsideration of the grant of the motion to dismiss On August 13 2008 the Court denied the motion for

reconsideration We have appealed the Courts decision

On May 21 2007 Republic proffered lease or the Lease to 25 Massachusetts Avenue Property LLC or 25 Mass
for certain space in Republic Square an office building in Washington D.C or the Option Property Two of

Republics founders and Trustees Richard Kramer and Steven Grigg currently control 25 Mass and Mark

Keller Republics former Chief Executive Officer holds an ownership interest in 25 Mass Based on information

provided by 25 Mass immediately prior to the proffer of the Lease approximately 50% of the Option Propertys net

rentable area was under lease and approximately 37% of the Option Propertys net rentable area was rent paying

space Had 25 Mass accepted the Lease more than 85% of the space in the Option Property would have been rent

paying space The base rents and other material terms of the Lease proffer were based on 25 Masss lease up

projections for the Property and the Lease was on 25 Masss form lease agreement

On May 22 2007 25 Mass rejected the proffer of the Lease asserting among other things that it was not bona
tide business proposal for Republics own occupancy and leasing of space On May 29 2007 Republic re

tendered the Lease to 25 Mass for certain space at the Option Property and ii exercised its exclusive option to

purchase the fee interest in the Option Property pursuant to the Option Agreement among 25 Mass 660 North Capitol

Street Property LLC and Republic dated as of November 28 2005 or the Option Agreement On May 30 2007 25

Mass rejected the Lease and claimed that there has been no effective exercise of the Option The Company
believes that the Lease was properly tendered for an appropriate purpose and accordingly the Company re-proffered
the Lease to 25 Mass 25 Mass rejected the Lease proffer and disputed whether the Lease entitled Republic to

purchase the Property pursuant to its exercise of the option at the Purchase Price as defined in the Option

Agreement

In response to 25 Masss rejection on June 15 2007 Republic filed lawsuit against 25 Mass in the Court of

Chancery in the State of Delaware This lawsuit asserts among other things that by refusing to accept Republics

option exercise 25 Mass has breached the Option Agreement and ii by deciding not to refinance construction loan

on the Property and rejecting the Lease 25 Mass has breached the covenant of good faith and fair dealing implied in

every contract governed by the laws of the District of Columbia Republic sought among other remedies to obtain

an injunction against 25 Masss sale of the Option Property to any party other than Republic II declaration that

the Lease and option exercise are effective and III an order that 25 Mass specifically perform its obligation to sell

the Option Property to Republic pursuant to the Option Agreement Also on June 15 2007 Republic filed Notice of

Pendency of Action Lis Pendens in the Office of the Recorder of Deeds in the District of Columbia in order to

record Republics interest in the Option Property as reflected in the Delaware Chancery Court action On April

2008 the Court of Chancery issued an opinion concluding that neither party was entitled to relief and ordering that

the Lis Pendens be lifted On April 15 2008 25 Mass filed notice of appeal from dismissal of its counterclaims

The parties fully briefed 25 Mass appeal to the Delaware Supreme Court to which all appeals are made Oral

argument in this matter was made before the Delaware Supreme Court on November 12 2008 On November 25
2008 the Delaware Supreme Court remanded the matter to the Court of Chancery in order for the Court of Chancery
to consider 25 Mass claimed breach of the Option Agreement based on liability for breach of the implied duty of
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good faith and fair dealing and ii liability for breach of the further assurances clause of the option agreement On

January 22 2009 the Court of Chancery issued Memorandum Opinion adhering to its original determination that

25 Mass counterclaim should be dismissed On January 29 2009 the Supreme Court of the State of Delaware set

forth schedule for supplemental memoranda to be filed by the parties The schedule contemplates that the matter

will be submitted to the Court for decision on briefs as of April 2009

On December 12 2008 25 Mass filed complaint in the Superior Court for the District of Columbia alleging that 25

Mass had entered purchase and sale agreement with third party for the sale of Republic Square and that

Republics lawsuit and its Lis Pendens described above prevented closing by which Republic Square could be

sold under the terms of that purchase and sale agreement The December 12 2008 lawsuit alleges that by so doing

Republic committed tortious interference with contract tortious interference with prospective contractual relations

malicious prosecution abuse of process and violation of the Washington D.C Lis Pendens statute The filed

complaint seeks no less than $85 million in compensatory damages and no less than $85 million in punitive

damages and attorneys fees for an improperly filed Lis Pendens under Washington D.C Code 42-1207d We

believe that these claims are without merit and intend to defend vigorously against this litigation

While management currently believes that resolving these matters will not have material adverse impact on our

financial position our results of operations or our cash flows the litigation noted above is subject to inherent

uncertainties and managements view of these matters may change in the future Were an unfavorable final outcome

to occur there exists the possibility of material adverse impact on our financial position and the results of

operations for the period in which the effect becomes capable of being reasonably estimated

ITEM SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matters were submitted to vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of the year
ended December 31

2008

23



PART II

ITEM MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANTS COMMON EQUITY RELATED SHAREHOLDER
MATTERS AND RELATED ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

The Common Shares are traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol LRY There is no established

public trading market for the Common Units The following table sets forth for the calendar quarters indicated the

high and low closing prices of the Common Shares on the New York Stock Exchange and the dividends declared per
Common Share for such calendar quarter

DIVIDENDS

DECLARED PER

HIGH Low COMMON SHARE

2008

Fourth Quarter 37.27 12.93 0.475

Third Quarter 40.89 31.43 0.625

Second Quarter 37.11 32.60 0.625

First Quarter 33.24 25.85 0.625

2007

FourthQuarter $43.78 $28.16 0.625

Third Quarter 45.48 34.27 0.625

Second Quarter 50.24 42.63 0.62

First Quarter 53.91 47.89 0.62

As of February 23 2009 the Common Shares were held by 1167 holders of record Since its initial public offering in

1994 the Company has paid regular and uninterrupted quarterly dividends

On November 17 2008 the Company announced that its annual dividend rate was being reduced from $2.50 to

$1.90 Although the Company currently anticipates that dividends at that or comparable rate will continue to be

paid in the future the payment of future dividends by the Company will be at the discretion of the Board of Trustees

and will depend on numerous factors including the Companys cash flow its financial condition capital

requirements annual distribution requirements under the REIT provisions of the Code the general economic

environment and such other factors as the Board of Trustees deems relevant

In November 2008 certain individuals acquired total of 110000 common shares of beneficial interest of Liberty

Property Trust in exchange for the same number of units of limited partnership interest in Liberty Property Limited

Partnership Such persons acquired these units of limited partnership interest in connection with their contribution to

the Operating Partnership of certain assets in 1998 The exchange of common shares of beneficial interest for the

units of limited partnership interest is exempt from the registration requirement of the Securities Act of 1933 as

amended pursuant to Section thereunder
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ITEM SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following tables set forth Selected Financial Data for Liberty Property Trust and Liberty Property Limited

Partnership as of and for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 2006 2005 and 2004 The information set forth

below should be read in conjunction with Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and

Results of Operations and the financial statements and notes thereto appearing elsewhere in this report Certain

amounts from prior years
have been reclassified to conform to current-year presentation

Liberty Property Trust

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31

Operating Data

In thousands except per share data 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

748520 686831 607562 577569 529606

126963 123774 139890 193998 123491

151942 164831 266574 249351 161443

Total operating revenue

Income from continuing operations

Net income

Basic

Income from continuing operations

Income from discontinued operations

Income per common share

Diluted

Income from continuing operations

Income from discontinued operations

Income per common share

Distributions paid per common share

Weighted average number of shares outstanding
basic

Weighted average number of shares outstanding diluted

Balance Sheet Data

In thousands

1.35 1.36 1.56 2.23 1.46

0.27 0.45 1.42 0.64 0.45

1.62 1.81 2.98 2.87 1.91

1.35 1.35 1.55 2.19 1.44

0.27 0.45 1.40 0.63 0.44

1.62 1.80 2.95 2.82 1.88

2.500 2.485 2.465 2.445 2.425

93624 91185 89313 86986 84534

93804 91803 90492 88376 86024

Net real estate

Total assets

Total indebtedness

Shareholders equity

Other Data

Dollars in thousands

DECEMBER 31

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

4546418 4906738 4318530 3936516 3641569

5217035 5643937 4910911 4500322 4163997

2590167 3021129 2387938 2249178 2133171

1956735 1837021 1871604 1709182 1596259

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER31

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

268470 346752 324573 360749 293336

52553 758924 334942 286633 373975

333835 396322 327 39470 89618

313910 305216 294801 293973 291144

Cash provided by operating activities

Cash provided by used in investing activities

Cash used in provided by financing activities

Funds from operations available to common shareholders

Total leaseable square footage of Wholly Owned Properties in

Operation at end of period in thousands 63799 62079 59160 60613 58052

Total leasable square footage of JV Properties in Operation at end

of period in thousands 13069 11462 6172 3758 3603

Wholly Owned Properties in Operation at end of period 654 649 672 675 693

iv Properties in Operation at end of period 95 91 48 43 30

Wholly Owned Properties in Operation percentage leased at end

of period 91% 93% 94% 92% 92%

JV properties in operation percentage leased at end of period 92% 94% 95% 99% 96%
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Liberty Property Limited Partnership

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31

Operating Data

In thousands except per share data 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

Total operating revenue 748520 686831 607562 577569 529606
Income from continuing operations 153542 147271 159698 214381 140647
Income available to common unitholders 158611 172387 278359 259364 168398

Basic

Income from continuing operations 1.35 1.36 1.56 2.23 1.46

Incomefromdiscontinuedoperations 0.27 0.45 1.42 0.64 0.45

Incomepercommonunit 1.62 1.81 2.98 2.87 1.91

Diluted

Income from continuing operations 1.35 1.35 1.55 2.19 1.44

Income from discontinued operations 0.27 0.45 1.40 0.63 0.44

Income per common unit 1.62 1.80 2.95 2.82 1.88

Distributions paid per common unit 2.500 2.485 2.465 2.445 2.425

Weightedaveragenumberofunitsoutstandingbasic 97814 95375 93208 90540 88210

Weighted average number of units outstanding diluted 97994 95993 94387 91931 89700

DECEMBER 31

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

4546418 4906738 4318530 3936516 $3641569

5217035 5643937 4910911 4500322 4163997

2590167 3021129 2387938 2249178 2133171

2325376 2209125 2168912 1961908 1800145

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31

2008

2007 2006 2005 2004

268470 346752 324573 360749 293336

52553 758924 334942 286633 373975
333835 396322 327 39470 89618

313910 305216 294801 293973 291144

63799 62079 59160 60613 58052

13069 11462 6172 3758 3603

654 649 672 675 693

95 91 48 43 30

91% 93% 94% 92% 92%
92% 94% 95% 99% 96%

Basic weighted average number of shares includes vested Common Shares Liberty Property Trust/Common Units Liberty Property

Limited Partnership outstanding during the year

Diluted weighted average number of shares outstanding includes the vested and unvested Common Shares Liberty Property Trust/Common
Units Liberty Property Limited Partnership outstanding during the year as well as the dilutive effect of outstanding options

The National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts NAREIT has issued standard definition for Funds from operations as
defined below The Securities and Exchange Commission has agreed to the disclosure of this non-GAAP financial measure on per share

basis in its Release No 34-47226 Conditions for Use of Non-GAAP Financial Measures The Company believes that the calculation of

Funds from operations is helpful to investors and management as it is measure of the Companys operating performance that excludes

depreciation and amortization and gains and losses from property dispositions As result year over year comparison of Funds from

operations reflects the impact on operations from trends in occupancy rates rental rates operating costs development activities general and

administrative expenses and interest costs providing perspective not immediately apparent from net income In addition management
believes that Funds from operations provides useful information to the investment community about the Companys financial performance

when compared to other REITs since Funds from operations is generally recognized as the standard for reporting the operating performance

of REIT Funds from operations available to common shareholders is defined by NAREIT as net income computed in accordance with

generally accepted accounting principles GAAP excluding gains or losses from sales of property plus depreciation and amortization

and after adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures Funds from operations available to common shareholders does not

represent net income or cash flows from operations as defined by GAAP and does not necessarily indicate that cash flows will be sufficient

to fund cash needs It should not be considered as an altemative to net income as an indicator of the Companys operating performance or to

cash flows as measure of liquidity Funds from operations available to common shareholders also does not represent cash flows generated

Balance Sheet Data

In thousands

Net real estate

Total assets

Total indebtedness

Owners equity

Other Data

Dollars in thousands

Cash provided by operating activities

Cash provided by used in investing activities

Cash used in provided by financing activities

Funds from operations available to common shareholders

Total leaseable square footage of Wholly Owned Properties in

Operation at end of period in thousands

Total leasable square footage of JV Properties in Operation at end

of period in thousands

Wholly Owned Properties in Operation at end of period

JV
Properties in Operation at end of period

Wholly Owned Properties in Operation percentage leased at end

of period

iv
properties

in operation percentage leased at end of period
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from operating investing or financing activities as defined by GAAP reconciliation of Funds from operations to net income may be found

on page 40

ITEM MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Overview

Liberty Property Trust the Trust is self-administered and self-managed Maryland real estate investment trust

REIT Substantially all of the Trusts assets are owned directly or indirectly and substantially all of the Trusts

operations are conducted directly or indirectly by its subsidiary Liberty Property Limited Partnership

Pennsylvania limited partnership the Operating Partnership and collectively with the Trust and their consolidated

subsidiaries the Company

The Company operates primarily in the Mid-Atlantic Southeastern Midwestern and Southwestern United States

Additionally the Company owns certain assets in the United Kingdom

As of December 31 2008 the Company owned and operated 357 industrial and 297 office properties the Wholly
Owned Properties in Operation totaling 63.8 million square feet In addition as of December 31 2008 the

Company owned 17 properties under development which when completed are expected to comprise 3.2 million

square feet the Wholly Owned Properties under Development and 1336 acres of developable land substantially

all of which is zoned for commercial use Additionally as of December 31 2008 the Company had an ownership

interest through unconsolidated joint ventures in 46 industrial and 49 office properties totaling 13.1 million square

feet the JV Properties in Operation and together with the Wholly Owned Properties in Operation the Properties

in Operation four properties under development which when completed are expected to comprise 1.4 million

square feet the JV Properties under Development and together with the Wholly Owned Properties under

Development the Properties under Development The Company also has an ownership interest through

unconsolidated joint ventures in 648 acres of developable land substantially all of which is zoned for commercial

use

The Company focuses on creating value for shareholders and increasing profitability and cash flow With respect to

its Properties in Operation the Company endeavors to maintain high occupancy levels while increasing rental rates

and controlling costs The Company pursues development opportunities that it believes will create value and yield

acceptable returns The Company also acquires properties that it believes will create long-term value and disposes of

properties that no longer fit within the Companys strategic objectives or in situations where it can optimize cash

proceeds The Companys operating results depend primarily upon income from rental operations and are

substantially influenced by rental demand for the Properties in Operation

Recent uncertainty in the global credit markets and declines and weakness in the general economy have negatively

impacted the Companys business practices The credit markets have become considerably less favorable than in the

recent past and the Company has shifted its financing strategy to include more secured debt and equity sales in order

to address its financing needs Additionally uncertainty about the pricing of commercial real estate and the absence

of available financing to facilitate transactions has dramatically reduced the Companys ability to rely on the

proceeds from the sale of real estate to provide proceeds to fund investment opportunities Similarly current market

conditions are not favorable for acquisitions and development and consequently the potential for growth in operating

income from acquisitions and development is anticipated to be limited in 2009

Consistent with the dramatic slow down in the United States and world economy rental demand for the Properties in

Operation declined for the
year

ended December 31 2008 as compared to the year ended December 31 2007

Despite this trend the Company successfully leased 20.4 million
square

feet during the year ended December 31

2008 and attained occupancy of 91.1% for the Wholly Owned Properties in Operation and 92.2% for the JV

Properties in Operation for combined occupancy of 91.3% for the Properties in Operation as of that date At

December 31 2007 occupancy for the Wholly Owned Properties in Operation was 92.7% and for the JV Properties

in Operation was 94.0% for combined occupancy for the Properties in Operation of 92.9% The Company believes

that straight line rents on renewal and replacement leases for 2009 will on average
be 4% to 6% greater than rents on

expiring leases Furthermore the Company believes that average occupancy for its Properties in Operation will not

increase or decrease by more than 1% for 2009 compared to 2008
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WHOLLY OWNED CAPITAL ACTIVITY

Acquisitions

During the year ended December 31 2008 conditions for the acquisition of properties were unsettled because of

adverse events in the credit markets During the year ended December 31 2008 the Company acquired one property

representing 107000 square feet for Total Investment as defined below of $17.0 million Total Investment for

property is defined as the propertys purchase price plus closing costs and managements estimate as determined at

the time of acquisition of the cost of
necessary building improvements in the case of acquisitions or land costs and

land and building improvement costs in the case of development projects and where appropriate other development

costs and carrying costs For 2009 the Company does not anticipate any wholly owned property acquisitions and

pursuant to an existing commitment expects to purchase $17.6 million in land

Dispositions

During the year ended December 31 2008 market conditions for dispositions were unsettled which the Company

again attributes to adverse events in the credit markets Disposition activity allows the Company to among other

things reduce its holdings in certain markets and product types within market lower the average age of the

portfolio optimize the cash proceeds from the sale of certain assets and obtain funds for investment activities

During the year ended December 31 2008 the Company realized proceeds of $83.0 million from the sale of 13

operating properties representing 665000 square feet and 24 acres of land For 2009 the Company believes it will

realize proceeds of approximately $125 million to $200 million from the sale of operating properties

Development

During the year ended December 31 2008 the Company brought into service 17 Wholly Owned Properties under

Development representing 3.2 million square feet and Total Investment of $217.0 million and initiated $207.6

million in real estate development As of December 31 2008 the projected Total Investment of the Wholly Owned

Properties under Development was $373.6 million For 2009 the Company believes that it will bring into service

from its development pipeline approximately $250 million to $350 million of Total Investment in operating real

estate Although the Company continues to pursue development opportunities current market conditions are not

favorable for development and the Company currently anticipates only modest amount of development starts in

2009 Furthermore any 2009 development starts will be substantially pre-leased

JOINT VENTURE CAPITAL ACTIVITY

The Company periodically enters into joint venture relationships in connection with the execution of its real estate

operating strategy

Acquisitions

During the year ended December 31 2008 none of the unconsolidated joint ventures in which the Company held an

interest acquired any properties For 2009 the Company believes that property acquisitions by existing joint ventures

will be in the $50 million to $100 million range

Dispositions

During the
year

ended December 31 2008 joint venture in which the Company held 50% interest realized

proceeds of $1.4 million from the sale of one acre of land For 2009 the Company does not anticipate that any

unconsolidated joint ventures in which it holds an interest will dispose of any operating properties

Development

During the year ended December 31 2008 joint ventures in which the Company held 50% interest brought into

service three Properties under Development representing 351000 square feet and Total Investment of $42.5

million As of December 31 2008 the projected Total Investment of JV Properties under Development was $186.4

million For 2009 the Company expects unconsolidated joint ventures in which it holds an interest to bring into

service $100 million to $175 million of Total Investment in operating properties

Liberty/Commerz 1701 JFK Boulevard LP

On April 13 2006 the Company entered into joint venture pursuant to which it sold an 80% interest in the equity of

Comcast Center 1.25 million square foot office tower the Company was then developing in Philadelphia

Pennsylvania The transaction valued the property at $512 million Upon signing the joint venture agreement and

through March 30 2008 the criteria for sale recognition in accordance with SFAS No 66 Accounting for the Sale

of Real Estate SFAS 66 had not been met and the transaction was accounted for as financing arrangement
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On March 31 2008 $324 million ten-year secured financing at 6.15% interest rate for Comcast Center was

funded The proceeds from this financing were used to pay down outstanding borrowings on the Companys Credit

Facility

On March 31 2008 all conditions for sale treatment as outlined in SFAS No 66 were satisfied and the Company

recognized the sale of Comcast Center to an unconsolidated joint venture Profit on the transaction was deferred until

the costs of the project could be reasonably estimated Profit on the sale was recognized in the fourth quarter of 2008

See Note to the Companys Consolidated Financial Statements

During the year ended December 31 2008 the Company brought into service the final 306000 square feet of

Comcast Center equaling $124.1 million of Total Investment

Forward-Looking Statements

When used throughout this report the words believes anticipates and expects and similar expressions are

intended to identify forward-looking statements Such statements indicate that assumptions have been used that are

subject to number of risks and uncertainties that could cause actual financial results or management plans and

objectives to differ materially from those projected or expressed herein including the effect of national and regional

economic conditions rental demand the Companys ability to identify and enter into agreements with suitable joint

venture partners in situations where it believes such arrangements are advantageous the Companys ability to

identify and secure additional properties and sites both for itself and the joint ventures to which it is party that

meet its criteria for acquisition or development the current credit crisis and its impact on the availability and cost of

capital the effect of prevailing market interest rates risks related to the integration of the operations of entities that

we have acquired or may acquire risks related to litigation and other risks described from time to time in the

Companys filings with the SEC Given these uncertainties readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on

such statements

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The Companys discussion and analysis of its financial condition and results of operations are based upon the

Companys consolidated financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with U.S generally accepted

accounting principles The preparation of these financial statements requires the Company to make estimates

judgments and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets liabilities revenues and expenses The

Company bases these estimates judgments and assumptions on historical experience and on other factors that are

believed to be reasonable under the circumstances Actual results may differ from these estimates under different

assumptions or conditions

The following critical accounting policies discussion reflects what the Company believes are the more significant

estimates assumptions and judgments used in the preparation of its Consolidated Financial Statements This

discussion of critical accounting policies is intended to supplement the description of the accounting policies in the

footnotes to the Companys Consolidated Financial Statements and to provide additional insight into the information

used by management when evaluating significant estimates assumptions and judgments For further discussion of

our significant accounting policies see Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in this report

Capitalized Costs

Expenditures directly related to the acquisition or improvement of real estate including interest and other costs

capitalized on development projects and land being readied for development are included in net real estate and are

stated at cost The Company considers development property substantially complete upon the completion of tenant

build-out but no later than one year after the completion of major construction activity The capitalized costs include

pre-construction costs essential to the development of the property construction costs interest costs real estate taxes

development related salaries and other costs incurred during the period of development The determination to

capitalize rather than expense costs requires the Company to evaluate the status of the development activity

Capitalized interest for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 was $20.0 million $45.7 million and

$30.8 million respectively

Revenue Recognition

Rental revenue is recognized on straight line basis over the terms of the respective leases Deferred rent receivable

represents the amount by which straight line rental revenue exceeds rents currently billed in accordance with the lease

agreements Above-market and below-market lease values for acquired properties are recorded based on the present

value using discount rate which reflects the risks associated with the leases acquired of the difference between
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the contractual amounts to be paid pursuant to each in-place lease and ii managements estimate of fair market lease

rates for each corresponding in-place lease The capitalized above or below-market lease values are amortized as

component of rental revenue over the remaining term of the respective leases

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company monitors the liquidity and creditworthiness of its tenants on an on-going basis Based on these reviews

provisions are established and an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the inability of

its tenants to make required rental payments is maintained As of December 31 2008 and 2007 the Companys
allowance for doubtful accounts totaled $8.5 million and $6.0 million respectively The Companys bad debt expense

for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 was $4.8 million $3.4 million and $1.0 million respectively

During the year ended December 31 2006 the Company realized $2.0 million from the settlement of tenant

bankruptcy

Impairment of Real Estate

The Company evaluates its real estate investments upon occurrence of significant adverse changes in operations to

assess whether any impairment indicators are present that could affect the recovery of the recorded value Indicators

the Company uses to determine whether an impairment evaluation is necessary includes the low occupancy level of

the property holding period for the property strategic decisions regarding future development plans for property

under development and land held for development and other market factors If impairment indicators are present the

Company performs an undiscounted cash flow analysis and compares the net canying amount of the property to the

propertys estimated undiscounted future cash flow over the anticipated holding period The Company assesses the

expected undiscounted cash flows based upon estimated capitalization rates historic operating results and market

conditions that may affect the property If any real estate investment is considered impaired the carrying value of the

property is written down to its estimated fair value Fair value is estimated based on the discounting of future

expected cash flows at risk adjusted interest rate During the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 the

Company recognized impairment losses of $3.1 million $0.2 million and $4.2 million respectively The

determination of whether an impairment exists requires the Company to make estimates judgments and assumptions

about the future cash flows The Company has evaluated each of its Properties and land held for development and

has determined that there are no additional impairment charges that need to be recorded at December 31 2008

Intangibles

In accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB Statement of Financial Standards SFAS
No 141 Business Combinations the Company allocates the purchase price of real estate acquired to land building

and improvements and intangibles based on the relative fair value of each component The value ascribed to in-place

leases is based on the rental rates for the existing leases compared to the Companys estimate of the fair market lease

rates for leases of similar terms and present valuing the difference based on an interest rate which reflects the risks

associated with the leases acquired Origination values are also assigned to in-place leases and where appropriate

value is assigned to customer relationships Origination cost estimates include the costs to execute leases with terms

similar to the remaining lease terms of the in-place leases including leasing commissions legal and other related

expenses Additionally the Company estimates carrying costs during the expected lease-up periods including real

estate taxes other operating expenses and lost rentals at contractual rates The Company depreciates the amounts

allocated to building and improvements over 40 years The amounts allocated to the intangible relating to in-place

leases which are included in deferred financing and leasing costs or in other liabilities in the accompanying balance

sheets are amortized over the remaining term of the related leases In the event that tenant terminates its lease the

unamortized portion of the intangible is written off

The Company assesses goodwill for impairment annually in November and in interim periods if certain events occur

indicating the carrying value is impaired The Company performs its analysis for potential impairment of goodwill in

accordance with SFAS 142 which requires that two-step impairment test be performed on goodwill In the first

step the fair value of the reporting unit is compared to its carrying value If the fair value exceeds its carrying value

goodwill is not impaired and no further testing is required If the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds its fair

value then second step must be performed in order to determine the implied fair value of the goodwill and compare

it to the carrying value of the goodwill If the carrying value of goodwill exceeds its implied fair value then an

impairment loss is recorded equal to the difference No impairment losses were recognized during the years ended

December 31 2008 or 2007

Investments in Unconsolidated Joint Ventures

The Company analyzes its investments in joint ventures under FASB Interpretation No 46R Consolidation of

Variable Interest Entities to determine if the joint venture is considered variable interest entity and would require

consolidation To the extent that the Companys joint ventures do not qualify as variable interest entities it
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completes further assessment under the guidelines of Emerging Issues Task Force EITF Issue No 04-5

Determining Whether General partner or the General Partners as Group Controls Limited Partnership or

Similar Entity When the Limited Partners Have Certain Rights EITF 04-5 to determine if the venture should be

consolidated The Company does not have any interests in variable interest entities The Company accounts for its

investments in unconsolidated joint ventures using the equity method of accounting as the company exercises

significant influence but does not control these entities These investments are recorded initially at cost as

Investments in Unconsolidated Joint Ventures and subsequently adjusted for equity in earnings and cash

contributions and distributions

On periodic basis management assesses whether there are any indicators that the value of the Companys
investments in unconsolidated joint ventures may be impaired An investment is impaired only if managements

estimate of the value of the investment is less than the carrying value of the investment and such decline in value is

deemed to be other than temporary To the extent impairment has occurred the loss is measured as the excess of the

carrying amount of the investment over the estimated fair value of the investment The Companys estimates of fair

value for each investment are based on number of assumptions that are subject to economic and market

uncertainties including among others demand for space competition for tenants changes in market rental rates and

operating costs As these factors are difficult to predict and are subject to future events that may alter managements

assumptions the values estimated by management in its impairment analyses may not be realized

Results of Operations

The following discussion is based on the consolidated financial statements of the Company It compares the results of

operations of the Company for the
year

ended December 31 2008 with the results of operations of the Company for

the year ended December 31 2007 and the results of operations of the Company for the year ended December 31

2007 with the results of operations of the Company for the year ended December 31 2006 As result of the varying

level of development acquisition and disposition activities by the Company in 2008 2007 and 2006 the overall

operating results of the Company during such periods are not directly comparable However certain data including

the Same Store as defined below results do lend themselves to direct comparison

This information should be read in conjunction with the accompanying consolidated financial statements and notes

included elsewhere in this report

Comparison of Year Ended December 31 2008 to Year Ended December 31 2007

Overview

The Companys average gross
investment in operating real estate owned for the year ended December 31 2008

increased to $5084.3 million from $4553.0 million for the
year

ended December 31 2007 This increase in

operating real estate owned resulted in increases in rental revenue operating expense reimbursement rental property

operating expenses real estate taxes and depreciation and amortization expense

Total operating revenue increased to $748.5 million for the year ended December 31 2008 from $686.8 million for

the year ended December 31 2007 This $61.7 million increase was primarily due to the increase in investment in

operating real estate and the increase in operating revenue from the Same Store group of properties discussed below

This increase was partially offset by decrease in Termination Fees which totaled $3.9 million for the year ended

December 31 2008 as compared to $4.2 million for the year ended December 31 2007 Termination Fees are fees

that the Company agrees to accept in consideration for permitting certain tenants to terminate their leases prior to the

contractual expiration date Termination Fees are included in rental revenue
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Segments

The Company evaluates the performance of the Properties in Operation by reportable segment see Note 13 to the

Companys financial statements for reconciliation to net income The following table identifies changes in

reportable segments dollars in thousands

Property Level Operating Income

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 PERCENTAGE

2008 2007 INCREASE DECREASE

Northeast

Southeastern PA 120778 115192 4.8%

Lehigh/Central PA 72440 68015 6.5%

New Jersey 23156 26934 14.0%
Midwest 51890 52865 1.8%
Mid-Atlantic 100891 90075 12.0%

South 115329 100274 15.0%

Philadelphia 21635 14585 48.3%

United Kingdom 3295 2682 22.9%

Total property level operating income 509414 470622 8.2%

The increase for the year ended December 31 2008 versus the year ended December 31 2007 was primarily due to an increase in average

gross investment in operating real estate and an increase in rental rates This increase was partially
offset by decrease in occupancy during

2008

The decrease for the year ended December 31 2008 versus the year ended December 31 2007 was primarily due to decrease in occupancy

This decrease was partially offset by an increase in average gross investment in operating real estate and an increase in rental rates during

2008

The increase for the year ended December 31 2008 versus the year ended December 31 2007 was primarily due to an increase in average

gross investment in operating real estate an increase in rental rates and an increase in occupancy during 2008 compared to 2007

The increase for the year ended December 31 2008 versus the year ended December 31 2007 was primarily due to the effect of Comcast

Center operation during the relevant periods Comcast Center was wholly owned 1.25 million square foot development property which

came into service incrementally from the third quarter of 2007 through the first quarter of 2008

The increase for the year ended December 31 2008 versus the year ended December 31 2007 was primarily due to an increase in average

gross investment in operating real estate This increase was partially offset by decrease in occupancy decrease in the foreign exchange

rate and decrease in rental rates during 2008

See reconciliation of property level operating income to net income in the Same Store comparison below

Same Store

Property level operating income exclusive of Termination Fees for the Same Store properties decreased to $438.2

million for the year ended December 31 2008 from $440.9 million for the year ended December 31 2007 on

straight line basis which recognizes rental revenue evenly over the life of the lease and decreased to $433.1 million

for the year ended December 31 2008 from $433.9 million for the year ended December 31 2007 on cash basis

These decreases of 0.6% and 0.2% respectively are primarily due to decrease in occupancy

Management generally considers the performance of the Same Store properties to be useful financial performance

measure because the results are directly comparable from period to period Management further believes that the

performance comparison should exclude Termination Fees since they are more event specific and are not

representative of ordinary performance results In addition Same Store property level operating income exclusive of

Termination Fees is considered by management to be more reliable indicator of the portfolios baseline

performance The Same Store properties consist of the 590 properties totaling approximately 53.4 million square feet

owned on January 2007 and excluding properties sold through December 31 2008

Set forth below is schedule comparing the property level operating income on straight line basis and on cash

basis for the Same Store properties for the years ended December 31 2008 and 2007 Same Store property level

income is non-GAAP measure and does not represent income before property dispositions income taxes minority

interest and equity in loss earnings of unconsolidated joint ventures because it does not reflect the consolidated

operations of the Company Investors should review Same Store results along with Funds from operations see

Liquidity and Capital Resources section GAAP net income and cash flow from operating activities investing

activities and financing activities when considering the Companys operating performance Also set forth below is

reconciliation of Same Store property level operating income to net income in thousands
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YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31

2008 2007

Same Store

Rental revenue 447731 448489

Operating expenses

Rental property expense 144362 142332

Real estate taxes 75360 66778

Operating expense recovery 210151 201520

Unrecovered operating expenses 9571 7590

Property level operating income 438160 440899

Less
straight

line rent 5102 6977

Cash basis property level operating income 433058 433922

Reconciliation of non-GAAP financial measure

Property level operating income Same Store 438160 440899

Property level operating income properties purchased or developed subsequent to January 2007 69776 27644

Less Property level operating income properties held for sale at December 31 2008 2377 2084
Termination fees 3855 4163

General and administrative expense 54378 54249

Depreciation and amortization expense 173097 155616
Other income expense 139646 115331

Gain on property dispositions 10572 1463

Income taxes 1645 709

Minority interest 27062 23598

Equity in earnings loss of unconsolidated joint ventures 2805 226
Discontinued operations net of minority interest 24979 41057

Net income 151942 164831

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses were relatively unchanged with an expense of $54.4 million for the year ended

December 31 2008 compared to $54.2 million for the year ended December 31 2007 Minor increases in

compensation expense were offset by minor decreases in expenses for marketing and consulting services

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization increased to $173.1 million for the year ended December 31 2008 from $155.6

million for the year ended December 31 2007 The increase was primarily due to the increase in average gross

investment in operating real estate during the respective periods and particularly the increased investment in tenant

improvement costs which are depreciated over shorter period than buildings

Interest Expense

Interest expense increased to $155.7 million for the year ended December 31 2008 from $127.1 million for the year

ended December 31 2007 This increase was related to an increase in the average debt outstanding which was

$2833.9 million for the year ended December 31 2008 compared to $2677.9 million for the year ended December

31 2007 The effect of the increase in the average debt outstanding was partially offset by decrease in the weighted

average interest rate to 6.1% for the year ended December 31 2008 from 6.5% for the year ended December 31

2007 Also contributing to the increase in interest
expense was the decrease in interest that was capitalized due to the

decrease in development activity

Interest expense allocated to discontinued operations for the years
ended December 31 2008 and 2007 was $2.2

million and $7.0 million respectively This decrease was due to the decrease in the level of dispositions in 2008

compared to 2007
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Other

Gain on property dispositions increased to $10.6 million for the year ended December 31 2008 from $1.5 million for

the year ended December 31 2007 The increase was primarily due to recognition of gain on the sale of Comcast

Center into joint venture in which the Company retains an interest see Note to the Companys Consolidated

Financial Statements

During the fourth quarter of 2008 the Company purchased $23.4 million principal amount of its August 2010 Senior

Notes These notes were purchased at 52.5 million discount The discount is included in net income as loan

extinguishment gain

Income from discontinued operations decreased to $25.0 million from 541.1 million for the year ended December 31
2008 compared to the year ended December 31 2007 The decrease is due to lower operating income and the

decrease in gains recognized on sales which were $23.5 million for the year ended December 31 2008 compared to

$33.6 million for the year ended December 31 2007

As result of the foregoing the Companys net income decreased to $151.9 million for the year ended December 31

2008 from $164.8 million for the year ended December 31 2007

Comparison of Year Ended December 31 2007 to Year Ended December 31 2006

Overview

The Companys average gross investment in operating real estate owned for the year ended December 31 2007

increased to $4553.0 million from $3830.5 million for the year ended December 31 2006 This increase in

operating real estate resulted in increases in rental revenue operating expense reimbursement rental property

operating expenses real estate taxes and depreciation and amortization expense

Total operating revenue increased to $686.8 million for the year ended December 31 2007 from $607.6 million for

the year ended December 31 2006 This $79.2 million increase was primarily due to the increase in investment in

operating real estate and the increase in operating revenue from the Prior Year Same Store group of properties

discussed below These increases were partially offset by decrease in Termination Fees which totaled $4.2 million

for the year ended December 31 2007 as compared to $6.1 million for the year ended December 31 2006

Termination Fees are included in rental revenue

Segments

The Company evaluates the performance of the Properties in Operation by reportable segment see Note 13 to the

Companys Consolidated Financial Statements for reconciliation to net income The following table identifies

changes in reportable segments dollars in thousands
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Property Level Operating Income

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 PERCENTAGE

2007 2006 INCREASE DECREASE

Northeast

SoutheasternPA 115192 114046 1.0%

LehighlCentral PA 68015 63415 7.3%

NewJersey 26934 26456 1.8%

Midwest 52865 49214 7.4%

Mid-Atlantic 90075 80668 11.7%

South 100274 76525 31.0%

Philadelphia 14585 8916 63.6%

United Kingdom 2682 906 196.0%

Total property level operating income 470622 420146 12.0%

The increase for the year ended December 31 2007 versus the year ended December 31 2006 was primarily due to an increase in average

gross investment in operating real estate This increase was partially offset by decrease in occupancy and decrease in rental rates during

2007

The increase for the year ended December 31 2007 versus the year ended December 31 2006 is primarily due to an increase in average gross

investment in operating real estate and an increase in occupancy This increase was partially offset by decrease in rental rates during 2007

The increase for the year ended December 31 2007 versus the year ended December 31 2006 was due to the effect of Comcast Center

operation during the relevant periods Comcast Center was wholly owned 1.25 million square foot development property which came into

service incrementally from the third quarter of 2007 through the first quarter of 2008

The increase for the year ended December 31 2007 versus the year ended December 31 2006 was primarily due to an increase in average

gross investment in operating real estate an increase in rental rates and an increase in occupancy in 2007 compared to 2006

See reconciliation of property level operating income to net income in the Same Store comparison below

Same Store

Property level operating income exclusive of Termination Fees for the Prior Year Same Store as defmed below

properties increased to $408.3 million for the year ended December 31 2007 from $399.3 million for the year ended

December 31 2006 on straight line basis and increased to $406.2 million for the year ended December 31 2007

from $394.2 million for the year ended December 31 2006 on cash basis These increases of 2.3% and 3.1%

respectively were primarily due to an increase in occupancy and an increase in rental rates

Management generally considers the performance of the Prior Year Same Store properties to be useful financial

performance measure because the results are directly comparable from period to period Management further

believes that the performance comparison should exclude Termination Fees since they are more event specific and

are not representative of ordinary performance results In addition Prior Year Same Store property level operating

income exclusive of Termination Fees is considered by management to be more reliable indicator of the portfolios

baseline performance The Prior Year Same Store properties consist of the 561 properties totaling approximately 50.2

million square feet owned on January 2006 and excluding properties sold through December 31 2007

Set forth below is schedule comparing the property level operating income on straight line basis and on cash

basis for the Prior Year Same Store properties for the years ended December 31 2007 and 2006 Prior Year Same

Store property level income is non-GAAP measure and does not represent income before property dispositions

income taxes minority interest and equity in earnings of unconsolidated joint ventures because it does not reflect the

consolidated operations of the Company Investors should review Prior Year Same Store results along with Funds

from operations see Liquidity and Capital Resources section GAAP net income and cash flow from operating

activities investing activities and financing activities when considering the Companys operating performance Also

set forth below is reconciliation of Prior Year Same Store property level operating income to net income in

thousands
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YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31

2007 2006

Prior Year Same Store

Rental revenue 414197 406063

Operating expenses

Rental property expense 131698 123156

Real estate taxes 62157 61294

Operating expense recovery 188006 177680

Unrecovered operating expenses 5849 6770

Property level operating income 408348 399293

Less straight line rent 2111 5091

Cash basis property level operating income 406237 394202

Reconciliation of non-GAAP financial measure

Property level operating income
prior year Same Store 408348 399293

Property level operating income properties purchased or developed subsequent to January 2006 65110 21352

Less Property level operating income 2008 discontinued operations 7001 6561
Termination fees 4165 6062

General and administrative expense 54249 46332

Depreciation and amortization expense 155616 132106
Other income expense 115331 100789
Gain on property dispositions 1463 17628

Income taxes 709 288
Minority interest 23598 19801

Equity in loss earnings of unconsolidated joint ventures 226 1432

Discontinued operations at December 31 2007 38976 124379

2008 discontinued operations 2081 2305

Net income 164831 266574

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses
increased to $54.2 million for the year ended December 31 2007 from $46.3

million for the year ended December 31 2006 This increase was primarily due to increases in salaries and increases

in personnel consistent with the increase in the size of the Company The increase in general and administrative

expenses was also due to the expensing of costs relating to the acquisition of Republic and an increase in cancelled

project costs

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization increased to $155.6 million for the year
ended December 31 2007 from $132.1

million for the year ended December 31 2006 The increase was primarily due to the increase in
gross

investment in

operating real estate during the respective periods and particularly the increased investment in tenant improvement

costs which are depreciated over relatively shorter period than buildings

Interest Expense

Interest expense increased to $127.1 million for the year ended December 31 2007 from $109.5 million for the year

ended December 31 2006 This increase was related to an increase in the average debt outstanding which was

$2677.9 million for the year ended December 31 2007 compared to $2263.9 million for the year ended December

31 2006 The effect of the increase in the average debt outstanding was partially offset by an increase in capitalized

interest costs and decrease in the weighted average interest rate to 6.5% for the
year

ended December 31 2007 from

6.6% for the year ended December31 2006

Interest expense allocated to discontinued operations for the years ended December 31 2007 and 2006 was $7.0

million and $14.8 million respectively This decrease was due to the decrease in the level of dispositions in 2007

compared to 2006
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Other

Gain on property dispositions decreased to $1.5 million for the year ended December 31 2007 from $17.6 million for

the
year ended December 31 2006 The decrease was due to gain on sale of properties to an unconsolidated joint

venture during the year ended December 31 2006 There was no similar transaction in 2007

Income from discontinued operations decreased to $41.1 million from $126.7 million for the year ended December

31 2007 compared to the year ended December 31 2006 The decrease is due to lower operating income and the

decrease in gains recognized on sales which were $33.6 million for the year ended December 31 2007 compared to

$112.6 million for the year ended December 31 2006

As result of the foregoing the Companys net income decreased to $164.8 million for the year ended December 31
2007 from $266.6 million for the year ended December 31 2006

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Overview

The uncertainty in the global credit markets has negatively affected the unsecured debt markets As result the

Company will be more reliant on the secured debt market as source of financing in 2009 The Company anticipates

that it will need approximately $150 million during 2009 to complete its December 31 2008 development pipeline

and to fund 2009 development starts The Companys 2009 debt maturities total approximately $320 million The

Company believes that proceeds from asset sales and from secured debt financing will provide it with sufficient funds

to satisfy these obligations The Company expects to realize approximately $125 million to $200 million in proceeds

from asset sales in 2009 and it currently has commitments for approximately $300 million in secured debt financings

that it expects will fund in 2009 From January 2009 through February 23 2009 the Company has sold six

Properties in Operation for $34.8 million and it has closed on $193.2 million in secured debt financings

Activity

As of December 31 2008 the Company had cash and cash equivalents of $55.5 million including $39.7 million in

restricted cash

Net cash flow provided by operating activities decreased to $268.5 million for the
year

ended December 31 2008

from $346.8 million for the year ended December 31 2007 This $78.3 million decrease was primarily due to

change in restricted cash and the timing of payments on account The change in restricted cash is due to the release of

restricted funds in the United Kingdom for the payment of infrastructure costs Net cash flow provided by operating

activities is the primary source of liquidity to fund distributions to shareholders and for the recurring capital

expenditures and leasing transaction costs for the Companys Wholly Owned Properties in Operation

Net cash provided by investing activities was $52.6 million for the year ended December 31 2008 compared to net

cash used of $758.9 million for the year ended December 31 2007 This $811.5 million change primarily resulted

from decrease in investment in unconsolidated joint ventures in 2008 compared to an increase in 2007 due to the

investment in the Blythe Valley joint venture There was also decrease in investment in properties development in

progress and land held for development

Net cash used in financing activities was $333.8 million for the year ended December 31 2008 compared to net cash

provided of $396.3 million for the year ended December 31 2007 This $730.1 million change was primarily due to

the decreased net borrowings on unsecured debt including unsecured notes and the credit facility during the year

ended December 31 2008 due to decreased investment activity during 2008 Net cash provided by or used in

financing activities includes proceeds from the issuance of equity and debt net of debt repayments and equity

repurchases and shareholder distributions Cash provided by financing activities is source of capital utilized by the

Company to fund investment activities

The Company funds its development and acquisitions with long-term capital sources and proceeds from the

disposition of properties For the year ended December 31 2008 significant portion of these activities were funded

through $600 million Credit Facility the $600 million Credit Facility The interest rate on borrowings under the

$600 million Credit Facility fluctuates based upon ratings from Moodys Investors Service Inc Moodys
Standard and Poors Ratings Group SP and Fitch Inc Fitch The current ratings for the Companys senior

unsecured debt are Baa2 BBB and BBB from Moodys SP and Fitch respectively At these ratings the interest

rate for borrowings under the $600 million Credit Facility is 65 basis points over LIBOR The $600 million Credit
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Facility contains an accordion feature whereby the Company may borrow an additional $200 million The Credit

Facility expires in January 2010 and has one-year
extension option The fee for the one-year extension is

$900000

Additionally the Company has entered into an agreement to fund its planned improvements for the Kings Hill Phase

land development project At December 31 2008 the Company had drawn 1.8 million $2.7 million from 7.0

million $10.2 million revolving credit facility The facility expires on November 22 2011

The Company uses debt financing to lower its overall cost of capital in an attempt to increase the return to

shareholders The Company staggers its debt maturities and maintains debt levels it considers to be prudent In

determining its debt levels the Company considers various financial measures including the debt to gross assets ratio

and the fixed charge coverage ratio As of December 31 2008 the Companys debt to gross assets ratio was 41.8%

and for the year ended December 31 2008 the fixed charge coverage ratio was 2.4x Debt to gross assets equals

total long-term debt borrowings under the Credit Facility divided by total assets plus accumulated depreciation The

fixed charge coverage
ratio equals income from continuing operations before property dispositions and minority

interest including operating activity from discontinued operations plus interest expense and depreciation and

amortization divided by interest expense including capitalized interest plus distributions on preferred units

As of December 31 2008 $198.6 million in mortgage loans and $2131.6 million in unsecured notes were

outstanding with weighted average interest rate of 6.6% The interest rates on $2327.5 million of mortgage loans

and unsecured notes are fixed and range from 5.0% to 8.8% The weighted average remaining term for these

mortgage loans and unsecured notes is 4.9 years

The Companys contractual obligations as of December 31 2008 are as follows in thousands

PAYMENTS DUE BY PERIOD

LESS THAN MoRE THAN

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS TOTAL YEAR 1-3 YEARS 3-5 YEARS YEARS

Long-term debt $3299597 459053 936021 443029 $1461494

Capital lease
obligations 5084 407 362 376 3939

Operating lease obligations 18810 1307 1732 1430 14341

Share of debt of unconsolidated joint ventures 391675 43996 61953 83838 201888

Property development commitments 128137 109643 18494

Share of property development commitments of

unconsolidated joint ventures 16919 16162 757

Joint venture capital commitments 3823 2510 1313

Letter of credit 1985 562 1423

Share of letter of credit of unconsolidated joint

ventures 1250 1250

Purchase obligations 17597 17597

Comcast Center net operating income support 42 42

Total $3884919 650019 1023252 529986 $1681662

Includes principal and interest payments Interest payments assume $600 million Credit Facility borrowings and interest rates remain at the

December31 2008 level until maturity

Purchase obligations refer to obligations to acquire land

General

The Company believes that its existing sources of capital will provide sufficient funds to finance its continued

development and acquisition activities The Companys existing sources of capital include the public debt and equity

markets proceeds from secured financing of properties proceeds from property dispositions equity capital from joint

venture partners and net cash provided by operating activities Additionally the Company expects to incur variable

rate debt including borrowings under the $600 million Credit Facility from time to time

In June 2007 the Company redeemed for $23.7 million its outstanding 7.63% Series Cumulative Redeemable

Preferred Units The redemption resulted in $0.7 million write-off of Series issuance costs

In August 2007 the Company raised $100 million through the placement of 7.40% Series Cumulative Redeemable

Preferred Units The net proceeds from this offering were used to pay down outstanding borrowings under the $600

million Credit Facility and for general corporate purposes Amounts repaid under the $600 million Credit Facility
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were subsequently drawn to pay portion of the cash
merger consideration for the purchase of Republic Property

Trust

In August and September 2007 the Company satisfied $100 million 7.25% senior unsecured note and issued $300

million 6.625% senior unsecured note due 2017 The net proceeds of the $300 million offering were $296.2 million

and were used to pay down outstanding borrowings under the $600 million Credit Facility and for general corporate

purposes Amounts repaid under the $600 million Credit Facility were subsequently drawn to pay portion of the

cash merger consideration for the purchase of Republic Property Trust

On March 31 2008 $324 million 6.15% secured ten-year financing for Comcast Center was funded The proceeds

from this financing were used to pay down outstanding borrowings on the $600 million Credit Facility

In October 2008 the Company sold 4750000 Common Shares The net proceeds of the offering of $149.5 million

were used to pay down outstanding borrowings under the $600 million Credit Facility and for general corporate

purposes

In December 2008 the Company purchased $23.4 million of its 8.5% August 2010 senior unsecured notes This

purchase resulted in $2.5 million loan extinguishment gain

In December 2008 the Company commenced the sale of up to $150.0 million of Common Shares pursuant to

continuous offering program Through December 31 2008 the Company sold 495000 Common Shares as part of

this program From January 2009 through February 23 2009 the Company sold an additional 2.3 million

Common Shares through this program The net proceeds from the offering of $10.8 million through December 31
2008 and of $47.4 million from January 2009 through February 23 2009 were used to pay down outstanding

borrowings under the $600 million Credit Facility and for general corporate purposes Through February 23 2009
the Company paid Citigroup Global Markets Inc its agent under this program an aggregate of $1.2 million in fees

with respect to the Common Shares sold through this program

In November 2008 the quarterly Common Share dividend was decreased to $0.475 per share from $0.625 per share

The Companys annual Common Share dividend paid was $2.50 per share $2485 per share and $2.465 per share in

2008 2007 and 2006 respectively In 2008 the Companys dividend payout ratio was approximately 78.1% of

Funds from operations as defined below

The Company has an effective S-3 shelf registration statement on file with the SEC pursuant to which the Trust and

the Operating Partnership may issue an unlimited amount of equity securities and debt securities

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31 2008 the Company had investments in and advances to unconsolidated joint ventures totaling

$266.6 million

Calculation of Funds from Operations

The National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts NAREIT has issued standard definition for Funds

from operations as defined below The SEC has agreed to the disclosure of this non-GAAP financial measure on

per share basis in its Release No 34-47226 Conditions for Use of Non-GAAP Financial Measures The Company
believes that the calculation of Funds from operations is helpful to investors and management as it is measure of the

Companys operating performance that excludes depreciation and amortization and gains and losses from property

dispositions As result year over year comparison of Funds from operations reflects the impact on operations from

trends in occupancy rates rental rates operating costs development activities general and administrative expenses
and interest costs providing perspective not immediately apparent from net income In addition management
believes that Funds from operations provides useful information to the investment community about the Companys
financial performance when compared to other REITs since Funds from operations is generally recognized as the

standard for reporting the operating performance of REIT Funds from operations available to common
shareholders is defined by NAREIT as net income computed in accordance with generally accepted accounting

principles GAAP excluding gains or losses from sales of property plus depreciation and amortization and

after adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures Funds from operations available to common
shareholders does not represent net income or cash flows from operations as defined by GAAP and does not

necessarily indicate that cash flows will be sufficient to fund cash needs It should not be considered as an alternative

to net income as an indicator of the Companys operating performance or to cash flows as measure of liquidity

Funds from operations available to common shareholders also does not represent cash flows generated from

operating investing or financing activities as defined by GAAP
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Funds from operations FF0 available to common shareholders for the
years

ended December 31 2008 2007 and

2006 are as follows in thousands except per share amounts

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31
2008 2007 2006

Reconciliation of net income to FF0 basic

Net income 151942 164831 266574

Basic income available to common shareholders 151942 164831 266574

Basic income available to common shareholders per weighted

average share 1.62 1.81 2.98

Adjustments

Depreciation and amortization of unconsolidated joint ventures 16235 6494 2871

Depreciation and amortization 173400 162833 149606

Gain on property dispositions 34336 36498 136036

Minority interest share in addback for depreciation and amortization and

gain on property dispositions 6606 5820 877

Funds from operations available to common shareholders basic 300635 291840 282138

Basic Funds from operations available to common shareholders per

weighted average share 3.21 3.20 3.16

Reconciliation of net income to FF0 diluted

Net income 151942 164831 266574

Diluted income available to common shareholders 151942 164831 266574

Diluted income available to common shareholders per weighted

average share 1.62 1.80 2.95

Adjustments

Depreciation and amortization of unconsolidated joint ventures 16235 6494 2871

Depreciation and amortization 173400 162833 149606

Gain on property dispositions
34336 36498 136036

Minority interest less preferred share distributions and excess of preferred unit redemption 6669 7556 11786

over carrying amount

Funds from operations available to common shareholders diluted 313910 305216 294801

Diluted Funds from operations available to common shareholders per

weighted average share 3.20 3.18 3.12

Reconciliation of weighted average shares

Weighted average Common Shares all basic calculations 93624 91185 89313

Dilutive shares for long term compensation plans 180 618 1179

Diluted shares for net income calculations 93804 91803 90492

Weighted average common units 4190 4190 3895

Diluted shares for Funds from operations calculations 97994 95993 94387

Inflation

Inflation has remained relatively low in recent years and as result it has not had significant impact on the

Company during this period Through the early part of 2008 there was dramatic increase in the price of oil

and other commodities such an increase if it were to recommence could result in an increase in inflation

However weakness in the national and global economies has resulted in Federal Reserve Board action

designed to discourage increases in interest rates To the extent an increase in inflation would result in

40



increased operating costs such as insurance real estate taxes and utilities substantially all of the tenants

leases require the tenants to absorb these costs as part of their rental obligations In addition inflation also

may have the effect of increasing market rental rates

ITEM 7A QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

The following discussion about the Companys risk management includes forward-looking statements that involve

risks and uncertainties Actual results could differ materially from the results discussed in the forward-looking

statements

The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents restricted cash accounts receivable accounts payable accrued

interest dividends and distributions payable and other liabilities are reasonable estimates of fair value because of the

short-term nature of these instruments The fair value of the Companys long-term debt which is based on estimates

by management and on rates quoted on December 31 2008 for comparable loans is less than the aggregate carrying

value by approximately $713.1 million at December 31 2008

The Companys primary market risk exposure is to changes in interest rates The Company is exposed to market risk

related to its $600 million Credit Facility and certain other indebtedness as discussed in Managements Discussion

and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Liquidity and Capital Resources The interest on
the $600 million Credit Facility and certain other indebtedness is subject to fluctuations in the market

The Company also uses long-term and medium-term debt as source of capital These debt instruments are typically

issued at fixed interest rates When these debt instruments mature the Company typically refinances such debt at

then-existing market interest rates which may be more or less than the interest rates on the maturing debt In addition

the Company may attempt to reduce interest rate risk associated with forecasted issuance of new debt In order to

reduce interest rate risk associated with these transactions the Company occasionally enters into interest rate

protection agreements

If the interest rates for variable rate debt were 100 basis points higher or lower during 2008 the Companys interest

expense would have increased or decreased by $3.6 million If the interest rate for the fixed rate debt maturing in

2009 was 100 basis points higher or lower than its current rate of 6.9% the Companys interest expense would have

increased or decreased by $170000

The sensitivity analysis above assumes no changes in the Companys financial structure It also does not consider

future fluctuations in interest rates or the specific actions that might be taken by management to mitigate the impact

of such fluctuations

The Company is also exposed to currency risk on its net investment in the United Kingdom The Company does not

believe that this currency risk exposure is material to its financial statements

ITEM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The dual presentation of financial statements for the Company is required by the SEC The Company is comprised of

two SEC registrants Liberty Property Trust and Liberty Property Limited Partnership Accordingly financial

statements are required for each registrant The financial information contained within the two sets of financial

statements is essentially the same
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Managements Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

To the Shareholders of Liberty Property Trust

The Companys management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial

reporting as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rules l3a 15 and 15d 15f The Companys internal

control system was designed to provide reasonable assurance to the Companys management and Board of Trustees

regarding the preparation and fair presentation of published financial statements

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief

Financial Officer we assessed the effectiveness of the Companys internal control over financial reporting as of

December 31 2008 In making this assessment we used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commissions COSO in Internal Control Integrated Framework Based on our

assessment we believe that as of December 31 2008 the Companys internal control over financial reporting is

effective based on those criteria

The Companys independent registered public accounting firm Ernst Young LLP has issued an attestation report

on the Companys internal controls over financial reporting which is included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements

Also projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become

inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may

deteriorate

February 27 2009
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Trustees and Shareholders of Liberty Property Trust

We have audited Liberty Property Trusts the Trust internal control over financial reporting as of December 31
2008 based on criteria established in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework issued by the Committee of

Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission the COSO criteria The Trusts management is responsible

for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of

internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Managements Annual Report on Internal

Control Over Financial Reporting Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Trusts internal control over

financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about

whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects Our audit included

obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting assessing the risk that material weakness

exists testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk and

performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances We believe that our audit

provides reasonable basis for our opinion

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding

the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance

with generally accepted accounting principles companys internal control over financial reporting includes those

policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly

reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company provide reasonable assurance that

transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance

with authorizations of management and directors of the company and provide reasonable assurance regarding

prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the companys assets that could have

material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements

Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become

inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate

In our opinion Liberty Property Trust maintained in all material respects effective internal control over financial

reporting as of December 31 2008 based on the COSO criteria

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United

States the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31 2008 and 2007 and the related consolidated statements of

operations shareholders equity and cash flows for each of the three
years

in the period ended December 31 2008 of

Liberty Property Trust and our report dated February 25 2009 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon

Is Ernst Young LLP

Philadelphia Pennsylvania

February 25 2009
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Trustees and Shareholders of Liberty Property Trust

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Liberty Property Trust the Trust as of

December 31 2008 and 2007 and the related consolidated statements of operations shareholders equity and cash

flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31 2008 Our audits also included the financial

statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15 These financial statements and schedule are the responsibility of the

Trusts management Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and schedule based on

our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about

whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement An audit includes examining on test basis

evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements An audit also includes assessing the

accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management as well as evaluating the overall financial

statement presentation We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion the financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects the consolidated

financial position of Liberty Property Trust at December 31 2008 and 2007 and the consolidated results of its

operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31 2008 in conformity with

U.S generally accepted accounting principles Also in our opinion the related financial statement schedule when

considered in relation to the financial statements taken as whole presents fairly in all material respects the

information set forth therein

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United

States Liberty Property Trusts internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2008 based on criteria

established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the

Treadway Commission and our report dated February 25 2009 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon

Is Ernst Young LLP

Philadelphia Pennsylvania

February 25 2009
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS OF LIBERTY PROPERTY TRUST

IN THOUSANDS EXCEPT SHARE AMOUNTS

DECEMBER 31
2008 2007

ASSETS

Real estate

Land and land improvements 813397 792991

Buildings and improvements 4260121 4408309

Less accumulated depreciation 982114 858671

Operating real estate 4091404 4342629

Development in progress 245463 316985

Land held for development 209551 247124

Net real estate 4546418 4906738

Cash and cash equivalents 15794 37989

Restricted cash 39726 34567

Accounts receivable net 12985 15908

Deferred rent receivable 85352 79720

Deferred financing and leasing costs net 134029 144295

Investments in and advances to unconsolidated joint ventures 266602 278383

Assets held for sale 33662 36908

Prepaid expenses and other assets 82467 109429

Total assets 5217035 5643937

LIABILITIES

Mortgage loans 198560 243169

Unsecured notes 2131607 2155000

Credit facility 260000 622960

Accounts payable 32481 44666

Accrued interest 36474 39725

Dividends and distributions payable 48858 59849

Other liabilities 182549 268926

Total liabilities 2890529 3434295

Minority interest 369771 372621

SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY
Common shares of beneficial interest $001 par value 183987000 shares authorized 100034404

includes 1249909 in treasury and 92817879 includes 1249909 in treasury shares issued and

outstanding as of December31 2008 and 2007 respectively 101 93

Additional paid-in capital 2199684 1984141

Accumulated other comprehensive loss income 5378 21378

Distributions in excess of net income 185721 116640
Common Shares held in treasury at cost 1249909 shares as of December 2008 and

2007 51951 51951

Total shareholders equity 1956735 1837021

Total liabilities and shareholders equity 5217035 5643937

See accompanying notes
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS OF LIBERTY PROPERTY TRUST

IN THOUSANDS EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31

2008 2007 2006

OPERATING REVENUE
Rental 520301 480107 426874

Operating expense reimbursement 228219 206724 180688

Total operating revenue 748520 686831 607562

OPERATING EXPENSE

Rental property 152786 143646 122826

Real estate taxes 86320 72563 64590

General and administrative 54378 54249 46332

Depreciation and amortization 173097 155616 132106

Total operating expenses 466581 426074 365854

Operating income 281939 260757 241708

OTHER INCOME EXPENSE
Interest and other income 13508 11727 8693

Debt extinguishment gain 2521

Interest expense 155675 127058 109482

Total other income expense 139646 115331 100789

Income before property dispositions income taxes minority interest and equity in earnings

loss of unconsolidated joint ventures 142293 145426 140919

Gain on property dispositions 10572 1463 17628

Income taxes 1645 709 288
Minority interest 27062 23598 19801

Equity in earnings loss of unconsolidated joint ventures 2805 226 1432

Income from continuing operations 126963 123774 139890

Discontinued operations net of minority interest including net gain on property

dispositions
of $23519 $33611 and $112620 for the years ended December

31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively 24979 41057 126684

Net income 151942 164831 266574

Earnings per share

Basic

Income from continuing operations 1.35 1.36 1.56

Income from discontinued operations 0.27 0.45 1.42

Incomepercommonsharebasic 1.62 1.81 2.98

Diluted

Income from continuing operations 1.35 1.35 1.55

Income from discontinued operations 0.27 0.45 1.40

Incomepercommonsharediluted 1.62 1.80 2.95

Weighted average number of Common Shares outstanding

Basic 93624 91185 89313

Diluted 93804 91803 90492

See accompanying notes
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY OF LIBERTY PROPERTY TRUST

IN THOUSANDS

COMMON ACCUMULATED COMMON

SHARES OF ADDITIONAL OTHER DISTRIBUTIONS SHARES TOTAL

BENEFICIAL PAID-IN COMPREHENSIVE IN EXCESS OF HELD SHAREHOLDERS

INTEREST CAPITAL INCOME NET INCOME IN TREASURY EQUITY

Balance at January 12006 88 $1799068 9906 98553 1327 1709182

Net proceeds from the issuance of

Common Shares 87040 87043

Net income 266574 266574

Distributions on Common Shares 221907 221907

Noncash compensation 6212 6212

Minority interest reclassification 14083 14083

Foreign currency translation

adjustment 10417 10417

Balance at December31 2006 91 1906403 20323 53886 1327 1871604

Net proceeds from the issuance of

Common Shares 70353 70355

Net income 164831 164831

Distributions on Common Shares 227585 227585
Purchase of

treasury
shares 50624 50624

Noncash compensation 8128 8128

Minority interest reclassification 743 743
Foreign currency translation

adjustment 1055 1055

Balance at December 312007 93 1984141 21378 116640 51951 1837021

Net proceeds from the issuance of

Common Shares 206341 206349

Net income 151942 151942

Distributions on Common Shares 221023 221023

Purchase of treasury shares

Noncash compensation 9152 9152

Minority interest reclassification 50 50

Foreign currency translation

adjustment 26756 26756

Balance at December 31 2008 101 $2199684 5378 185721 51951 1956735

See accompanying notes
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS OF LIBERTY PROPERTY TRUST

IN THOUSANDS

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31

2008 2007 2006

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net income 151942 164831 266574

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities

Depreciation and amortization 175236 163665 151966

Amortization of deferred financing costs 4429 4137 4244

Equity in earnings loss of unconsolidated
joint ventures 2805 226 1432

Distributions from unconsolidated joint ventures 1660 3550 5692

Minority interest in net income 28164 25479 25469

Gain on property dispositions 34091 35074 130248
Noncash compensation 9152 8128 6212

Changes in operating assets and liabilities

Restricted cash 10903 26211 21692
Accounts receivable 4277 4634 6879
Deferred rent receivable 13482 13455 924

Prepaid expenses and other assets 26326 14145 14394
Accounts payable 10913 3974 7648

Accrued interest 3251 3428 1405

Other liabilities 3935 1163 29084

Net cash provided by operating activities 268470 346752 324573

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Investment in properties 60078 307846 372610
Cash paid for business net of cash acquired 626007
Investments in and advances to unconsolidated joint ventures 58250 227385 6239
Net proceeds from disposition of properties/land 382956 996474 492548

Investment in development in progress 247393 417877 339631
Investment in land held for development 47857 137051 79976
Increase in deferred leasing costs 33325 39232 29034

Net cash provided by used in investing activities 52553 758924 334942

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Net proceeds from issuance of Common Shares 206349 70355 87043

Purchase of treasury shares 50624
Net proceeds from issuance of preferred units 99958 26305

Redemption of preferred units 23653
Net proceeds from issuance of notes payable 415063

Repayments of notes payable 415063
Net proceeds from issuance of unsecured notes 446205 295393

Repayments of unsecured notes 23393 250000 100000
Proceeds from mortgage loans 2667

Repayments of mortgage loans 46452 16365 56406
Proceeds from credit facility 572300 1363050 725025

Repayments on credit facility 782300 987050 733515
Increase in deferred financing costs 33 1224 1635
Distributions paid on Common Shares 231325 226718 219873
Distributions paid on units 31648 27612 22664

Net cash used in provided by financing activities 333835 396322 327

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents 12812 15850 10696

Decrease increase in cash and cash equivalents related to foreign currency translation 9383 102 2804

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 37989 53737 61629

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 15794 37989 53737

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NONCASH TRANSACTIONS

Write-off of fully depreciated property and deferred costs 31421 102902 87424

Issuance of operating partnership common units 30000

Acquisition of properties 73556 3066
Assumption of mortgage loans 73556 3066

See accompanying notes
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF LIBERTY PROPERTY TRUST

ORGANIZATION

Liberty Property Trust the Trust is self-administered and self-managed Maryland real estate investment trust

REIT Substantially all of the Trusts assets are owned directly or indirectly and substantially all of the Trusts

operations are conducted directly or indirectly by Liberty Property Limited Partnership the Operating Partnership

and together with the Trust and their consolidated subsidiaries the Company The Trust is the sole general partner

and also limited partner of the Operating Partnership owning 96.0% of the common equity of the Operating

Partnership at December 31 2008 The Company provides leasing property management development acquisition

and other tenant-related services for portfolio of industrial and office properties which are located principally within

the Mid-Atlantic Southeastern Midwestern and Southwestern United States and the United Kingdom

All square footage amounts are unaudited

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S generally accepted accounting principles US
GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect amounts reported in the financial

statements and accompanying notes Actual results could differ from those estimates

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company include the Trust the Operating Partnership and wholly owned

subsidiaries and those subsidiaries in which the Company owns majority voting interest with the ability to control

operations of the subsidiaries and where no approval veto or other important rights have been granted to the minority

shareholders All significant intercompany transactions and accounts have been eliminated

Reclassifications

Certain amounts from prior years have been reclassified to conform to current-year presentation

Real Estate and Depreciation

The properties are recorded at cost and are depreciated using the straight line method over their estimated useful

lives The estimated useful lives are as follows

Building and improvements 40 years blended

Capital improvements 15 20 years

Equipment 10
years

Tenant improvements Term of the related lease

Expenditures directly related to acquisition or improvement of real estate including interest and other costs

capitalized during development are included in net real estate and are stated at cost The capitalized costs include

pre-construction costs essential to the development of the property development and construction costs interest

costs real estate taxes development-related salaries and other costs incurred during the period of development

Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to operations as incurred

In accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB Statement of Financial Standards SFAS
No 141 Business Combinations the Company allocates the purchase price of real estate acquired to land building

and improvements and intangibles based on the relative fair value of each component The value ascribed to in-place

leases is based on the rental rates for the existing leases compared to market rent for leases of similar terms and

present valuing the difference based on market interest rates Origination values are also assigned to in-place leases

and where appropriate value is assigned to customer relationships The Company depreciates the amounts allocated

to building and improvements over 40 years and the amounts allocated to intangibles relating to in-place leases

which are included in deferred fmancing and leasing costs and other liabilities in the accompanying consolidated

balance sheets over the remaining term of the related leases

Once property is designated as held for sale no further depreciation expense is recorded Operations for properties

identified as held for sale andlor sold where no continuing involvement exists are presented in discontinued

operations for all periods presented
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The Company evaluates its real estate investments upon occurrence of significant adverse change in its operations

to assess whether any impairment indicators are present that affect the recovery of the recorded value If any real

estate investment is considered impaired loss is recognized to reduce the carrying value of the property to its

estimated fair value

Investments in Unconsolidated Joint Ventures

The Company accounts for its investments in unconsolidated joint ventures using the equity method of accounting as

the Company exercises significant influence but does not control these entities Under the equity method of

accounting the net equity investment of the Company is reflected in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets

and the Companys share of net income from the joint ventures is included in the accompanying consolidated

statements of operations

On periodic basis management assesses whether there are any indicators that the value of the Companys

investments in unconsolidated joint ventures may be impaired An investment is impaired only if managements

estimate of the value of the investment is less than the carrying value of the investment and such decline in value is

deemed to be other than temporary To the extent impairment has occurred the loss shall be measured as the excess

of the canying amount of the investment over the estimated fair value of the investment

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Highly liquid investments with maturity of three months or less when purchased are classified as cash equivalents

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash includes tenant security deposits and escrow funds that the Company maintains pursuant to certain

mortgage loans Restricted cash also includes the undistributed proceeds from the sale of residential land in Kent

County United Kingdom

Accounts Receivable/Deferred Rent Receivable

The Companys accounts receivable are comprised of rents and charges for property operating costs due from

tenants The Company periodically performs detailed review of amounts due from tenants to determine if accounts

receivable balances are collectible Based on this review accounts receivable are reduced by an allowance for

doubtful accounts The Company considers tenant credit quality and payment history and general economic

conditions in determining the allowance for doubtful accounts If the accounts receivable balance is subsequently

deemed uncollectible the receivable and allowance for doubtful account balance is written off

The Companys deferred rent receivable represents the cumulative difference between rent revenue recognized on

straight line basis and contractual payments due under the terms of tenant leases

The allowance for doubtful accounts at December 31 2008 and 2007 was $8.5 million and $6.0 million respectively

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the amounts paid in excess of the fair value of the net assets acquired from business acquisitions

accounted for under SFAS No 141 Business Combinations Pursuant to SFAS No 142 Accounting for

Goodwill and Intangible Assets SFAS 142 goodwill is not amortized to expense but rather is analyzed for

impairment In conjunction with the purchase of Republic goodwill of $15.3 million was recorded The goodwill is

assigned to the Northern Virginia/Washington D.C operation reporting unit which is part of the Philadelphia

reportable segment and is included in prepaid expenses and other assets on the Companys consolidated balance

sheets The Company assesses goodwill for impairment annually in November and in interim periods if certain

events occur indicating the carrying value may be impaired The Company performs its analysis for potential

impairment of goodwill in accordance with SFAS 142 which requires that two-step impairment test be performed

on goodwill In the first step the fair value of the reporting unit is compared to its carrying value If the fair value

exceeds its canying value goodwill is not impaired and no further testing is required If the carrying value of the

reporting unit exceeds its fair value then second step must be performed in order to determine the implied fair

value of the goodwill and compare it to the carrying value of the goodwill If the carrying value of goodwill exceeds

its implied fair value then an impairment loss is recorded equal to the difference No impairment losses were

recognized during the years ended December 31 2008 or 2007
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Revenues

The Company earns rental income under operating leases with tenants Rental income is recognized on straight line

basis over the applicable lease term Operating expense reimbursements consisting of amounts due from tenants for

real estate taxes utilities and other recoverable costs are recognized as revenue in the period in which the

corresponding expenses are incurred

Termination fees included in rental revenue are fees that the Company has agreed to accept in consideration for

permitting certain tenants to terminate their lease prior to the contractual expiration date The Company recognizes

termination fees in accordance with Staff Accounting Bulletin 104 when the following conditions are met

the termination agreement is executed

the termination fee is determinable

all landlord services pursuant to the terminated lease have been rendered and

collectability of the termination fee is assured

Deferred Financing and Leasing Costs

Costs incurred in connection with financing or leasing are capitalized and amortized over the term of the related loan

or lease Deferred financing cost amortization is reported as interest expense Intangible assets related to acquired in-

place leases are amortized over the terms of the related leases

Costs Incurred for Preferred Unit Issuance

Costs incurred in connection with the Companys preferred unit issuances are reflected as reduction of minority

interest

Income per Common Share

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted income per common share in thousands except

per share amounts

2008 2007

WEIGHTED WEIGHTED

AVERAGE AVERAGE

INCOME SHARES PER INCOME SHARES PER

NUMERATOR DENOMINATOR SHARE NUMERATOR DENOMINATOR SHARE

Basic income from continuing operations

Income from
continuing operations 126963 93624 1.35 123774 91185 1.36

Dilutive shares for long-term compensation plans
180 618

Diluted income from continuing operations

Income from continuing operations

and assumed conversions 126963 93804 1.35 123774 91803 1.35

Basic income from discontinued operations

Discontinued operations net of minority interest 24979 93624 0.27 41057 91185 0.45

Dilutive shares for long-term compensation plans ISO 618

Diluted income from discontinued operations

Discontinued operations net of minority interest 24979 93804 0.27 41057 91803 0.45

Basic income per common share

Net income 151942 93624 1.62 164831 91185 1.81

Dilutive shares for long-term compensation plans 180 618

Diluted income per common share

Net income and assumed conversions 151942 93804 1.62 164831 91803 1.80
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2006

WEIGHTED

AVERAGE

INCOME SHARES PER

NUMERATOR DENOMINATOR SHARE

Basic income from continuing operations

Income from continuing operations 139890 89313 1.56

Dilutive shares for long-term compensation plans 1179

Diluted income from continuing operations

Income from continuing operations

and assumed conversions 139890 90492 1.55

Basic income from discontinued operations

Discontinued operations net of minority interest 126684 89313 1.42

Dilutive shares for long-term compensation plans 1179

Diluted income from discontinued operations

Discontinued operations net of minority interest 126684 90492 1.40

Basic income
per

common share

Net income 266574 89313 2.98

Dilutive shares for long-term compensation plans 1179

Diluted income per common share

Net income and assumed conversions 266574 90492 2.95

Dilutive shares for long-term compensation plans represent the vested and unvested Common Shares outstanding

during the year as well as the dilutive effect of outstanding options The anti-dilutive options that were excluded

from the computation of diluted income per common share in 2008 2007 and 2006 were 1145000 629000 and

103000 respectively

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents restricted cash accounts receivable accounts payable accrued

interest dividends and distributions payable and other liabilities are reasonable estimates of fair values because of the

short-term nature of these instruments The fair value of the Companys long-term debt which is based on estimates

by management and on rates quoted on December 31 2008 for comparable loans is less than the aggregate carrying

value by approximately $713.1 million at December 31 2008

Income Taxes

The Company has elected to be taxed as REIT under Sections 856 through 860 of the Internal Revenue Code of

1986 as amended the Code As result the Company generally is not subject to federal income taxation at the

corporate level to the extent it distributes annually at least 100% of its REIT taxable income as defined in the Code
to its shareholders and satisfies certain other organizational and operational requirements The Company has met

these requirements and accordingly no provision has been made for federal income taxes in the accompanying

consolidated financial statements If the Company fails to qualify as REIT in
any

taxable year the Company will

be subject to federal income tax on its taxable income at regular corporate rates including any alternative minimum

tax and may not be able to qualify as REIT for the four subsequent taxable years Even as REIT the Company

may be subject to certain state and local income and property taxes and to federal income and excise taxes on

undistributed taxable income

Several of the Companys subsidiaries are taxable REIT subsidiaries each TRS and are subject to federal

income taxes In general TRS may perform additional services for tenants and generally may engage
in real estate

or non-real estate business that are not permitted REIT activities The Company is also taxed in certain states the

United Kingdom and Luxembourg Accordingly the Company has recognized federal state and foreign income

taxes in accordance with US GAAP as applicable

In July 2006 the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No 48 Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes FIN 48
FIN 48 is an interpretation of SFAS No 109 Accounting for Income Taxes The Company adopted the provisions of

FIN 48 on January 2007 As result of the implementation of FIN 48 no uncertain tax positions were identified

which would result in the recording of liability for unrecognized tax benefits and correspondingly no benefit

recognition was identified that would affect the effective tax rate Additionally there are no possibly significant

unrecognized tax benefits which are reasonably expected to occur within the next 12 months The Companys policy is

to recognize interest accrued related to unrecognized benefits in interest expense and penalties in other expense There

are no interest and penalties deducted in the current period and no interest and penalties accrued at December 31 2008

and December 31 2007
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Certain of the Companys taxable REIT subsidiaries have net operating loss carryforwards available of approximately

$19.3 million These carryforwards begin to expire in 2018 The Company has considered estimated future taxable

income and have determined that valuation allowance for the full carrying value of net operating loss cariyforwards

is appropriate

The Company and its subsidiaries file income tax returns in the U.S federal jurisdiction certain state and local

jurisdictions the United Kingdom and Luxembourg With few exceptions the Company is no longer subject to U.S

federal state and local or United Kingdom and Luxembourg examinations by tax authorities for years before 2005

The Federal tax cost basis of the real estate at December 31 2008 was $5.5 billion and at December 31 2007 was

$5.7 billion

Share Based Compensation

At December 31 2008 the Company had share-based employee compensation plans as fully described in Note 10

Effective January 2006 the Company adopted the provisions of SFAS No 123R Share-Based Payment

SFAS No 123R using the modified prospective application method In accordance with SFAS No 123R
share-based compensation cost is measured at the grant date based on the fair value of the award and is recognized

as expense over the employees requisite service period In January 2003 the Company adopted the fair value

recognition provisions of SFAS No 123 Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation prospectively for all

employee option awards granted modified or settled after January 2003 Prior to 2003 the Company accounted

for its compensation plan under the recognition and measurement provisions of Accounting Principles Board

APB Opinion No 25 Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees and related Interpretations

Under the modified prospective application method results for prior periods have not been restated to reflect the

effects of implementing SFAS No 123R

Foreign Currency Translation

The functional currency of the Companys United Kingdom operations is pounds sterling The Company translates the

fmancial statements for the United Kingdom operations into US dollars Gains and losses resulting from this translation

do not impact the results of operations and are included in accumulated other comprehensive loss income as separate

component of shareholders equity Accumulated other comprehensive loss income consists solely of the foreign

currency
translation adjustments described Other comprehensive loss income was $26.8 million $1.1 million and

$10.4 million for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively Upon sale or upon complete or

substantially complete liquidation of foreign investment the gain or loss on the sale will include the cumulative

translation adjustments that have been previously recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

SFAS No 157

In September 2006 the FASB issued SFAS No 157 Fair Value Measurements SFAS No 157 which defmes fair

value establishes framework for consistently measuring fair value under US GAAP and expands disclosures about fair

value measurements The hierarchy is measured in three levels based on the reliability of inputs

Level 1- Valuations based on quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities in market that the

Company has the ability to access

Level 2- Valuations based on quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities or inputs that are observable either directly or

indirectly through corroboration with observable market data

Level 3- Valuations derived from other valuation methodologies including pricing models discounted cash flow

models and similar techniques Level valuations incorporate certain assumptions and projections that are not directly

observable in the market and significant professional judgment in determining the fair value assigned to such assets or

liabilities

The Company adopted the provisions of SFAS No 157 on January 2008 The adoption of this statement did not

have material effect on the Companys financial position or results of operations
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SFAS No 159

In February 2007 the FASB issued SFAS No 159 The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial

Liabilities SFAS No 159 SFAS No 159 provides companies with an option to report selected financial assets and

liabilities at fair value and establishes presentation and disclosure requirements designed to facilitate comparisons

between companies that choose different measurement attributes for similar types of assets and liabilities The Company

adopted the provisions of SFAS No 159 on January 2008 The adoption of this statement did not have material

effect on the Companys financial position or results of operations

SFAS No 141R
In December 2007 the FASB issued SFAS No 14 1R Applying the Acquisition Method SFAS No 14 1R This

statement changes the accounting for acquisitions specifically eliminating the step acquisition model changing the

recognition of contingent consideration from being recognized when it is probable to being recognized at the time of

acquisition disallowing the capitalization of transaction costs and delays when restructurings related to acquisitions can

be recognized SFAS No 141R is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15 2008 and will impact the

accounting for acquisitions made beginning January 2009 The Company does not anticipate that the adoption of this

statement will have material effect on its financial position or results of operations

SFAS No 160

In December 2007 the FASB issued SFAS No 160 Accounting for Noncontrolling Interests SFAS No 160
Under this statement noncontrolling interests are considered equity and thus the Companys practice of reporting

minority interests in the mezzanine section of the balance sheet will be eliminated Also under SFAS No 160 net

income will encompass the total income of all consolidated subsidiaries and there will be separate disclosure on the face

of the statement of operations of the attribution of that income between controlling and noncontrolling interests Finally

increases and decreases in noncontrolling interests will be treated as equity transactions The standard is effective on

January 2009 The Company does not anticipate that the adoption of this statement will have material effect on its

financial position or results of operations

FSP EITF 03-6-1

In June 2008 the FASB issued FASB Staff Position FSP Emerging Issues Task Force EITF 03-6-1

Determining Whether Instruments Granted in Share-Based Payment Transactions Are Participating Securities The

FSP clarifies that unvested share-based payment awards that contain nonforfeitable rights to dividends or dividend

equivalents are participating securities and shall be included in the computation of earnings per share pursuant to the

two-class method FSP EITF 03-6-1 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15 2008 The Company
does not anticipate that the adoption of this statement will have material effect on its financial position or results of

operations

REAL ESTATE

The Company owns and operates industrial and office properties located principally in suburban mixed-use

developments or business parks The carrying value of these properties by type as of December 31 2008 and 2007 is

as follows in thousands

LAND BUILDINGS

AND LAND AND ACCUMULATED
IMPROvEMENTS IMPROVEMENTS TOTAL DEPRECIATION

2008

Industrial properties $361911 $1831862 $2193773 433904

Office properties 451486 2428259 2879745 548210

2008 Total $813397 $4260121 $5073518 982114

2007

Industrial properties 337675 1717500 2055175 382241

Office properties 455316 2690809 3146125 476430

2007 Total 792991 $4408309 5201300 858671

Depreciation expense was $147.2 million in 2008 $135.4 million in 2007 and $124.9 million in 2006

As of December 31 2008 the Company had commenced development on 17 properties which upon completion are

expected to comprise 3.2 million square feet of leaseable space As of December 31 2008 $245.5 million had been
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expended for the development of these projects and an additional $128.1 million is estimated to be required for

completion

Additionally unconsolidated joint ventures in which the Company had an interest had commenced development on

four properties which upon completion are expected to comprise 1.4 million square feet of leaseable space As of

December 31 2008 $135.3 million had been expended for the development of these projects and an additional $51.1

million is estimated to be required for completion

Information on the operating properties the Company sold during the years ended December 31 2008 and 2007 is as

follows

2008 SALES

NUMBER OF LEASEABLE

SEGMENT BUILDINGS SQUARE FEET GROSS PROCEEDS

in thousands

Northeast

Southeastern PA 166160 33557

New Jersey 159989 15100

Midwest 125876 9420

Mid-Atlantic 129150 16650

Florida 83583 5300

Total 13 664758 80027

2007 SALES

NUMBER OF LEASEABLE

SEGMENT BUILDINGS SQUARE FEET GROSS PROCEEDS

in thousands

Northeast

Southeastern PA 141714 8650

Lehigh/Central PA 289800 13775

Midwest 60 4257477 317600

Mid-Atlantic 399258 21363

Florida 152219 8152

Total 70 5240468 369540

In addition in 2008 the Company recognized the sale of the 1.25 million square foot Comcast Center to an

unconsolidated joint venture At the time of the sale 968000 leaseable square feet were in service and 282000

square feet were under development The gross proceeds from the sale were $512 million See Note below

INVESTMENTS IN UNCONSOLIDATED JOINT VENTURES

Listed below are the unconsolidated joint ventures in which the Company has noncontrolling interest The

Company receives fees from these joint ventures for services it provides These services include property

management leasing development and administration These fees are included in interest and other income in the

accompanying consolidated statements of operations The Company may also receive promoted interest if certain

return thresholds are met

Liberty Venture LP

The Company has 25% interest in Liberty Venture LP an entity engaged in the ownership of industrial properties

in New Jersey

As of December 31 2008 the joint venture owned 24 industrial properties totaling 3.1 million square feet and 43

acres of developable land as well as development property that when completed is expected to contain an

additional 225000 square feet of leaseable space The Company has guaranteed cost overruns in excess of the

approved project budget for the development property The Company considers payments under the guarantee

unlikely
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The Company recognized $1.5 million $802000 and $634000 in fees for services during the years
ended December

31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively

Kin2s Hill Unit Trust

The Company has 20% interest in Kings Hill Unit Trust an entity engaged in the ownership of office and industrial

properties in the County of Kent United Kingdom

As of December 31 2008 the joint venture owned 10 office properties and five industrial properties totaling 536000

square feet

The Company holds $4.1 million note receivable from Kings Hill Unit Trust The note receivable bears interest at

9% rate and is due in December 2010

Income from fees and interest was $764000 $1.6 million and $1.3 million during the years ended December 31

2008 2007 and 2006 respectively

Libertv/Commerz 1701 JFK Boulevard LP

On April 13 2006 the Company entered into joint venture pursuant to which it sold an 80% interest in the equity of

Comcast Center 1.25 million square foot office tower the Company was then developing in Philadelphia

Pennsylvania The transaction valued the property at $512 million Upon signing the joint venture agreement and

through March 30 2008 the criteria for sale recognition in accordance with SFAS No 66 Accounting for the Sales

of Real Estate SFAS No 66 had not been met and the transaction was accounted for as financing arrangement

On March 31 2008 $324 million ten-year secured financing at 6.15% interest rate for Comcast Center was

funded The proceeds from this financing were used to pay down outstanding borrowings on the Companys credit

facility

On March 31 2008 all conditions for sale treatment as outlined in SFAS No 66 were satisfied and the Company

recognized the sale of Comcast Center to an unconsolidated joint venture Profit on the transaction was deferred until

the costs of the project could be reasonably estimated Profit on the sale of $6.6 million was recognized in the fourth

quarter of 2008

As of December 31 2008 the Company had $15.1 million receivable from this joint venture This related party

receivable is due to the funding ofjoint venture development costs and is reflected in investments in and advances to

unconsolidated joint ventures on the Companys consolidated balance sheets

The Company recognized $883000 in fees for services during the year ended December 31 2008

Liberty Illinois LP

On April 25 2006 the Company entered into joint venture Liberty Illinois LP with the New York State

Common Retirement Fund selling 75% equity interest in six industrial properties totaling 2.1 million
square

feet

and 104 acres of developable land The joint venture valued the buildings and land at $125.0 million

As of December 31 2008 the joint venture owned 14 industrial properties totaling 4.6 million square feet and 364

acres of developable land as well as development property that when completed is expected to contain an

additional 464000 square feet of leaseable space The Company has guaranteed cost overruns in excess of the

approved project budget for the development property The Company considers payments under the guarantee

unlikely

The Company recognized $1.2 million $791000 and $777000 in fees for services during the years ended December

31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively

Blythe Valley JV Sari

On September 10 2007 the Company entered into joint venture to acquire Blythe Valley Park West Midlands UK
for $325 million The park consists of 491000 square feet of office properties and 98 acres of developable land The

Company holds $5.2 million note receivable from Blythe Valley JV Sarl and has 20% interest in the joint venture

The note receivable bears interest at 10% rate and is due in December 2017

The Company recognized $909000 and $446000 in fees for services during the years ended December 31 2008 and

2007 respectively
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Liberty Washin2ton LP

On October 2007 the Company acquired Republic Property Trust Republic Acquisition Maryland real estate

investment trust and Republic Property Limited Partnership Delaware limited partnership and Republics operating

partnership together Republic for $916 million The acquisition of Republic was completed through the merger

of Republic with wholly owned subsidiary of the Company and the merger of Republics operating partnership with

the Companys Operating Partnership Republic operated portfolio consisting of 2.4 million square feet of office

space six acres of developable land and redevelopment property that when completed is expected to contain an

additional 176000 square feet of office space in the Northern Virginia and Washington D.C markets The Company

has guaranteed cost overruns in excess of the approved project budget for the development property The Company

considers payments under the guarantee unlikely

Concurrently the Company formed joint venture with New York State Common Retirement Fund to own and

manage the Republic portfolio Republic Disposition The joint venture in which the Company holds 25%

interest purchased the Republic real estate assets for $900 million The acquisition of Republic resulted in the

Company recording $16 million in goodwill and other intangibles

The Company had $59.5 million note receivable from Liberty Washington LP that was repaid in 2008

The Company recognized $5.6 million and $2.1 million in interest and fees for services during the year ended

December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively

Other Joint Ventures

As of December 31 2008 the Company has 50% ownership interest in three additional unconsolidated joint

ventures One of these joint ventures has three operating properties and investments in property under development

and land held for development For the development project the Company has guaranteed cost overruns in excess of

the approved project budget The Company considers payments under the guarantee unlikely One of these joint

ventures has one operating property an investment in land held for development and leasehold interest The other

joint venture has leasehold interest and does not operate or own operating properties

The Companys share of each of the joint ventures earnings is included in equity in earnings loss of unconsolidated

joint ventures in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations

The condensed balance sheets as of December 31 2008 and 2007 and statements of operations for Liberty Venture

LP Kings Hill Unit Trust Liberty Illinois LP Blythe Valley JV SarI Liberty Washington LP Liberty Commerz

1701 JFK Boulevard LP and other unconsolidated joint ventures for the years
ended December 31 2008 2007 and

2006 are as follows in thousands
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Balance Sheets

December 31 2008

Blythe

Kings Hill liberty
Valley JV

Unit Trust Illinois LP
SarI

liberty Consmerz

Liberty
1701 JFK

Washington l.P

Boulevard LP Other Total

Liberty

ommerz 1701

JFK Boulevard

l.P Other fital

Differences belwcen the Companys net inveslmenl in unconsolidated joint ventures and its underlying equily in Ihe nd assets of the veritttre

is primarily result of the deferral of gains associated with the sales of
properties to joint venlures in which the Company retains an

ownership inlerest and loans made to the Joint ventures by the Company Deferred gains are amortized to equily in earnings loss of joinl

ventures over the average estimated useful lives of the assels sold

Liberty

Venture

LP

119523

16285

103238

9948

2733

13585

129504

82813

2168

44523

129504

170521 227318 189256 804587 492189 57933 2061327

8971 12436 5301 28515 14013 790 86311

161551 214882 183955 776072 478176 57143 1975016

16252 01653 7524 135377

42338 42668 7859 14435 110033

1048 9506 10353 58485 65495 31654 199559

172031 282978 236976 944069 54367 110756 2419985

138.634 145504 180004 350121 324000 38830 1259916

38112 7481 37899 40919 32362 19764 178705

4715 129993 19073 553029 187309 52162 981374

172031 282.978 236976 944069 543671 1111756 2419985

10355 3415 26583 9129 13802 50.899 28119 266602

December 2007

Real estate assets

Accumulated depreciation

Real estate assets net

Development in progress

land held for development

Other assets

Total assets

Debt

Other liabilities

Equity

Total liabilities and equity

oinpanys net iivestmeni in

unconsolidated Joint ventures

Real estate assets

Accumulated depreciation

Real estate assets net

Development in progress

and held fir developnsent

Other assets

lotal assets

Debt

Other liabilities

Equity

lotal liabilities and equity

Companys net iivesiment in

unconsolidated
joint ventures

Blytlie

liberty Kings Hill
Liberty

Valley JV

Venture LP Unit Trust Illinois LP
SarI

11803

13115

104915

2733

24185

131833

81216

2830

47787

131833

231399

8385

223114

17551

240565

188765

50656

t144

240565

liberty

Washington

LP

802146

5746

79640

76483

7859

54684

935426

339120

43491

552 .8 IS

935426

225405

6533

218872

1018

11871

271751

145400

3677

122674

271751

267488

2004

265484

48712

18716

332912

251654

40399

40859

332912

14586

60

14526

40694

28201

15513

98934

43249

3834

51851

98934

26.90511352 6012 24729

1.659154

35843

623211

117177

128513

142520

2011421

1.049414

144887

17131

2011.421

27838311773 197622
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Statements of Operations
Year Ended December 31 2008

Liberty

Liberty Blythe Liberty Commerz 1701

Venture Kings Hill Liberty Valley JV Washington JFK Boulevard

LI Unit Trust Illinois LP SarI LP LI Other Total

Total revenue 19075 18057 22811 15386 76552 43607 3056 198544

Operating expense
7074 2490 7003 2377 24440 15080 709 59173

12001 15567 15808 13009 52112 28527 2347 139371

Interest 4522 9900 7833 14253 17670 15454 2057 71689

Depreciation and amortization 4162 5272 7378 5911 34951 10941 862 69477

Other income/expense 2473 924 195 467 722 191 96 2094

Gain on sale
102 99

Netincomeloss 5787 529 792 7622 213 2323 566 398

Companys equity in earnings loss of

unconsolidatedjointventures 1645 167 549 1370 1288 685 159 2805

Year Ended December 31 2007

Liberty

Liberty Blythe Liberty Commerz 1701

Venture Kings Hill Liberty Valley JV Washington JFK Boulevard

LI Unit Trust Illinois LI SarI LP LP Other Total

Total revenue 18457 19696 17360 5920 18203 397 80033

Operating expense
5807 2374 4433 5265 4273 131 22283

12650 17322 12927 655 13930 266 57750

Interest 4240 14583 6297 6009 4299 253 35681

Depreciation and amortization 4228 7058 6316 2201 8969 70 28842

Other income/expense 76 645 266 220 1337 359 2185

Gainonsale 524 867 1391

Net income loss 4630 4964 48 7775 675 1169 7567

Companys equity in earnings loss of

unconsolidated joint ventures 1320 732 399 1514 232 533 226
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Year Ended December31 2006

Liberty

Liberty Blythe Liberty Commerz 1701

Venture Kings Hill Liberty Valley JV Washington JFK Boulevard

LP Unit Trust Illinois LP SarI LP LP Other Total

Total revenue 18395 18183 7471 44049

Operating expense 5364 2181 1833 171 9549

13031 16002 5638 171 34500

Interest 4501 13455 2527 20483
Depreciation and amortization 4544 6267 2502 13313
Other income/expense 127 604 392 334
Gain on sale 2644 138 2782

Net income loss 6503 4324 614 359 3152

Companys equity in earnings loss of

unconsolidatedjointventures 1651 657 259 179 1432

DEFERRED FINANCING AND LEASING COSTS

Deferred financing and leasing costs at December 31 2008 and 2007 are as follows in thousands

DECEMBER 31
2008 2007

Deferred leasing Costs 188056 173669
Deferred financing costs 8754 12077

In-place lease value and related intangible asset 77564 77760

274374 263506

Accumulated amortization 140345 119211

Total 134029 144295

INDEBTEDNESS

Indebtedness consists of mortgage loans unsecured notes and borrowings under the credit facility The weighted

average interest rates for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 were 6.1% 6.5% and 6.6%

respectively Interest costs during the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 in the amount of $20.0 million

$45.7 million and $30.8 million respectively were capitalized Cash paid for interest for the years ended December

31 2008 2007 and 2006 was $177.0 million $172.9 million and $150.2 million respectively

During the fourth quarter of the year ended December 31 2008 the Company purchased $23.4 million of its 8.5%

senior unsecured notes These notes were purchased at $2.5 million discount The discount is included in net

income as loan extinguishment gain

During the year ended December 31 2007 the Company satisfied $100 million 7.25% senior unsecured note and

issued $300 million 6.625% senior unsecured note due October 2017 The Company used the net proceeds to

pay down outstanding borrowings under the Companys unsecured credit facility and for general corporate purposes
Amounts repaid under the credit facility were subsequently drawn to pay portion of the cash

merger consideration

for the purchase of Republic Property Trust
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During the year
ended December 31 2006 the Company satisfied $100 million 6.95% medium term note and

issued $300 million 5.50% senior unsecured note due December 15 2016 The Company used the net proceeds to

pay down outstanding borrowings under the Companys unsecured credit facility and for general corporate purposes

The Company is subject to financial covenants contained in some of the debt agreements the most restrictive of

which are detailed below under the heading Credit Facility As of December 31 2008 the Company was in

compliance with all financial covenants

Mortgage Loans Unsecured Notes

Mortgage loans with maturities ranging from 2009 to 2017 are collateralized by and in some instances cross-

collateralized by properties with net book value of $309.4 million

The interest rates on $2327.5 million of mortgage loans and unsecured notes are fixed and range from 5.0% to 8.8%

The weighted average remaining term for the mortgage
loans and unsecured notes is 4.9 years

Credit Facility

$600 Million Unsecured Revolving Credit Facility

The Company has four-year $600 million unsecured revolving credit facility the $600 million Credit Facility

Based on the Companys present ratings borrowings under the $600 million Credit Facility are priced at LIBOR plus

65 basis points The $600 million Credit Facility contains competitive bid option whereby participating lenders bid

on the interest rate to be charged This feature is available for up to 50% of the amount of the facility The interest rate

on the $260.0 million of borrowings outstanding as of December 31 2008 was 1.56% The current ratings for the

Companys senior unsecured debt are Baa2 BBB and BBB from Moodys SP and Fitch respectively The $600

million Credit Facility has an accordion feature for an additional $200 million There is also 15 basis point annual

facility fee on the current borrowing capacity The $600 million Credit Facility expires on January 16 2010 and may

be extended for one-year period The fee to extend the $600 million Credit Facility for one year
is $900000 The

$600 million Credit Facility contains financial covenants certain of which are set forth below

total debt to total assets may not exceed 0.601

earnings before interest taxes depreciation and amortization to fixed charges may not be less than

1.501

unsecured debt to unencumbered asset value must equal or be less than 60% and

unencumbered net operating income to unsecured interest expense must equal or exceed 200%

The scheduled principal amortization and maturities of the Companys mortgage loans unsecured notes outstanding

and the $600 million Credit Facility and the related weighted average interest rates are as follows in thousands

except percentages

MORTGAGES WEIGHTED

__________________________
AvERAGE

PRINCIPAL PRINCIPAL UNSECURED CREDIT INTEREST

AMORTIZATION MATURITIES NOTES FACILITY TOTAL RATE

2009 6586 41833 270000 318419 7.76%

2010 5823 4736 176607 260000 447166 4.40%

2011 5159 13409 250000 268568 7.23%

2012 4336 32875 235000 272211 6.47%

2013 3857 4510 8367 5.79%

2014 3888 2684 200000 206572 5.66%

2015 3336 44469 300000 347805 5.25%

2016 2409 16880 300000 319289 5.55%

2017 1770 300000 301770 6.62%

2018 thereafter 100000 100000 7.50%

37164 $161396 $2131607 260000 $2590167 6.06%
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LEASING ACTIVITY

Future minimum rental payments due from tenants under noncancelable operating leases as of December 31 2008
are as follows in thousands

2008 491933

2009 441833

2010 375467
2011 312982

2012 248657

Thereafter 680230

TOTAL $2551102

In addition to minimum rental payments most leases require the tenants to pay for their pro rata share of specified

operating expenses These payments are included as operating expense reimbursement in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations

SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY

Common Shares

The Company paid to holders of its Common Shares and holders of its common units distributions of $241.8 million
$237.1 million and $229.0 million during the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively On aper
share basis the Company paid Common Share and Unit distributions of $2.50 $2.485 and $2.465 during the years
ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively

The following table summarizes the taxability of common share distributions taxability for 2008 is estimated

2008 2007 2006

Ordinary dividend $2.0186 $16771 $1.6421

Qualified dividend 0.3422 0.0904

Capital Gain 15% 0.0664 0.3543 0.6898

IRC Sec 1250 Recapture Gain25% 0.0728 0.3632 0.1331

Return of Capital

Total $2.5000 S2.4850 52.4650

The Companys tax return for the year ended December 31 2008 has not been filed The taxability information

presented for the 2008 distributions is based upon the best available data The Companys prior federal income tax

returns are subject to examination by taxing authorities Because the application of tax laws and regulations is

susceptible to varying interpretations the taxability of distributions could be changed at later date upon final

determination by taxing authorities

Common Shares Held in Treasury
The Companys Board of Trustees authorized share repurchase plan under which the Company may purchase up to

$100 million of the Companys Common Shares and preferred shares as defined below

During the year ended December 31 2007 the Company purchased 1190809 Common Shares for $50.6 million as

part of the share repurchase plan The Company purchased no Common Shares under the share repurchase plan

during 2008

Minority Interest

Minority interest in the accompanying consolidated financial statements represents the interests of the common and

preferred units in Liberty Property Limited Partnership not held by the Trust Minority interest is adjusted at each

period end to reflect the ownership percentage of the common and preferred unitholders at that time minority
interest reclassification occurs between minority interest and shareholders equity each period there is transaction

involving ownership interests in Liberty Property Limited Partnership In addition minority interest includes third-

party ownership interests in consolidated joint venture investments During 2006 684432 common units were issued

in connection with an acquisition No common units were issued in connection with acquisitions during 2008 or
2007 The common units outstanding as of December 31 2008 have the same economic characteristics as Common
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Shares of the Trust The 4074967 common units share proportionately in the net income or loss and in any

distributions of the Operating Partnership and are exchangeable into the same number of Common Shares of the

Trust The market value of the 4074967 common units based on the closing price of the shares of the Company at

December 31 2008 was $93.0 million

As of December 31 2008 the Company has 6273000 authorized but unissued preferred shares

The Company has outstanding the following Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Units of the Operating Partnership

the Preferred Units

DATE OF LIQUIDATION DIVIDEND REDEEMABLE

ISSUE ISSUE AMOUNT UNITS PREFERENCE RATE AS OF EXCHANGEABLE AFTER

in 000s

7/28/99 Series 95000 3800 $25 7.45% 8/31/09 1/1/14 into Series Cumulative Redeemable

Preferred Shares of the Trust

6/16/05 Series $20000 400 $50 7.00% 6/16/10 6/16/15 into Series Cumulative Redeemable

Preferred Shares of the Trust

6/30/05 Series 44000 880 $50 6.65% 6/30/10 6/30/15 into Series Cumulative Redeemable

Preferred Shares of the Trust

8/23/05 Series 6000 120 $50 6.65% 6/30/10 6/30/15 into Series Cumulative Redeemable

Preferred Shares of the Trust

12/15/06 Series $27000 540 $50 6.70% 12/12/11 12/12/16 into Series Cumulative

Redeemable Preferred Shares of the Trust

8/21/07 Series $100000 4000 $25 7.40% 8/21/12 8/21/17 into Series Cumulative Redeemable

Preferred Shares of the Trust

During the year ended December 31 2007 the Company raised $100 million through the placement of 7.40% Series

Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Units

During the year ended December 31 2007 the Company redeemed for $23.7 million its outstanding 7.625% Series

Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Units The redemption resulted in $0.7 million write off of Series issuance

costs which was recorded in minority interest expense in the accompanying consolidated financial statements

The Company paid the following Preferred Unit distributions for the year ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

Distributions in millions 21.0 17.1 13.7

Distribution per unit

Series 1.86 1.86 1.86

Series 1.74 1.74 3.81

Series 3.50 3.50 3.50

Series 3.33 3.33 3.33

Series 3.35 3.35 0.16

Series 1.85 0.67

Shareholder Rights Plan

In December 1997 the Board of Trustees of the Company adopted shareholder rights plan the Shareholder Rights

Plan Under the Shareholder Rights Plan one Right as defined in the Shareholder Rights Plan was attached to

each outstanding common share at the close of business on December 31 1997 In addition Right was attached to

each share of common stock issued after that date Each Right entitled the registered holder to purchase from the

Company under certain conditions unit Rights Plan Unit consisting of one one-thousandth of share of

Series Junior Participating Preferred Share $0.0001 par value the Junior Preferred Stock of the Company for

$100 per Rights Plan Unit subject to adjustment The Rights became exercisable only if person or group of

affiliated or associated persons an Acquiring Person acquired or obtained the right to acquire beneficial

ownership of Common Shares or other voting securities Voting Stock that had 10% or more of the voting power

of the outstanding shares of Voting Stock or if an Acquiring Person commenced to make tender offer or exchange

offer to acquire beneficial ownership of Voting Stock that had 10% or more of the voting power of the outstanding

shares of Voting Stock The Rights were redeemable by the Company at price of $0.0001 per Right All Rights

expired on December 31 2007
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While the Company did not extend or renew the plan it is not prohibited from
adopting without shareholder

approval shareholder rights plan that may discourage any potential acquirer from acquiring more than specified
percentage of our outstanding Common Shares since upon this type of acquisition without approval of our board of
trustees all other common shareholders would have the right to purchase specified amount of Common Shares at

substantial discount from market price

Dividend Reinvestment and Share Purchase Plan

The Company has Dividend Reinvestment and Share Purchase Plan under which holders of Common Shares may
elect to automatically reinvest their distributions in additional Common Shares and may make optional cash

payments for additional Common Shares The Company may issue additional Common Shares or repurchase
Common Shares in the open market for purposes of financing its obligations under the Dividend Reinvestment and
Share Purchase Plan During the

years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 1328376 1366066 and
1297867 Common Shares respectively were issued through the Dividend Reinvestment and Share Purchase Plan
The Company used the proceeds to pay down outstanding borrowings under the Companys unsecured credit facility
and for general corporate purposes

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

The Company maintains 40 1k plan for the benefit of its full-time employees The Company matches the

employees contributions up to 3% of the employees salary and may also make annual discretionary contributions
Total 401k expense recognized by the Company was $1.4 million $912000 and $940000 for the

years ended
2008 2007 and 2006 respectively

10 SHARE BASED COMPENSATION

2008 Plan

In March 2008 the Compensation Committee of the Board of Trustees the Board adopted 2008 Long-Term
Incentive Plan the 2008 Plan which is applicable to the Companys executive officers Pursuant to the 2008 Plan
grants of stock options and restricted stock units were made

Options

The Company has authorized the grant of options under the share-based employee compensation plan the Plan
and the 2008 Plan to executive officers other key employees non-employee trustees and consultants of up to 12.8
million Common Shares of the Company All options granted have 10-year terms and most options vest and are

expensed over three-year period with options to purchase up to 20% of the shares exercisable after the first

anniversary up to 50% after the second anniversary and 100% after the third anniversary of the date of grant

Share based compensation cost related to options for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 was $1.0
million $904000 and $790000 respectively

The fair value of share option awards is estimated on the date of the grant using the Black-Scholes option valuation
model The following weighted-average assumptions were utilized in calculating the fair value of options granted
during the periods indicated

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER31
2008 2007 2006

Risk-free interest rate 2.7% 4.6% 4.8%
Dividend

yield 7.0% 5.1% 5.8%
Volatility factor 0.221 0.183 0.188

Weighted-average expected life
years years years
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summary of the Companys share option activity and related information for the year ended December 31 2008

follows

WEIGHTED

AVERAGE

OPTIONS EXERCISE

000s PRICE

Outstanding at Janualy 12008 2416 33.67

Granted 794 32.04

Exercised 261 24.76

Forfeited 57 30.45

Outstanding at December31 2008 2892 34.09

Exercisable at December 31 2008 1875 33.21

The weighted average fair value of options granted during the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 was

$2.64 $5.60 and $5.06 respectively Exercise prices for options outstanding as of December 31 2008 ranged from

$21.88 to $49.74 The weighted average remaining contractual life of the options outstanding and exercisable at

December 31 2008 was 5.6 years and 3.8 years respectively

During the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 the total intrinsic value of share options exercised the

difference between the market price at exercise and the price paid by the individual to exercise the option was $2.6

million $7.7 million and $23.5 million respectively As of December 31 2008 certain of the options outstanding

and exercisable had an exercise price higher than the closing price of the Companys Common Shares and are

considered to have no intrinsic value As of December 31 2008 208000 options outstanding and exercisable had an

exercise price lower than the closing price of the Companys Common Shares The aggregate intrinsic value of these

options was $43000 The total cash received from the exercise of options for the years
ended December 31 2008

2007 and 2006 was $6.5 million $8.7 million and $29.4 million respectively The Company has historically issued

new shares to satisf share option exercises

As of December 31 2008 there was $2.2 million of unrecognized compensation costs related to nonvested options

granted under the Plan That cost is expected to be recognized over weighted average period of 2.0 years

Long Term Incentive Shares LTI
Restricted LTI share grants made under the Plan are valued at the grant date fair value which is the market price of

the underlying Common Shares and vest ratably over five-year period beginning with the first anniversary of the

grant

Restricted stock unit grants
made pursuant to the 2008 Plan consist of an obligation to pay the executive officers

Common Shares at the end of the third year
after the date of grant The number of restricted stock units issued will

be determined by using specific performance measures

Share-based compensation cost related to restricted LTI share grants for the years ended December 31 2008 2007

and 2006 were $4.4 million $3.8 million and $3.0 million respectively

The following table shows summary of the Companys restricted LTI share activity for the year ended December

31 2008

WEIGHTED AVG

SHARES GRANT DATE

000s FAIR VALUE

Nonvested at January 2008 288 44.72

Granted 163 31.04

Vested 83 42.30

Forfeited 10 40.72

Nonvested at December31 2008 358 39.13

The weighted average fair value of restricted shares granted during the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and

2006 was $31.04 per share $49.53 per share and $48.08 per share As of December 31 2008 there was $14.0
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million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested shares granted under the Plan That cost is

expected to be recognized over weighted average period of 1.9 years The total fair value of restricted shares

vested during the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 was $3.5 million $2.4 million and $1.9 million

respectively

Bonus Shares

The Plan provides that employees of the Company may elect to receive bonuses or commissions in the form of

Common Shares in lieu of cash Bonus Shares By making such election the employee receives shares equal to

120% of the cash value of the bonus or commission less applicable withholding tax Bonus Shares issued for the

years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 were 83015 64755 and 39207 respectively Share-based

compensation cost related to Bonus Shares for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 was $2.6 million

$2.9 million and $1.9 million respectively

Profit Sharing Plan

The Plan provides that employees of the Company below the officer level may receive up to 5% of base pay in the

form of Common Shares depending on Company performance Shares issued in conjunction with the profit sharing

plan for the
years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 were 15517 3457 and 3072 shares respectively

An additional 1751912 2738176 and 3063169 Common Shares were reserved for issuance for future grants under

the Share Incentive Plan at December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively

Employee Share Purchase Plan

The Company registered 750000 Common Shares under the Securities Act of 1933 as amended in connection with

an employee share purchase plan ESPP The ESPP enables eligible employees to purchase shares of the

Company in amounts up to 10% of the employees salary at 15% discount to fair market value There were

17618 13414 and 10491 shares issued in accordance with the ESPP during the
years ended December 31 2008

2007 and 2006 respectively

11 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Substantially all of the Properties and land were subject to Phase Environmental Assessments and when appropriate
Phase II Environmental Assessments collectively the Environmental Assessments obtained in contemplation of

their acquisition by the Company The Environmental Assessments consisted of among other activities visual

inspection of each Property and its neighborhood and check of pertinent public records The Environmental

Assessments did not reveal nor is the Company aware of any non-compliance with environmental laws
environmental liability or other environmental claim that the Company believes would likely have material adverse

effect on the Company

The Company is obligated to make additional capital contributions to unconsolidated joint ventures of $3.8 million

The Company has not guaranteed any of the debt of the unconsolidated joint ventures

The Company has letter of credit obligations of $2.0 million related to development requirements It is remote that

there will be draw upon these letter of credit obligations

The Company maintains cash and cash equivalents at financial institutions The combined account balances at each

institution typically exceed FDIC insurance coverage and as result there is concentration of credit risk related to

amounts on deposit in excess of FDIC insurance
coverage The Company believes the risk is not significant

Litigation

The Company has been substituted for Republic as party to certain litigation as result of the Companys
acquisition of Republic on October 2007 The litigation arises out of disputes between Republic and certain

parties two of whom were members of Republics Board of Trustees and founders of Republic The disputes
include claims arising from the termination of an officer of Republic damages sought $1.8 million and an attempt

by Republic to acquire certain office property from an entity controlled by the aforementioned related parties

pursuant to an option agreement entered into at the time of Republics formation damages sought $85.0 million

compensatory and $85.0 million punitive The Company believes that these claims are without merit and intends to

defend itself vigorously against this litigation

66



In accordance with SFAS No Accounting for Contingencies the Company will record provision for liability

when it is both probable that liability has been incurred and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated

Although the outcome of any litigation is uncertain the Company believes that such legal actions will not have

material adverse affect on our consolidated financial condition results of operations or cash flows

12 QUARTERLY RESULTS OF OPERATIONS UNAUDITED

summary of quarterly results of operations for the years ended December 31 2008 and 2007 follows Certain

amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current presentation of discontinued operations in thousands

except per share amounts

QUARTER ENDED

DEC.31 SEPT.30 JUNE30 MAR.31 DEC.31 SEPT.30 JUNE30 MAR.31

2008 2008 2008 2008 2007 2007 2007 2007

Operating revenue $189202 $186616 $182756 $189946 $185136 $173818 $165757 $162120

Income from continuing operations 41861 28111 28335 28656 24758 31337 33402 34277

Discontinued operations 9937 10443 3294 1305 10774 5837 19025 5421

Income available to common

Shareholders 51798 38554 31629 29961 35532 37174 52427 39698

Incomepercommonsharebasic1 0.53 0.41 0.34 0.33 0.39 0.41 0.57 0.44

Incomepercommonsharediluted1 0.53 0.41 0.34 0.33 0.39 0.41 0.57 0.43

The sum of quarterly fmancial data may vary from the annual data due to rounding

13 SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Company operates its portfolio of properties primarily throughout the Mid-Atlantic Southeastern Midwestern

and Southwestern United States Additionally the Company owns certain assets in the United Kingdom The

Company reviews the performance of the portfolio on geographical basis As such the following regions are

considered the Companys reportable segments

REPORTABLE SEGMENTS MARKETS

Northeast Southeastern PA Lehigh/Central PA New Jersey

Midwest Minnesota Milwaukee Chicago

Mid-Atlantic Maryland Carolinas Richmond Virginia Beach

South Jacksonville Orlando Boca Raton Tampa Texas Arizona

Philadelphia Philadelphia Northern Virginia/Washington D.C

United Kingdom County of Kent West Midlands

The Companys reportable segments are distinct business units which are each managed separately in order to

concentrate market knowledge within geographic area Within these reportable segments the Company derives its

revenues from its two product types industrial properties and office properties

During the year ended December 31 2008 the Company began to report the results of the Arizona market as part of

the South reportable segment rather than listing Arizona as its own reportable segment as it had been presented in

2007 Also the Company began to report the results of the LehighlCentral PA market as part of the Northeast

reportable segment rather than as part of the Midwest segment The Company also began to report the results of

certain operating properties containing 834000 square
feet in the Philadelphia reportable segment rather than as

part of the New Jersey market in the Northeast reportable segment as they had been presented in 2007 As

required by SFAS No 131 SFAS No 131 Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related

Information consolidated financial statements issued by the Company in the future will reflect modifications to the
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Companys reportable segments resulting from the change described above including reclassification of all

comparative prior period segment information

The Company evaluates performance of the reportable segments based on property level operating income which is

calculated as rental revenue and operating expense reimbursement less rental property expenses and real estate taxes
The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as those for the Company on consolidated basis

The operating information by segment is as follows in thousands

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 2008

NORTHEAST

LEHIGH
SOUTHEASTERN CENTRAL NEW

PHILA- UNITED
PA PA JERSEY MIDWEST MID-ATLANTIC SOUTH DELPHIA KINGDOM TOTAL

Operating revenue 178507 99418 38004 82964 142543 173319 29426 4339 748520Rental property

expenses and real estate

taxes 57729 26978 14848 31074 41652 57990 7791 1044 239106

Property level
operating

income 120778 72440 23156 51890 100891 115329 21635 3295 509414

Interest and other income

13508Debt
extinguishment gain

2521Interest
expense

155675General and administrative

54378Depreciation and amortization

173097

Income before property dispositions income xes minority interest

142 293
and equity in eammgs of unconsolidated Joint ventures

Gain on property dispositions

10572Income taxes

1645Minority interest

27062Equity in
earnings of unconsolidated joint ventures

2805Discontinued operations net of minority interest

24979

Net income

151942
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YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 2007

NoRTHEAST

SOUTHEASTERN LEHIGH NEW MID- PHILA- UNITED

PA CENTRAL PA JERSEY MIDWEST ATLANTIC SOUTH DELPHIA KINGDOM TOTAL

Operating revenue 172142 91631 36162 80926 128599 150693 23963 2715 686831

Rental property

expenses and real estate

taxes 56950 23616 9228 28061 38524 50419 9378 33 216209

Property level operating

income 115192 68015 26934 52865 90075 100274 14585 2682 470622

Interest and other income 11727

Interest expense 127058
General and administrative 54249
Depreciation and amortization 155616

Income beor9 property dispositions income taxes minonty interest
145 426

and equlty rn loss of unconsohdated joint ventures

Gain on property dispositions 1463

Income taxes 709

Minority interest 23598
Equity in loss of unconsolidated joint ventures 226
Discontinued operations net of minority interest 41057

Net income 164831

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 2006

NORThEAsT

SOUTHEASTERN LEHIGH NEW PHILA- UNITED

PA CENTRAL PA JERSEY MIDWEsT M1L-ATLMtTIC SOUTH DELPHIA KINGDOM TOTAL

Operatingrevenue 168227 83849 34584 75966 114593 113347 15829 1167 607562

Rental property expenses

and real estate taxes 54181 20434 8128 26752 33925 36822 6913 261 187416

Property level operating

income 114046 63415 26456 49214 80668 76525 8916 906 420146

Interest and other income 8693

Interest expense 109482

General and administrative 46332

Depreciation and amortization 132106

Income before propefty disJositions incomç taxes minonty interest 140 919
and equity in eamings of unconsolIdated joint ventures

Gain on property dispositions 17628

Income taxes 288

Minority interest 19801

Equity in eamings of unconsolidated joint ventures 1432

Discontinued operations net of minority interest 126684

Net income 266574
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PRODUCT TYPE INFoItATION
REAL ESTATE RELATED REVENUES

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31

2008 2007 2006

Industrial

$300763 $274865 $253222Office

447757 411966 354340

Total operating revenue
$748520 $686831 $607562

ROLLFORWARi OF OPERATING REAL ESTATE ASSETS BY REPORTABLE SEGMENT

NORTHEAST

LEHIGH
SOUTHEASTERN CENTRAL

PHILA- UNITEDPA PA NEW JERSEY MIDWEST MID-ATLANTIC SOUTH DELPHIA KINGDOM TOTAL

January

2008 1103372 676963 199662 543445 965546 $1190232 470548 51532 5201300Additions 40599 76621 22763 7319 50811 109111 7729 13119 301834Dispositions 23232 10921 8928 15338 3300 367897 429616

December

312008 1120739 753584 211504 541836 1001019 $1296043 110380 38413 5073518

Accumulated depreciation

982114Development in
progress

245463Land held for development

209551Assets held for sale

33662Other assets

636955

Total assets at December 31 2008

5217035

ROLLFORWARD OF OPERATING REAL ESTATE ASSETS BY REPORTABLE SEGMENT

NORTHEAST

LEHIGH
SOUTHEASTERN CENTRAL

PHILA- UNITEDPA PA NEW JERSEY MIDWEST MID-ATLM4TIC SOUTH DELPHIA KINGDOM TOTAL

January

2007 1048142 582475 112397 699585 861863 953808 103008 11435 $4372713Additions 67645 103750 87265 64050 114274 245317 367540 40097 1089938Dispositions 12415 9262 220190 10591 8893
261351

December

31 2007 1103372 676963 199662 543445 965546 $1190232 470548 51532 5201300

Accumulated
depreciation

858671Development in
progress

316985Land held for development

247124Assets held for sale

36908Other assets

700291

Total assets at December 31 2007

5643937

United Kingdom additions are impacted by foreign currency translation gain or loss
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14 SFAS NO 144 ACCOUNTING FOR THE IMPAIRMENT OR DISPOSAL OF LONG-LIVED

ASSETS

Discontinued Operations

In accordance with SFAS No 144 the operating results and gain/loss on disposition of real estate for properties

sold and held for sale are reflected in the consolidated statements of operations as discontinued operations Prior year

financial statements have been adjusted for discontinued operations The proceeds from dispositions of operating

properties with no continuing involvement were $80.0 million and $369.5 million for the years
ended December 31

2008 and 2007 respectively

Below is summary of the results of operations of the properties disposed of through the respective disposition dates

in thousands
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31

2008 2007 2006

Revenues 13295 43330 85536

Operating expenses 5377 17375 31202

Interest expense
2203 6957 14764

Depreciation and amortization 3153 9671 19838

Income before property dispositions and minority interest 2562 9327 19732

Six properties totaling 296000 square
feet located in the Companys Mid-Atlantic segment are considered to be held

for sale as of December 31 2008

Interest expense is allocated to discontinued operations as permitted
under EITF Issue 87-24 Allocation of Interest

to Discontinued Operations and such interest expense
has been included in computing income from discontinued

operations The allocation of interest expense to discontinued operations was based on the ratio of net assets sold

without continuing involvement to the sum of total net assets plus consolidated debt

Asset Impairment

In accordance with SFAS No 144 during the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 the Company

recognized impairment losses of $3.1 million $0.2 million and $4.2 million respectively The 2008 impairment loss

of $3.1 million was recognized in the fourth quarter and was related to 49000 square foot operating property in the

Midwest segment 110000 square foot operating property in Southeastern PA and 296000 square
foot portfolio

of operating properties in the Mid-Atlantic segment The 2007 impairment loss of $0.2 million was related to

various land parcels The 2006 impairment loss of $4.2 million was primarily
related to 352000 square foot

portfolio of operating properties in the Midwest segment For the years
ended December 31 2008 and 2006

respectively $3.1 million and $4.2 million in impairment
related to properties sold or held for sale were included in

the caption discontinued operations in the Companys statement of operations For the year ended December 31

2007 $0.2 million in impairment was included in the caption gain on property dispositions as component of income

from continuing operations The Company determined these impairments through comparison of the aggregate

future cash flows including quoted offer prices to be generated by the properties to the carrying value of the

properties
The Company has evaluated each of the properties and land held for development and has determined

that there are no additional valuation adjustments necessary at December 31 2008

15 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

In December 2008 the Company commenced the sale of Common Shares pursuant to continuous offering program

From January 2009 through February 23 2009 the Company sold 2.3 million common shares through this

program The net proceeds from the offering of $47.4 million were used to pay down outstanding borrowings under

the $600 million Credit Facility and for general corporate purposes

In February 2009 the Company closed on mortgages totaling $193.2 million The mortgages encumber certain of the

Companys Properties in Operation The net proceeds from these mortgages were used to pay down outstanding

borrowings under the $600 million Credit Facility and for general corporate purposes
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SCHEDULE III

LIBERTY PROPERTY TRUST
REAL ESTATE AND ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

In thousands

summary of activity for real estate and accumulated depreciation is as follows

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31

2008 2007 2006

REAL ESTATE
Ealanceatbeginningofyear 5765409 5101280 4649302

Additions 330371 939322 820012

Disposition of property 567248 275193 368034

Balance at end of year 5528532 $5765409 5101280

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

Balanceatbeginningofyear 858671 782750 712786

Depreciation expense 140925 126852 120947

Disposition of property 17482 50931 50983

Balance at end of year 982114 858671 782750
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Managements Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

To the Partners of Liberty Property Limited Partnership

The Companys management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial

reporting as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 3al and Sdi 5f The Companys internal control

system was designed to provide reasonable assurance to the Companys management regarding the preparation and

fair presentation of published financial statements

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief

Financial Officer we assessed the effectiveness of the Companys internal control over financial reporting as of

December 31 2008 In making this assessment we used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commissions COSO in Internal Control Integrated Framework Based on our

assessment we believe that as of December 31 2008 the Companys internal control over financial reporting is

effective based on those criteria

The Companys independent registered public accounting firm Ernst Young LLP has issued an attestation report

on the Companys internal controls over financial reporting which is included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements

Also projections of
any

evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become

inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may

deteriorate

February 27 2009
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Partners of Liberty Property Limited Partnership

We have audited Liberty Property Limited Partnerships the Operating Partnership internal control over financial

reporting as of December 31 2008 based on criteria established in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework issued

by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission the COSO criteria The Operating

Partnerships management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its

assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying

Managements Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting Our responsibility is to express an

opinion on the Operating Partnerships internal control over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about

whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects Our audit included

obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting assessing the risk that material weakness

exists testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk and

performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances We believe that our audit

provides reasonable basis for our opinion

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding

the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance

with generally accepted accounting principles companys internal control over financial reporting includes those

policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly

reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company provide reasonable assurance that

transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance

with authorizations of management and directors of the company and provide reasonable assurance regarding

prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the companys assets that could have

material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements

Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become

inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate

In our opinion Liberty Property Limited Partnership maintained in all material respects effective internal control

over financial reporting as of December 31 2008 based on the COSO criteria

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United

States the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31 2008 and 2007 and the related consolidated statements of

operations owners equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31 2008 of

Liberty Property Limited Partnership and our report dated February 25 2009 expressed an unqualified opinion

thereon

Is Ernst Young LLP

Philadelphia Pennsylvania

February 25 2009
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Partners of Liberty Property Limited Partnership

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Liberty Property Limited Partnership the

Operating Partnership as of December 31 2008 and 2007 and the related consolidated statements of operations

owners equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31 2008 Our audits also

included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15 These fmancial statements and schedule are

the responsibility of the Operating Partnerships management Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these

financial statements and schedule based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about

whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement An audit includes examining on test basis

evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements An audit also includes assessing the

accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management as well as evaluating the overall financial

statement presentation We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion the financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects the consolidated

financial position of Liberty Property Limited Partnership at December 31 2008 and 2007 and the consolidated

results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31 2008 in

conformity with U.S generally accepted accounting principles Also in our opinion the related financial statement

schedule when considered in relation to the financial statements taken as whole presents fairly in all material

respects the information set forth therein

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United

States Liberty Property Limited Partnerships internal control over fmancial reporting as of December 31 2008

based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 25 2009 expressed an unqualified opinion

thereon

/s/ Ernst Young LLP

Philadelphia Pennsylvania

February 25 2009
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS OF
LIBERTY PROPERTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

IN THOUSANDS

DECEMBER 31
2008 2007

ASSETS

Real estate

Land and land improvements 813397 792991

Buildings and improvements 4260121 4408309
Less accumulated depreciation 982114 858671

Operating real estate 4091404 4342629

Development in progress 245463 316985
Land held for development 209551 247124

Net real estate 4546418 4906738

Cash and cash equivalents 15794 37989
Restricted cash 39726 34567
Accounts receivable net 12985 15908
Deferred rent receivable 85352 79720
Deferred financing and leasing costs net 134029 144295
Investments in and advances to unconsolidated joint ventures 266602 278383
Assets held for sale

33662 36908
Prepaid expenses and other assets 82467 109429

Total assets $5217035 $5643937

LIABILITIES

Mortgage loans 198560 243169
Unsecured notes 2131607 2155000
Credit facility 260000 622960
Accounts payable 32481 44666
Accrued interest 36474 39725
Distributions payable 48858 59849
Other liabilities 182549 268926

Total liabilities 2890529 3434295

Minority interest 1130 517

OWNERS EQUITY
General partners equity common units 1956735 1837021
Limited partners equity preferred units 287959 287960

common units 80682 84144

Total owners equity 2325376 2209125

Total liabilities and owners equity $5217035 $5643937

See accompanying notes
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS OF

LIBERTY PROPERTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

IN THOUSANDS EXCEPT PER UNIT AMOUNTS

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31
2008 2007 2006

OPERATING REVENUE
Rental 520301 480107 426874

Operating expense reimbursement 228219 206724 180688

Total operating revenue 748520 686831 607562

OPERATING EXPENSES

Rental property 152786 143646 122826

Real estate taxes 86320 72563 64590

General and administrative 54378 54249 46332

Depreciation and amortization 173097 155616 132106

Total operating expenses 466581 426074 365854

Operating income 281939 260757 241708

OTHER INCOME EXPENSE

Interest and other income 13508 11727 8693

Debt extinguishment gain 2521

Interest expense 155675 127058 109482

Total other incomeexpense 139646 115331 100789

Income before property dispositions income taxes minority interest and equity in loss

earnings of unconsolidated joint ventures 142293 145426 140919

Gain on property dispositions 10572 1463 17628

Income taxes 1645 709 288

Minority interest 483 101
Equity in earnings loss of unconsolidated joint ventures 2805 226 1432

Income from continuing operations 153542 147271 159698

Discontinued operations including net gain on property dispositions of $23519

$33611 and $112620 for the years ended December31 2008 2007 and 2006

respectively 26081 42938 132352

Net income 179623 190209 292050

Preferred unit distributions 21012 17126 13691

Excess of preferred unit redemption over carrying amount 696

Income available to common unitholders 158611 172387 278359

Earnings per common unit

Basic

Income from continuing operations
1.35 1.36 1.56

Income from discontinued operations
0.27 0.45 1.42

Incomepercommonunitbasic
1.62 1.81 2.98

Diluted

Income from continuing operations 1.35 1.35 1.55

Income from discontinued operations 0.27 0.45 1.40

Income per common unit diluted 1.62 1.80 2.95

Weighted average number of common units outstanding

Basic 97814 95375 93208

Diluted 97994 95993 94387

See accompanying notes
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OWNERS EQUITY OF
LIBERTY PROPERTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

IN THOUSANDS

GENERAL LIMITED TOTAL

PARTNERS PARTNERS OWNERS

EQUITY EQUITY EQUITY

Balance at January 2006 1709182 252726 $1961908
Contributions from partners 107338 14067 93271
Distributions to partners 221907 23129 245036
Issuance of operating partnership units 56302 56302
Foreign currency translation adjustment 10417 10417
Net income 266574 25476 292050

Balance at December 31 2006 1871604 297308 2168912
Contributions from partners 77740 753 78493
Distributions to partners 278209 27640 305849
Issuance of operating partnership units 99958 99958

Redemption of operating partnership units 23653 23653
Foreign currency translation adjustment 1055 1055
Net income 164831 25378 190209

Balance at December 31 2007 1837021 372104 2209125
Contributions from

partners 215551 215551
Distributions to partners 221023 31144 252167
Foreign currency translation adjustment 26756 26756
Net income 151942 27681 179623

Balance at December 31 2008 $1956735 368641 $2325376

See accompanying notes
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS OF

LIBERTY PROPERTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

IN THOUSANDS

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31
2008 2007 2006

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net income 179623 190209 292050

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities

Depreciation and amortization 175236 163665 151966

Amortization of deferred financing costs 4429 4137 4244

Equity in loss eamings of unconsolidated joint ventures 2805 226 1432
Distributions from unconsolidated joint ventures 1660 3550 5692

Minority interest in net income 483 101

Gain on property dispositions 34091 35074 130248

Noncash compensation 9152 8128 6212

Changes in operating assets and liabilities

Restricted cash 10903 26211 21692

Accounts receivable 4277 4634 6879
Deferred rent receivable 13482 13455 924

Prepaid expenses and other assets 26326 14145 14394

Accounts payable 10913 3974 7648

Accrued interest 3251 3428 1405

Other liabilities 3935 1163 29084

Net cash provided by operating activities 268470 346752 324573

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Investment in
properties 60078 307846 372610

Cash paid for business net of cash acquired 626007

Investments in and advances to unconsolidated joint ventures 58250 227385 6239
Net proceeds from disposition of properties/land 382956 996474 492548

Investment in development in progress 247393 417877 339631

Increase in land held for development 47857 137051 79976

Increase in deferred leasing costs 33325 39232 29034

Net cash provided by used in investing activities 52553 758924 334942

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Net proceeds from issuance of notes payable 415063

Redemption of notes payable 415063

Net proceeds from issuance of unsecured notes 446205 295393

Repayment of unsecured notes 23393 250000 100000

Proceeds from mortgage loans 2667

Repayments of mortgage loans 46452 16365 56406

Proceeds from credit facility
572300 1363050 725025

Repayments on credit facility 782300 987050 733515

Increase in deferred financing costs 33 1224 1635

Capital contributions 206349 170313 113348

Distributions to partners 262973 328607 242537

Net cash used in provided by financing activities 333835 396322 327

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents 12812 15850 10696

Decrease increase in cash and cash equivalents related to foreign currency translation 9383 102 2804

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 37989 53737 61629

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 15794 37989 53737

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NONCASH TRANSACTIONS

Write-off of fully depreciated property and deferred costs 31421 102902 87424

Issuance of operating partnership common units 30000

Acquisition of properties 73556 3066

Assumption of mortgage loans 73556 3066

See accompanying notes
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF
LIBERTY PROPERTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

ORGANIZATION

Liberty Property Trust the Trust is self-administered and self-managed Maryland real estate investment trust

REIT Substantially all of the Trusts assets are owned directly or indirectly and substantially all of the Trusts

operations are conducted directly or indirectly by its subsidiary Liberty Property Limited Partnership

Pennsylvania limited partnership the Operating Partnership and together with the Trust and their consolidated

subsidiaries the Company The Trust is the sole general partner and also limited partner of the Operating

Partnership owning 96.0% of the common equity of the Operating Partnership at December 31 2008 The Company
provides leasing property management development acquisition and other tenant-related services for portfolio of

industrial and office properties which are located principally within the Mid-Atlantic Southeastern Midwestern and

Southwestern United States and the United Kingdom

All
square footage amounts are unaudited

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S generally accepted accounting principles US
GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect amounts reported in the financial

statements and accompanying notes Actual results could differ from those estimates

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company include the Operating Partnership and wholly owned

subsidiaries and those subsidiaries in which the Company owns majority voting interest with the ability to control

operations of the subsidiaries and where no approval veto or other important rights have been granted to the minority

shareholders All significant intercompany transactions and accounts have been eliminated

Reclassifications

Certain amounts from prior years have been reclassified to conform to current-year presentation

Real Estate and Depreciation

The properties are recorded at cost and are depreciated using the straight line method over their estimated useful

lives The estimated lives are as follows

Building and Improvements 40 years blended

Capital improvements 15 20
years

Equipment 10
years

Tenant improvements Term of the related lease

Expenditures directly related to acquisition or improvement of real estate including interest and other costs

capitalized during development are included in net real estate and are stated at cost The capitalized costs include

pre-construction costs essential to the development of the property development and construction costs interest

costs real estate taxes development-related salaries and other costs incurred during the period of development

Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to operations as incurred

In accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB Statement of Financial Standards SFAS
No 141 Business Combinations the Company allocates the purchase price of real estate acquired to land building

and improvements and intangibles based on the relative fair value of each component The value ascribed to in-place

leases is based on the rental rates for the existing leases compared to market rent for leases of similar terms and

present valuing the difference based on market interest rates Origination values are also assigned to in-place leases

and where appropriate value is assigned to customer relationships The Company depreciates the amounts allocated

to building and improvements over 40 years and the amounts allocated to intangibles relating to in-place leases

which are included in deferred financing and leasing costs and other liabilities in the accompanying consolidated

balance sheets over the remaining term of the related leases
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Once property is designated as held for sale no further depreciation expense
is recorded Operations for properties

identified as held for sale andlor sold where no continuing involvement exists are presented in discontinued

operations for all periods presented

The Company evaluates its real estate investments upon occurrence of significant adverse change in its operations

to assess whether any impairment indicators are present that affect the recovery of the recorded value If any real

estate investment is considered impaired loss is recognized to reduce the carrying value of the property to its

estimated fair value

Investments in Unconsolidated Joint Ventures

The Company accounts for its investments in unconsolidated joint ventures using the equity method of accounting as

the Company exercises significant influence but does not control these entities Under the equity method of

accounting the net equity investment of the Company is reflected in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets

and the Companys share of net income from the joint ventures is included in the accompanying consolidated

statements of operations

On periodic basis management assesses whether there are any indicators that the value of the Companys

investments in unconsolidated joint ventures may be impaired An investment is impaired only if managements

estimate of the value of the investment is less than the canying value of the investment and such decline in value is

deemed to be other than temporary To the extent impairment has occurred the loss shall be measured as the excess

of the carrying amount of the investment over the estimated fair value of the investment

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Highly liquid investments with maturity of three months or less when purchased are classified as cash equivalents

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash includes tenant security deposits and escrow funds that the Company maintains pursuant to certain

mortgage loans Restricted cash also includes the undistributed proceeds from the sale of residential land in Kent

County United Kingdom

Accounts Receivable/Deferred Rent Receivable

The Companys accounts receivable are comprised of rents and charges for property operating costs due from

tenants The Company periodically performs detailed review of amounts due from tenants to determine if accounts

receivable balances are collectible Based on this review accounts receivable are reduced by an allowance for

doubtful accounts The Company considers tenant credit quality and payment history and general economic

conditions in determining the allowance for doubtful accounts If the accounts receivable balance is subsequently

deemed uncollectible the receivable and allowance for doubtful account balance is written off

The Companys deferred rent receivable represents the cumulative difference between rent revenue recognized on

straight line basis and contractual payments due under the terms of tenant leases

The allowance for doubtful accounts at December 31 2008 and 2007 was $8.5 million and $6.0 million respectively

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the amounts paid in excess of the fair value of the net assets acquired from business acquisitions

accounted for under SFAS No 141 Business Combinations Pursuant to SFAS No 142 Accounting for

Goodwill and Intangible Assets SFAS 142 goodwill is not amortized to expense but rather is analyzed for

impairment In conjunction with the purchase of Republic goodwill of $15.3 million was recorded The goodwill is

assigned to the Northern Virginia/Washington D.C operation reporting unit which is part of the Philadelphia

reportable segment and is included in prepaid expenses and other assets on the Companys consolidated balance

sheets The Company assesses goodwill for impairment annually in November and in interim periods if certain

events occur indicating the carrying value may be impaired The Company performs its analysis for potential

impairment of goodwill in accordance with SFAS 142 which requires that two-step impairment test be performed

on goodwill In the first step the fair value of the reporting unit is compared to its carrying value If the fair value

exceeds its carrying value goodwill is not impaired and no further testing is required If the carrying value of the

reporting unit exceeds its fair value then second step must be performed in order to determine the implied fair

value of the goodwill and compare it to the carrying value of the goodwill If the carrying value of goodwill exceeds

its implied fair value then an impairment loss is recorded equal to the difference No impairment losses were

recognized during the years ended December 31 2008 or 2007
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Revenues

The Company earns rental income under operating leases with tenants Rental income is recognized on straight line

basis over the applicable lease term Operating expense reimbursements consisting of amounts due from tenants for

real estate taxes utilities and other recoverable costs are recognized as revenue in the period in which the

corresponding expenses are incurred

Termination fees included in rental revenue are fees that the Company has agreed to accept in consideration for

permitting certain tenants to terminate their lease prior to the contractual expiration date The Company recognizes

termination fees in accordance with Staff Accounting Bulletin 104 when the following conditions are met

the termination agreement is executed

the termination fee is determinable

all landlord services pursuant to the terminated lease have been rendered and

collectability of the termination fee is assured

Deferred Financing and Leasing Costs

Costs incurred in connection with financing or leasing are capitalized and amortized over the term of the related loan

or lease Deferred financing cost amortization is reported as interest expense Intangible assets related to acquired in-

place leases are amortized over the terms of the related leases

Costs Incurred for Preferred Unit Issuance

Costs incurred in connection with the Companys preferred unit issuances are reflected as reduction of Limited

partners equity preferred units

Income per Common Unit

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted income per common unit in thousands except per
unit amounts

2008 2007

WEIGHTED WEIGHTED
AVERAGE AVERAGE

INCOME UNITS PER INCOME UNITS PER

NUMERATOR DENOMINATOR UNIT NUMERATOR DENOMINATOR UNIT

Income from continuing operations 153542 147271

Less Preferred Unit distributions 21012 17126
Excess of preferred unit redemption over carrying amount 696

Basic income from
continuing operations

Income from continuing operations available to

commonunitholders 132530 97814 135 129449 95375 1.36

Dilutive units for long-term compensation plans 180 618

Diluted income from continuing operations

Income from continuing operations available

to common unitholders and assumed conversions 132530 97994 1.35 129449 95993 1.35

Basic income from discontinued operations

Discontinued
operations 26081 97814 0.27 42938 95375 0.45

Dilutive units for long-term compensation plans 180 618

Diluted income from discontinued operations

Discontinued operations 26081 97994 0.27 42938 95993 0.45

Basic income per common unit

Income available to common unitholders 158611 97814 1.62 172387 95375 1.81

Dtlutive units for long-term compensation plans 180 618

Diluted income per common unit

Income available to common unitholders and assumed

conversions $158611 97994 1.62 172387 95993 1.80
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2006

WEIGHTED

AVERAGE

INCOME UNITS PER

NUMERATOR DENOMINATOR UNIT

lncoiiic from
continlung operations 159698

less Preferred unit distributions 13691

Bask income from continuing operations

Income from continuing operations
available to

conimon uuitltolders 146007 93208 1.56

Dilutive units for long-term compensation plans 1179

Diluted income from continuing operations

Income from colitinuing operations asailable to

common unitholders and assumed conversions 146007 94387 1.55

Basic income from discontinued operations

Discontinued operations 132352 93208 1.42

Dilutive units for longtenis compensation plans 1179

Diluted income from discontinued operations

Discontinued operations 132352 94387 1.40

Basic income
per

common unit

Income available to common unitholders 278359 93208 2.98

Dilutive units ür long-term compensation plans 1179

Diluted income
per common unit

Income available to common unitholders and assumed

Conversions 278359 94387 2.95

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents restricted cash accounts receivable accounts payable accrued

interest distributions payable and other liabilities are reasonable estimates of fair values because of the short-term

nature of these instruments The fair value of the Companys long-term debt which is based on estimates by

management and on rates quoted on December 31 2008 for comparable loans is less than the aggregate carrying

value by approximately $713.1 million at December 31 2008

Income Taxes

In conformity with the Internal Revenue Code and applicable state and local tax statutes taxable income or loss of

the Operating Partnership is required to be reported in the tax returns of the partners in accordance with the terms of

the Partnership Agreement However the Company is taxed in certain states the United Kingdom and Luxembourg

Accordingly the Company has recognized federal state local and foreign taxes in accordance with US GAAP as

applicable

In July 2006 the FASB issued FASB interpretation No 48 Accounting for Uncertainty in income Taxes FIN
48 FIN 48 is an interpretation of SFAS No 109 Accounting for Income Taxes The Company adopted the

provisions of FIN 48 on January 2007 As result of the implementation of FIN 48 no uncertain tax positions were

identified which would result in the recording of liability for unrecognized tax benefits and correspondingly no benefit

recognition was identified that would affect the effective tax rate Additionally there are no possibly significant

unrecognized tax benefits which are reasonably expected to occur within the next 12 months The Companys policy is

to recognize interest accrued related to unrecognized benefits in interest expense and penalties in other expense There

are no interest and penalties deducted in the current period and no interest and penalties accrued at December 31 2008

and December 31 2007

Certain of the Companys taxable REIT subsidiaries have net operating loss earryforwards available of approximately

$19.3 million These carryforwards begin to expire in 2018 The Company has considered estimated future taxable

income and have determined that valuation allowance for the full carrying value of net operating loss carryforwards

is appropriate

The Company and its subsidiaries file income tax returns in the U.S federal jurisdiction certain state and local

jurisdictions the United Kingdom and Luxembourg With few exceptions the Company is no longer subject to U.S

federal state and local or United Kingdom and Luxembourg examinations by tax authorities for years
before 2005
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Foreign Currency Translation

The functional
currency of the Companys United Kingdom operations is pounds sterling The Company translates

the financial statements for the United Kingdom operations into US dollars Gains and losses resulting from this

translation do not impact the results of operations and are included in general partners equity-common units Other

comprehensive loss income was $26.8 million $1.1 million and $10.4 million for the years ended December 31
2008 2007 and 2006 respectively Upon sale or upon complete or substantially complete liquidation of foreign

investment the gain or loss on the sale will include the cumulative translation adjustments that have been previously

recorded in general partners equity-common units

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

SFAS No 157

In September 2006 the FASB issued SFAS No 157 Fair Value Measurements SFAS No 157 which defmes fair

value establishes framework for consistently measuring fair value under US GAAP and expands disclosures about fair

value measurements The hierarchy is measured in three levels based on the reliability of inputs

Level 1- Valuations based on quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities in market that the

Company has the ability to access

Level 2- Valuations based on quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities or inputs that are observable either directly or

indirectly through corroboration with observable market data

Level 3- Valuations derived from other valuation methodologies including pricing models discounted cash flow

models and similar techniques Level valuations incorporate certain assumptions and projections that are not directly

observable in the market and significant professional judgment in determining the fair value assigned to such assets or

liabilities

The Company adopted the provisions of SFAS No 157 on January 2008 The adoption of this statement did not

have material effect on the Companys fmancial position or results of operations

SFAS No 159

In February 2007 the FASB issued SFAS No 159 The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial

Liabilities SFAS No 159 SFAS No 159 provides companies with an option to report selected financial assets and

liabilities at fair value and establishes presentation and disclosure requirements designed to facilitate comparisons

between companies that choose different measurement attributes for similar types of assets and liabilities The Company

adopted the provisions of SFAS No 159 on January 2008 The adoption of this statement did not have material

effect on the Companys financial position or results of operations

SFAS No 141R
In December 2007 the FASB issued SFAS No 14 1R Applying the Acquisition Method SFAS No 14 1R This

statement changes the accounting for acquisitions specifically eliminating the step acquisition model changing the

recognition of contingent consideration from being recognized when it is probable to being recognized at the time of

acquisition disallowing the capitalization of transaction costs and delays when restructurings related to acquisitions can

be recognized SFAS No 141R is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15 2008 and will impact the

accounting for acquisitions made beginning January 2009 The Company does not anticipate that the adoption of this

statement will have material effect on its financial position or results of operations

SFAS No 160

In December 2007 the FASB issued SFAS No 160 Accounting for Noncontrolling Interests SFAS No 160
Under this statement noncontrolling interests are considered equity and thus the Companys practice of reporting

minority interests in the mezzanine section of the balance sheet will be eliminated Also under SFAS No 160 net

income will encompass the total income of all consolidated subsidiaries and there will be separate disclosure on the face

of the statement of operations of the attribution of that income between controlling and noncontrolling interests Finally

increases and decreases in noncontrolling interests will be treated as equity transactions The standard is effective on

January 2009 The Company does not anticipate that the adoption of this statement will have material effect on its

financial position or results of operations

FSP EITF 03-6-1

In June 2008 the FASB issued FASB Staff Position FSP Emerging Issues Task Force EITF 03-6-1

Determining Whether Instruments Granted in Share-Based Payment Transactions Are Participating Securities The

FSP clarifies that unvested share-based payment awards that contain nonforfeitable rights to dividends or dividend

equivalents are participating securities and shall be included in the computation of earnings per share pursuant to the
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two-class method FSP EITF 03-6-1 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15 2008 The Company

does not anticipate that the adoption of this statement will have material effect on its financial position or results of

operations

REAL ESTATE

The Company owns and operates industrial and office properties located principally in suburban mixed-use

developments or business parks The carrying value of these properties by type as of December 31 2008 and 2007 is

as follows in thousands

LAND BUILDINGS

AND LAND AND ACCUMULATED

IMPROVEMENTS IMPROVEMENTS TOTAL DEPRECIATION

2008

Industrial properties $361911 1831862 $2193773 433904

Office properties 451486 2428259 2879745 548210

2008 Total $813397 $4260121 $5073518 982114

2007

Industrial properties $337675 $1717500 $2055175 382241

Office properties 455316 2690809 3146125 476430

2007 Total 792991 $4408309 5201300 858671

Depreciation expense was $147.2 million in 2008 $135.4 million in 2007 and $124.9 million in 2006

As of December 31 2008 the Company had commenced development on 17 properties which upon completion are

expected to comprise 3.2 million square feet of leaseable space As of December 31 2008 $245.5 million had been

expended for the development of these projects and an additional $128.1 million is estimated to be required for

completion

Additionally unconsolidated joint ventures in which the Company had an interest had commenced development on

four properties which upon completion are expected to comprise 1.4 million square feet of leaseable space As of

December 31 2008 $135.3 million had been expended for the development of these projects and an additional $51.1

million is estimated to be required for completion

Information on the operating properties the Company sold during the years ended December 31 2008 and 2007 is as

follows

2008 SALES

NUMBER OF LEASEABLE

SEGMENT BUILDINGS SQUARE FEET GROSS PROCEEDS

in thousands

Northeast

Southeastern PA 166160 33557

New Jersey 159989 15100

Midwest 125876 9420

Mid-Atlantic 129150 16650

Florida 83583 5300

Total 13 664758 $80027
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2007 SALES

NUMBER OF LEASEABLE

SEGMENT BUILDINGS SQUARE FEET GROSS PROCEEDS

in thousands

Northeast

Southeastern PA 141714 8650

Lehigh/Central PA 289800 13775
Midwest 60 4257477 317600
Mid-Atlantic 399258 21363

Florida 152219 8152

Total 70 5240468 369540

In addition in 2008 the Company recognized the sale of the 1.25 million square foot Comcast Center to an

unconsolidated joint venture At the time of the sale 968000 leaseable square feet were in service and 282000

square feet were under development The gross proceeds from the sale were $512 million See Note below

INVESTMENTS IN UNCONSOLIDATED JOINT VENTURES

Listed below are the unconsolidated joint ventures in which the Company has noncontrolling interest The

Company receives fees from these joint ventures for services it provides These services include property

management leasing development and administration These fees are included in interest and other income in the

accompanying consolidated statements of operations The Company may also receive promoted interest if certain

return thresholds are met

Liberty Venture LP

The Company has 25% interest in Liberty Venture LP an entity engaged in the ownership of industrial properties

in New Jersey

As of December 31 2008 the joint venture owned 24 industrial properties totaling 3.1 million square feet and 43

acres of developable land as well as development property that when completed is expected to contain an

additional 225000 square feet of leaseable space The Company has guaranteed cost overruns in excess of the

approved project budget for the development property The Company considers payments under the guarantee

unlikely

The Company recognized $1.5 million $802000 and $634000 in fees for services during the years ended December

31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively

Kin2s Hill Unit Trust

The Company has 20% interest in Kings Hill Unit Trust an entity engaged in the ownership of office and industrial

properties in the County of Kent United Kingdom

As of December 31 2008 the joint venture owned 10 office properties and five industrial properties totaling 536000

square feet

The Company holds $4.1 million note receivable from Kings Hill Unit Trust The note receivable bears interest at

9% rate and is due in December 2010

Income from fees and interest was $764000 $1.6 million and $1.3 million during the years ended December 31
2008 2007 and 2006 respectively

Liberty/Commerz 1701 JFK Boulevard LP
On April 13 2006 the Company entered into joint venture pursuant to which it sold an 80% interest in the equity of

Comcast Center 1.25 million square foot office tower the Company was then developing in Philadelphia

Pennsylvania The transaction valued the property at $512 million Upon signing the joint venture agreement and

through March 30 2008 the criteria for sale recognition in accordance with SFAS No 66 Accounting for the Sales

ofReal Estate SFAS No 66 had not been met and the transaction was accounted for as financing arrangement
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On March 31 2008 $324 million ten-year secured financing at 6.15% interest rate for Comcast Center was

funded The proceeds from this financing were used to pay down outstanding borrowings on the Companys credit

facility

On March 31 2008 all conditions for sale treatment as outlined in SFAS No 66 were satisfied and the Company

recognized the sale of Comcast Center to an unconsolidated joint venture Profit on the transaction was deferred until

the costs of the project could be reasonably estimated Profit on the sale of $6.6 million was recognized in the fourth

quarter of 2008

As of December 31 2008 the Company had $15.1 million receivable from this joint venture This related party

receivable is due to the funding ofjoint venture development costs and is reflected in investments in and advances to

unconsolidated joint ventures the Companys consolidated balance sheets

The Company recognized $883000 in fees for services during the year ended December 31 2008

Liberty Illinois LP

On April 25 2006 the Company entered into joint venture Liberty Illinois LP with the New York State

Common Retirement Fund selling 75% equity interest in six industrial properties totaling 2.1 million square feet

and 104 acres of developable land The joint venture valued the buildings and land at $125.0 million

As of December 31 2008 the joint venture owned 14 industrial properties totaling 4.6 million square feet and 364

acres of developable land as well as development property that when completed is expected to contain an

additional 464000 square feet of leaseable space The Company has guaranteed cost overruns in excess of the

approved project budget for the development property The Company considers payments under the guarantee

unlikely

The Company recognized $1.2 million $791000 and $777000 in fees for services during the years ended December

31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively

Blythe Valley JV Sari

On September 10 2007 the Company entered into joint venture to acquire Blythe Valley Park West Midlands UK
for $325 million The park consists of 491000 square

feet of office properties and 98 acres of developable land The

Company holds $5.2 million note receivable from Blythe Valley JV Sarl and has 20% interest in the joint venture

The note receivable bears interest at 10% rate and is due in December 2017

The Company recognized $909000 and $446000 in fees for services during the years ended December 31 2008 and

2007 respectively

Liberty Washin2ton LP

On October 2007 the Company acquired Republic Property Trust Republic Acquisition Maryland real estate

investment trust and Republic Property Limited Partnership Delaware limited partnership and Republics operating

partnership together Republic for $916 million The acquisition of Republic was completed through the merger

of Republic with wholly owned subsidiary of the Company and the merger of Republics operating partnership with

the Companys Operating Partnership Republic operated portfolio consisting of 2.4 million square feet of office

space six acres of developable land and redevelopment property that when completed is expected to contain an

additional 176000 square feet of office space in the Northern Virginia and Washington D.C markets The Company

has guaranteed cost overruns in excess of the approved project budget for the development property The Company

considers payments under the guarantee unlikely

Concurrently the Company formed joint venture with New York State Common Retirement Fund to own and

manage the Republic portfolio Republic Disposition The joint venture in which the Company holds 25%

interest purchased the Republic real estate assets for $900 million The acquisition of Republic resulted in the

Company recording $16 million in goodwill and other intangibles

The Company had $59.5 million note receivable from Liberty Washington LP that was repaid in 2008

The Company recognized $5.6 million and $2.1 million in interest and fees for services during the year ended

December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively
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Other Joint Ventures

As of December 31 2008 the Company has 50% ownership interest in three additional unconsolidated joint

ventures One of these joint ventures has three operating properties and investments in property under development

and land held for development For the development project the Company has guaranteed cost overruns in excess of

the approved project budget The Company considers payments under the guarantee unlikely One of these joint

ventures has one operating property an investment in land held for development and leasehold interest The other

joint venture has leasehold interest and does not operate or own operating properties

The Companys share of each of the joint ventures earnings is included in equity in earnings loss of unconsolidated

joint ventures in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations

The condensed balance sheets as of December 31 2008 and 2007 and statements of operations for Liberty Venture

LP Kings Hill Unit Trust Liberty Illinois LP Blythe Valley JV Sarl Liberty Washington LP Liberty Commerz
1701 JFK Boulevard LP and other unconsolidated joint ventures for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and

2006 are as follows in thousands

Balance Sheets

December 2008

Liberty
Blythe

Liberty Commerz

Venture Kings Hill
Liberty

Valley JV Libert
1701 JFK

LP Unit Trust Illinois LP SarI Washington LP
Boulevard LP Other Total

Real estate assets 119523 170521 227318 189256 804587 492189 57933 2061327
Accumulated depreciation 16285 8971 12436 5301 28515 14013 790 86311

Real estate assets net 103238 161550 214882 183955 776072 478176 57143 1975016

Development in progress 9948 16252 101653 7524 135377
Land held for development 2733 42338 42668 7859 14435 110033
Other assets 13585 10481 9506 10353 58485 65495 31654 199559

Total assets 129504 172031 282978 236976 944069 543671 110756 2419985

Debt 82813 138634 145504 180004 350121 324000 38830 1259906

Other liabilities 2168 38112 7481 37899 40919 32362 19764 178705

Equity 44523 4715 129993 19073 553029 187309 52162 981374

Total liabilities and equity 129504 172031 282978 236976 944069 543671 110756 2419985

Companys net investment in

unconsolidated joint ventures 10355 3415 26583 9129 138102 50899 28119 266602
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December 31 2007

Liberty

Blythe Liberty Commerz 1701

Liberty Kings
Hill Liberty

Valley JV Washington JFK Boulevard

Venture LP Unit Trust Illinois LP
Sad LP LP Other Total

Real estate assets

Accumulated depreciation

Real estate assets net

Development in progress

Land held for development

Other assets

Total assets

118030 231399 225405 267488 802146

13115 8385 6533 2004 5746

104915 223014 218872 265484 796400

76483

2733 41008 48712 7859

24185 17551 11871 t87t6 54684

131833 240565 271751 332912 935426

14586 1659054

60 35843

t4526 1623211

40694 117177

28201 128513

15513 142520

98934 2011421

Debt

Other liabilities

Equity

Total liabilities and equity

Companys net investment in

unconsolidated joint ventures

81216 188765 145400 251654 339120

2830 50.656 3677 40399 43491

47787 1144 122674 40859 552815

131833 240565 271751 332912 935426

11352 6002 24729
11773 197622

43249 1049404

3834 144887

51851 817130

98934 2011421

26905 278383

Differences between the Companys net investment in unconsolidated joint ventures and its underlying equity
in the net assets of the

venture is primarily result of the deferral of gains
associated with the sales of properties to joint ventures tn whtch the Company

retains an ownership interest and loans made to the joint ventures by the Company Deferred gains are amortized to equity
in earnings

loss of joint ventures over the average estimated useful lives of the assets sold

Year Ended December 31 2008

Liberty

Liberty Blythe Liberty
Commerz 1701

Venture Kings Hill Liberty Valley JV Washington JFK Boulevard

LP Unit Trust Illinois LI Sari LP LP Other Total

19075 18057 22811 15386 76552 43607 3056 198544

Operating expense 7074 2490 7003 2377 24440 15080 709 59173

Interest

Depreciation and amortization

Other income/expense

Gain on sale

Net income loss

12001 15567 15808 13009

4522
4162

2473

2347

2057 71689

862 69477

96 2094

102 99

566 398

Companys equity in earnings loss of

unconsolidated joint ventures 1645 167 549 1370 1288 685 159 2805

Statements of Operations

Total revenue

9900 7833 14253

5272 7378 5911
924 195 467

52112 28527

17670 15454

34951 10941
722 191

5787 529 792 7622 213 2323

139371
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Total revenue

Operating expense

Year Ended December 31 2007

Liberty

Liberty Blythe Liberty Commerz 1701

Venture Kings Hill Liberty Valley JV Washington JFK Boulevard

LP Unit Trust Illinois LP SarI LP LP Other Total

397 80033

131 22283

266 57750

253 35681
70 28842
359 2185
867 1391

Net income loss

Companys equity in earnings loss of

unconsolidated
joint ventures

4630 4964 48 7775 675

1320 732 399 1514 232

1169 7567

533 226

Year Ended December 31 2006

Liberty

Liberty Blythe Liberty Commerz 1701

Venture Kings Hill Liberty Valley JV Washington JFK Boulevard

LP Unit Trust Illinois LP Sari LP LP Other Total

Total revenue

Operating expense

18395 18183

5364 2181

7471

1833

44049

171 9549

Interest

Depreciation and amortization

Other income/expense

Gain on sale

Net income loss

Companys equity in earnings loss of

unconsolidated
joint ventures

13031 16002 5638

2527
2502

171 34500

20483

13313
392 334
138 2782

359 3152

179 1432

18457 19696 17360 5920

5807 2374 4433 5265

18203

4273

12650 17322 12927 655 13930

Interest 4240 14583
Depreciation and amortization 4228 7058
Other income/expense 76 645
Gain on sale 524

6297
6316

266

6009
2201

220

4299
8969
1337

4501 13455

4544 6267
127 604
2644

6503 4324 614

1651 657 259
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DEFERRED FINANCING AND LEASING COSTS

Deferred financing and leasing costs at December 31 2008 and 2007 are as follows in thousands

DECEMBER 31
2008 2007

Deferred
leasing costs 188056 173669

Deferred financing costs 8754 12077

In-place lease value and related intangible asset 77564 77760

274374 263506

Accumulated amortization 140345 119211

Total 134029 144295

INDEBTEDNESS

Indebtedness consists of mortgage loans unsecured notes and borrowings under the credit facility The weighted

average interest rates for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 were 6.1% 6.5% and 6.6%

respectively Interest costs during the
years

ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 in the amount of $20.0 million

$45.7 million and $30.8 million respectively were capitalized Cash paid for interest for the years ended December

31 2008 2007 and 2006 was $177.0 million $172.9 million and $150.2 million respectively

During the fourth quarter of the year ended December 31 2008 the Company purchased $23.4 million of its 8.5%

senior unsecured notes These notes were purchased at $2.5 million discount The discount is included in net

income as loan extinguishment gain

During the year ended December 31 2007 the Company satisfied $100 million 7.25% senior unsecured note and

issued $300 million 6.625% senior unsecured note due October 2017 The Company used the net proceeds to

pay down outstanding borrowings under the Companys unsecured credit facility and for general corporate purposes

Amounts repaid under the credit facility were subsequently drawn to pay portion of the cash merger consideration

for the purchase of Republic Property Trust

During the year ended December 31 2006 the Company satisfied $100 million 6.95% medium term note and

issued $300 million 5.50% senior unsecured note due December 15 2016 The Company used the net proceeds to

pay down outstanding borrowings under the Companys unsecured credit facility and for general corporate purposes

The Company is subject to financial covenants contained in some of the debt agreements the most restrictive of

which are detailed below under the heading Credit Facility As of December 31 2008 the Company was in

compliance with all financial covenants

Mortgage Loans Unsecured Notes

Mortgage loans with maturities ranging from 2009 to 2017 are collateralized by and in some instances cross-

collateralized by properties with net book value of $309.4 million

The interest rates on $2327.5 million of mortgage loans and unsecured notes are fixed and range from 5.0% to 8.8%

The weighted average remaining term for the mortgage loans and unsecured notes is 4.9 years

Credit Facility

$600 Million Unsecured Revolving Credit Facility

The Company has four-year $600 million unsecured revolving credit facility the $600 million Credit Facility

Based on the Companys present ratings borrowings under the $600 million Credit Facility are priced at LIBOR plus

65 basis points The $600 million Credit Facility contains competitive bid option whereby participating lenders bid

on the interest rate to be charged This feature is available for up to 50% of the amount of the facility The interest rate

on the $260.0 million of borrowings outstanding as of December 31 2008 was 1.56% The current ratings for the

Companys senior unsecured debt are Baa2 BBB and BBB from Moodys SP and Fitch respectively The $600

million Credit Facility has an accordion feature for an additional $200 million There is also 15 basis point annual

facility fee on the current borrowing capacity The $600 million Credit Facility expires on January 16 2010 and may
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be extended for one-year period The fee to extend the $600 million Credit Facility for one year is $900000 The

$600 million Credit Facility contains financial covenants certain of which are set forth below

total debt to total assets may not exceed 0.601

earnings before interest taxes depreciation and amortization to fixed charges may not be less than

1.501

unsecured debt to unencumbered asset value must equal or be less than 60% and

unencumbered net operating income to unsecured interest expense must equal or exceed 200%

The scheduled principal amortization and maturities of the Companys mortgage loans unsecured notes outstanding

and the $600 million Credit Facility and the related weighted average interest rates are as follows in thousands

except percentages

MORTGAGES WEIGHTED

AVERAGE

PRINCIPAL PRINCIPAL UNSECURED CREDIT INTEREST

AMORTIZATION MATURITIES NOTES FACILITY TOTAL RATE

2009 6586 41833 270000 318419 7.76%

2010 5823 4736 176607 260000 447166 4.40%

2011 5159 13409 250000 268568 7.23%

2012 4336 32875 235000 272211 6.47%

2013 3857 4510 8367 5.79%

2014 3888 2684 200000 206572 5.66%

2015 3336 44469 300000 347805 5.25%

2016 2409 16880 300000 319289 5.55%

2017 1770 300000 301770 6.62%

2018 thereafter 100000 100000 7.50%

37164 $161396 $2131607 260000 $2590167 6.06%

LEASING ACTIVITY

Future minimum rental payments due from tenants under noncancelable operating leases as of December 31 2008

are as follows in thousands

2008 491933

2009 441833

2010 375467

2011 312982

2012 248657

Thereafter 680230

TOTAL $2551102

In addition to minimum rental payments most leases require the tenants to pay for their pro rata share of specified

operating expenses These payments are included as operating expense reimbursement in the accompanying

consolidated statements of operations

OWNERS EQUITY

Common Units

General and Limited partners equity common units relates to limited partnership interests of the Operating

Partnership issued in connection with the formation of the Company and certain subsequent acquisitions During

2006 684432 common units were issued in connection with an acquisition No common units were issued in

connection with acquisitions during 2008 or 2007 The common units outstanding as of December 31 2008 have the

same economic characteristics as common shares of the Trust The 4074967 common units are the common units

held by persons and entities other than Liberty Property Trust the general partner of Liberty Property Limited

Partnership which holds number of common units equal to the number of outstanding common shares of beneficial

interest Both the common units held by Liberty Property Trust and the common units held by persons and entities

other than Liberty Property Trust are counted in the weighted average number of common units outstanding during
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any given period The 4074967 common units share proportionately in the net income or loss and in any

distributions of the Operating Partnership and are exchangeable into the same number of common shares of the Trust

The market value of the 4074967 common units at December 31 2008 based on the closing price of the shares of

the Company at December 31 2008 was $93.0 million

Preferred Units

The Company has outstanding the following Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Units of the Operating Partnership

the Preferred Units

DATE OF LIQUIDATION DIVIDEND REDEEMABLE

ISSUE ISSUE AMOUNT UNITS PREFEItENcE RATE As OF EXCHANGEABLE AFTER

in 000s

7/28/99 Series $95000 3800 $25 7.45% 8/31/09 1/1/14 into Series Cumulative

Redeemable Preferred Shares of the Trust

6/16/05 Series $20000 400 $50 7.00% 6/16/10 6/16/15 into Series Cumulative

Redeemable Preferred Shares of the Trust

6/30/05 Series $44000 880 $50 6.65% 6/30/10 6/30/15 into Series Cumulative

Redeemable Preferred Shares of the Trust

8/23/05 Series $6000 120 $50 6.65% 6/30/10 6/30/15 into Series Cumulative

Redeemable Preferred Shares of the Trust

12/15/06 Series $27000 540 $50 6.70% 12/12/11 12/12/16 into Series Cumulative

Redeemable Preferred Shares of the Trust

8/21/07 Series $100000 4000 $25 7.40% 8/21/12 8/21/17 into Series Cumulative

Redeemable Preferred Shares of the Trust

During the year ended December 31 2007 the Company raised $100 million through the placement of 7.40% Series

Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Units

During the
year

ended December 31 2007 the Company redeemed for $23.7 million its outstanding 7.625% Series

Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Units The redemption resulted in $0.7 million write off of Series issuance

costs

The Company paid the following Preferred Unit distributions for the year ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

Distributions in millions $21.0 $17.1 13.7

Distribution per unit

Series $1.86 $1.86 1.86

SeriesD $1.74 $1.74 3.81

Series $3.50 $3.50 3.50

Series $3.33 $3.33 3.33

SeriesG $3.35 $3.35 0.16

Series $1.85 $0.67

Minority Interest

Minority interest includes third-party ownership interests in consolidated joint venture investments

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Substantially all of the Properties and land were subject to Phase Environmental Assessments and when appropriate

Phase II Environmental Assessments collectively the Environmental Assessments obtained in contemplation of

their acquisition by the Company The Environmental Assessments consisted of among other activities visual

inspection of each Property and its neighborhood and check of pertinent public records The Environmental

Assessments did not reveal nor is the Company aware of any non-compliance with environmental laws

environmental liability or other environmental claim that the Company believes would likely have material adverse

effect on the Company

The Company is obligated to make additional capital contributions to unconsolidated joint ventures of $3.8 million

The Company has not guaranteed any of the debt of the unconsolidated joint ventures

104



The Company has letter of credit obligations of $2.0 million related to development requirements It is remote that

there will be draw upon these letter of credit obligations

The Company maintains cash and cash equivalents at financial institutions The combined account balances at each

institution typically exceed FDIC insurance coverage and as result there is concentration of credit risk related to

amounts on deposit in excess of FDIC insurance coverage The Company believes the risk is not significant

Litigation

The Company has been substituted for Republic as party to certain litigation as result of the Companys

acquisition of Republic on October 2007 The litigation arises out of disputes between Republic and certain

parties two of whom were members of Republics Board of Trustees and founders of Republic The disputes

include claims arising from the termination of an officer of Republic damages sought $1.8 million and an attempt

by Republic to acquire certain office property from an entity controlled by the aforementioned related parties

pursuant to an option agreement entered into at the time of Republics formation damages sought $85.0 million

compensatory and $85.0 million punitive The Company believes that these claims are without merit and intends to

defend itself vigorously against this litigation

In accordance with SFAS No Accounting for Contingencies the Company will record provision for liability

when it is both probable that liability has been incurred and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated

Although the outcome of any litigation is uncertain the Company believes that such legal actions will not have

material adverse affect on our consolidated financial condition results of operations or cash flows

10 QUARTERLY RESULTS OF OPERATIONS UNAUDITED

summary of quarterly results of operations for the years ended December 31 2008 and 2007 follows Certain

amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current presentation of discontinued operations in thousands

except per share amounts

QUARTER ENDED

DEC.31 SEPT.30 JUNE 30 MAR.31 DEC.31 SEPT.30 JUNE 30 MAR.31
2008 2008 2008 2008 2007 2007 2007 2007

Operating revenue $189202 $186616 $182756 $189946 $185136 $173818 $165757 $162120

Income from continuing operations 48847 34637 34863 35195 31147 37019 39408 39697

Discontinuedoperations 10347 10916 3447 1371 11267 6106 19896 5669

Income available to common

unitholders 53941 40300 33057 31313 37161 38879 54834 41513

Income per common unit basic 0.53 0.41 0.34 0.33 0.39 0.41 0.57 0.44

Incomepercommonunitdiluted1 0.53 0.41 0.34 0.33 0.39 0.41 0.57 0.43

The sum of quarterly financial data may vary from the annual data due to rounding
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11 SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Company operates its portfolio of properties primarily throughout the Mid-Atlantic Southeastern Midwestern

and Southwestern United States Additionally the Company owns certain assets in the United Kingdom The

Company reviews the performance of the portfolio on geographical basis As such the following regions are

considered the Companys reportable segments

REPORTABLE SEGMENTS MARKETS

Northeast Southeastern PA Lehigh/Central PA New Jersey

Midwest Minnesota Milwaukee Chicago

Mid-Atlantic Maryland Carolinas Richmond Virginia Beach

South Jacksonville Orlando Boca Raton Tampa Texas Arizona

Philadelphia Philadelphia Northern Virginia/Washington D.C

United Kingdom County of Kent West Midlands

The Companys reportable segments are distinct business units which are each managed separately in order to

concentrate market knowledge within geographic area Within these reportable segments the Company derives its

revenues from its two product types industrial properties and office properties

During the year ended December 31 2008 the Company began to report the results of the Arizona market as part of

the South reportable segment rather than listing Arizona as its own reportable segment as it had been presented in

2007 Also the Company began to report the results of the LehighlCentral PA market as part of the Northeast

reportable segment rather than as part of the Midwest segment The Company also began to report the results of

certain operating properties containing 834000 square feet in the Philadelphia reportable segment rather than as

part of the New Jersey market in the Northeast reportable segment as they had been presented in 2007 As

required by SFAS No 131 SFAS No 131 Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related

Information consolidated financial statements issued by the Company in the future will reflect modifications to the

Companys reportable segments resulting from the change described above including reclassification of all

comparative prior period segment information

The Company evaluates performance of the reportable segments based on property level operating income which is

calculated as rental revenue and operating expense
reimbursement less rental property expenses and real estate taxes

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as those for the Company on consolidated basis

The operating information by segment is as follows in thousands

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 2008

NORTHEAST

LEHIGH/

SOUTHEASTERN CENTRAL NEW PHILA- IThtITED

PA PA JERSEy MIDWEST MID-ATLANTIC SOUTH DELPHIA KINGDOM TOTAL

Operating revenue 178507 99418 38004 82964 142543 173319 29426 4339 748520

Rental property

expenses
and real estate

taxes 57729 26978 14848 31074 41652 57990 7791 1044 239106

Property level operating

income 120778 72440 23156 51890 100891 115329 21635 3295 509414

Interest and other income 13508

Debt extinguishment gain 2521

Interest expense 155675
General and administrative 54378

Depreciation and amortization 173097

Income before property dispositions income taxes minonty interest 142 293
and equity in earnings of unconsolidated joint ventures

Gain on property dispositions 10572

Income taxes 1645

Minority interest 483

Equity in earnings of unconsolidated joint ventures 2805

Discontinued operations 26081

Net income 179623
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YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 2007

Operating revenue

Rental
property

expenses
and real estate

taxes

SOUTHEASTERN LEHIGH/ NEW MU
PA CENTRAL PA JERSEY MIDWEST ATLANTIC SoUTH

172142 91631 36162 80926 128599 150693

PHILA- UNITED

DELPHIA KINGDOM

23963 2715

33 216209

Property level operating

income 115192 68015 26934 52865 90075 100274 14585 2682 470622

Income before property dispositions income taxes minonty interest

and equity in loss of unconsolidated Joint ventures

Gain on property dispositions

Income taxes

Minority interest

Equity in loss of unconsolidated joint ventures

Discontinued operations

Net income 190209

Operating revenue

Rental
property expenses

and real estate taxes

SOUTHEASTERN LEHJGHJ NEW PHiLA

PA CENTRAL PA JERSEY MIDWEST MID-ATLANTIC SOUTH DELPHIA

168227 83849 34584 75966 114593 113347 15829

54181 20434 8128 26752 33925 36822 6913

UNITED

KINGDOM TOTAL

1167 607562

261 187416

Property level operating

income 114046 63415 26456 49214 80668 76525 8916 906 420146

Income betore property dispositions incom taxes minority interest

and equity in earnings
of unconsolidated Joint ventures

Gain on property dispositions

Income taxes

Minority interest

Equity in earnings of unconsolidated joint ventures

Discontinued operations

Net income 292050

NORTHEAST

56950 23616 9228 28061 38524 50419 9.378

TOTAL

686831

Interest and other income

Interest expense

General and administrative

Depreciation and amortization

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 2006

11727

127058

54249
155.616

145426

1463

709

101
226

42938

NORTHEAST

Interest and other income

Interest
expense

General and administrative

Depreciation and amortization

8693

109482

46332
132106

140919

17628

288

1432

132352
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PRODUCT TYPE INFORMATION REAL ESTATE RELATED REVENUES

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31

2008 2007 2006

Industrial $300763 $274865 $253222

Office 447757 411966 354340

Total operating revenue $748520 $686831 $607562

ROLLFOR WARD OF OPERATING REAL ESTATE ASSETS BY REPORTABLE SEGMENT

NORTHEAST

SOUTHEASTERN LEHIGH MID- PHILA- UNITED

PA CENTRALPA NEWJERSEY MIDWEST ATLANTIC SOUTH DELPHIA KINGDOM1 TOTAL

Januaiy

2008 1103372 676963 199662 543445 965546 $1190232 470548 51532 5201300

Additions 40599 76621 22763 7319 50811 109111 7729 13119 301834

Dispositions 23232 10921 8928 15338 3300 367897 429616

December

31 2008 1120739 753584 211504 541836 1001019 $1296043 110380 38413 5073518

Accumulated depreciation 982114
Development in

progress 245463

Land held for development 209551

Assets held for sale 33662

Other assets 636955

Total assets at December 31 2008 5217035

ROLLFORWARD OF OPERATING REAL ESTATE ASSETS BY REPORTABLE SEGMENT

NORTHEAST

LEHIGH
SOUTHEASTERN CENTRAL PHILA- UNITED

PA PA NEWJERSEY MIDWEST MID-ATLANTIC SOUTH DELPHIA KINGDOMl TOTAL

January

2007 1048142 582475 112397 699585 861863 953808 103008 11435 $4372713
Additions 67645 103750 87265 64050 114274 245317 367540 40097 1089938

Dispositions 12415 9262 220190 10591 8893 261351

December

312007 1103372 676963 199662 543445 965546 $1190232 470548 51532 5201300

Accumutated depreciation 858671
Development in

progress 316985

Land held for development 247124

Assets held for sale 36908

Other assets 700291

Total assets at December 31 2007 5643937

United Kingdom additions are impacted by foreign currency translation gain or loss
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12 SFAS NO 144 ACCOUNTING FOR THE IMPAIRMENT OR DISPOSAL OF LONG-LIVED
ASSETS

Discontinued Operations

In accordance with SFAS No 144 the operating results and gain/loss on disposition of real estate for properties

sold and held for sale are reflected in the consolidated statements of operations as discontinued operations Prior year

financial statements have been adjusted for discontinued operations The proceeds from dispositions of operating

properties with no continuing involvement were $80.0 million and $369.5 million for the years ended December 31
2008 and 2007 respectively

Below is summary of the results of operations of the properties disposed of through the respective disposition dates

in thousands

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31

2008 2007 2006

Revenues 13295 43330 85536

Operating expenses 5377 17375 31202
Interest expense 2203 6957 14764

Depreciation and amortization 3153 9671 19838

Income before property dispositions and minority interest 2562 9327 19732

Six properties totaling 296000 square feet located in the Companys Mid-Atlantic segment are considered to be held

for sale as of December 31 2008

Interest expense is allocated to discontinued operations as permitted under EITF Issue 87-24 Allocation of Interest

to Discontinued Operations and such interest expense has been included in computing income from discontinued

operations The allocation of interest expense to discontinued operations was based on the ratio of net assets sold

without continuing involvement to the sum of total net assets plus consolidated debt

Asset Impairment

In accordance with SFAS No 144 during the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 the Company

recognized impairment losses of $3.1 million $0.2 million and $4.2 million respectively The 2008 impairment loss

of $3.1 million was recognized in the fourth quarter and was related to 49000 square foot operating property in the

Midwest segment 110000 square foot operating property in Southeastern PA and 296000 square foot portfolio

of operating properties in the Mid-Atlantic segment The 2007 impairment loss of $0.2 million was related to

various land parcels The 2006 impairment loss of $4.2 million was primarily related to 352000 square foot

portfolio of operating properties in the Midwest segment For the years ended December 31 2008 and 2006

respectively $3.1 million and $4.2 million in impairment related to properties sold or held for sale were included in

the caption discontinued operations in the Companys statement of operations For the
year

ended December 31

2007 $0.2 million in impairment was included in the caption gain on property dispositions as component of income

from continuing operations The Company determined these impairments through comparison of the aggregate

future cash flows including quoted offer prices to be generated by the properties to the carrying value of the

properties The Company has evaluated each of the properties and land held for development and has determined

that there are no additional valuation adjustments necessary at December 31 2008

13 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

In December 2008 the Company commenced the sale of common shares pursuant to continuous offering program

From January 2009 through February 23 2009 the Company sold 2.3 million common shares through this

program The net proceeds from the offering of $47.4 million were used to pay down outstanding borrowings under

the $600 million Credit Facility and for general corporate purposes

In February 2009 the Company closed on mortgages totaling $193.2 million The mortgages encumber certain of the

Companys Properties in Operation The net proceeds from these mortgages were used to pay down outstanding

borrowings under the $600 million Credit Facility and for general corporate purposes
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SCHEDULE III

LIBERTY PROPERTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
REAL ESTATE AND ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

In thousands

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31

2008 2007 2006

5765409 5101280 4649302

330371 939322 820012

567248 275193 368034

5528532 $5765409 5101280

858671 782750 712786

140925 126852 120947

17482 50931 50983

982114 858671 782750

summary of activity for real estate and accumulated depreciation is as follows

REAL ESTATE
Balance at beginning of year

Additions

Disposition of property

Balance at end of year

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

Balance at beginning of year

Depreciation expense

Disposition of property

Balance at end of year
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ITEM CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None

ITEM 9A CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Companys management with the participation of its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer

evaluated the effectiveness of its disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rule 3a- 15e under the

Exchange Act as of the end of the period covered by this report Based on this evaluation the Companys Chief

Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that the Companys disclosure controls and

procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report were functioning effectively to provide reasonable

assurance that information required to be disclosed by the Company in its reports filed or submitted under the

Exchange Act is recorded processed summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SECs rules

and forms and ii accumulated and communicated to the Companys management including its principal executive

and principal financial officers or persons performing similar function as appropriate to allow timely decisions

regarding required disclosure

Managements Annual Reports on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Managements Annual Reports on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting which appear on pages
42 and 84 are

incorporated by reference herein

Attestation Reports of the Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Attestation Reports of the Registered Public Accounting Firm which appear on pages 43 44 85 and 86 are

incorporated by reference herein

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in the Companys internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended December

31 2008 that have materially affected or are reasonable likely to materially affect the Companys internal control

over financial reporting

ITEM 9B OTHER INFORMATION

None
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PART III

ITEM 10 TRUSTEES EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by Item 10 shall be included in the Proxy Statement to be filed relating to the Companys
2009 Annual Meeting of Shareholders and is incorporated herein by reference

ITEM 11 EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by Item 11 shall be included in the Proxy Statement to be filed relating to the Companys
2009 Annual Meeting of Shareholders and is incorporated herein by reference

ITEM 12 SECURiTY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENTAND
RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by Item 12 shall be included in the Proxy Statement to be filed relating to the Companys
2009 Annual Meeting of Shareholders and is incorporated herein by reference

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

The information required by Item 12 shall be included in the Proxy Statement to be filed relating to the Companys
2009 Annual Meeting of Shareholders and is incorporated herein by reference

ITEM 13 CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND TRUSTEE
INDEPENDENCE

The information required by Item 13 shall be included in the Proxy Statement to be filed relating to the Companys
2009 Annual Meeting of Shareholders and is incorporated herein by reference

ITEM 14 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by Item 14 shall be included in the Proxy Statement to be filed relating to the Companys
2009 Annual Meeting of Shareholders and is incorporated herein by reference
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PART IV

ITEM 15 EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

The following consolidated financial statements of Liberty Property Trust and Liberty Property Limited Partnership

are included in Item

REPORTS OF ERNST YOUNG LLP INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING

FIRM AND CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Managements Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting Liberty Property Trust

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm Liberty Property Trust

Financial Statements Liberty Property Trust

Balance Sheets

Liberty Property Trust Consolidated as of December 31 2008 and 2007

Statements of Operations

Liberty Property Trust Consolidated for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006

Statements of Shareholders Equity

Liberty Property Trust Consolidated for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006

Statements of Cash Flows

Liberty Property Trust Consolidated for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements Liberty Property Trust

Managements Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting Liberty Property Limited Partnership

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm Liberty Property Limited Partnership

Financial Statements Liberty Property Limited Partnership

Balance Sheets

Liberty Property Limited Partnership Consolidated as of December 31 2008 and 2007

Statements of Operations

Liberty Property Limited Partnership Consolidated for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006

Statements of Owners Equity

Liberty Property Limited Partnership Consolidated for the years
ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006

Statements of Cash Flows

Liberty Property Limited Partnership Consolidated for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements Liberty Property Limited Partnership

FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

Schedule III Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation as of December 31 2008 for Liberty Property Trust

All other schedules are omitted because they are either not required or the required information is shown in the

financial statements or notes thereto

Schedule III Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation as of December 31 2008 for Liberty Property Limited

Partnership
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All other schedules are omitted because they are either not required or the required information is shown in the

financial statements or notes thereto
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EXHIBITS

The following exhibits are filed herewith or are incorporated by reference to exhibits previously filed

EXHIBIT NO DESCRIPTION

2.1 Agreement and Plan Merger dated as of July 23 2007 by and among Liberty Property Trust

Liberty Property Limited Partnership Liberty Acquisition LLC Republic Property Trust and

Republic Property Limited Partnership Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Current

Report on Form 8-K of the Registrants filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on

July 24 2007

3.1.1 Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust of the Trust Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1.1

filed with the Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on June 25 1997

the June 1997 Form 8-K

3.1.2 Articles Supplementary to the Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust of the Trust Relating to

Designation Preferences and Rights of Series Junior Participating Preferred Shares of the Trust

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1.3 filed with the Registrants Annual Report on Form 10-K

for the fiscal year ended December 31 1997

3.1.3 Articles Supplementary to the Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust of the Trust relating to

the 9.25% Series Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares of Beneficial Interest Incorporated

by reference to Exhibit 3.1.2 filed with the Registrants Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the

fiscal quarter
ended June 30 1999 the Second Quarter 1999 Form 10-Q

3.1.4 Articles Supplementary to the Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust of the Trust relating to

the 7.625% Series Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares of Beneficial Interest Incorporated

by reference to Exhibit 3.1.1 filed with the Registrants Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the

fiscal quarter
ended June 30 2002 the Second Quarter 2002 Form 10-Q

3.1.5 Articles of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust of the Trust filed with

the State Department of Assessments and Taxation of Maryland on June 21 2004 Incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 3.1 with Registrants Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter

ended June 30 2004 the Second Quarter 2004 Form 10-Q

3.1.6 Restatement of the Amended Restated Declaration of Trust of the Trust filed with the State

Department of Assessments and Taxation of Maryland on June 21 2004 Incorporated by reference

to Exhibit 3.2 to the Second Quarter 2004 Form 10-Q

3.1.7 Articles Supplementary as filed with the State Department of Assessments and Taxation of

Maryland on September 2004 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3i to the Current Report on

Form 8-K of the Registrants filed with the Commission on September 2004 the September

2004 Form 8-K

3.1.8 Articles Supplementary to the Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust of the Trust relating to

the 7.00% Series Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares of Beneficial Interest Incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 3i to the Current Report on Form 8-K of the Registrants filed with the

Commission on June 17 2005 the June 17 2005 Form 8-K

3.1.9 Articles Supplementary to the Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust of the Trust relating to

the 6.65% Series Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares of Beneficial Interest Incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 3i to the Current Report on Form 8-K of the Registrants filed with the

Commission on June 30 2005 the June 30 2005 Form 8-K

3.1.10 Articles Supplementary to the Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust of the Trust relating to

the 6.65% Series Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares of Beneficial Interest Incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 3i to the Current Report on Form 8-K of the Registrants filed with the

Commission on August 24 2005
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EXHIBIT NO DESCRIPTION
3.1.11 Articles Supplementary to the amended and Restated Declaration of Trust of the Trust relating to

the 6.70% Series Cumulative Redeemable Shares of Beneficial Interest Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3i to the Current Report on Form 8-K of the Registrants filed with the

Commission on December 18 2006 the December 18 2006 Form 8-K

3.1.12 Articles Supplementary to the Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust of the Trust relating to

the 7.40% Series Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Partnership Interests Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3i to the Current Report on Form 8-K of the Registrants filed with the

Commission on August 23 2007 the August 23 2007 Form 8-K

3.1.13 Second Restated and Amended Agreement of Limited Partnership of the Operating Partnership

dated as of October 22 1997 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1.1 filed with the Registrants

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended September 30 1997 the Third Quarter

1997 Form 10-Q

3.1.14 First Amendment to Second Restated and Amended Agreement of Limited Partnership of the

Operating Partnership Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1.1 to the Second Quarter 1999

Form 10-Q

3.1.15 Second Amendment to Second Restated and Amended Agreement of Limited Partnership of the

Operating Partnership Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1.2 to the First Quarter 2000

Form l0-Q

3.1.16 Third Amendment to Second Restated and Amended Agreement of Limited Partnership of the

Operating Partnership Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1.2 to the Second Quarter Form 2002

10-Q

3.1.17 Fourth Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of the

Operating Partnership Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 to the September 2004 Form 8-

3.1.18 Fifth Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of

Liberty Property Limited Partnership Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 to the June 17 2005

8-K

3.1.19 Sixth Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of

Liberty Property Limited Partnership Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 to the June 30 2005

8-K

3.1.20 Amendment No to the Sixth Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated Agreement of

Limited Partnership of Liberty Property Limited Partnership Incorporated by reference to Exhibit

10 to the Current Report on Form 8-K of the Registrants filed with the Commission on August 24
2005

3.1.21 Amendment No to the Sixth Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated Agreement of

Limited Partnership of Liberty Property Limited Partnership Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10 to the Current Report on Form 8-K of the Registrants filed with the Commission on

December 23 2005

3.1.22 Seventh Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of

Liberty Property Limited Partnership Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 to the December 18
2006 Form 8-K

3.1.23 Eighth Amendment to the Second Amendment and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of

Liberty Property Limited Partnership Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 to the August 23
2007 Form 8-K

3.1.24 Amended and Restated Schedule to the Second Restated and Amended Agreement of Limited

Partnership of the Operating Partnership
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EXHIBIT NO DESCRIPTION

3.1.25 Liberty Property Trust First Amended and Restated By-Laws of the Trust as Amended on

December 2007 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 filed with the Current Report on Form

8-K filed with the Commission on December 12 2007

4.1 Indenture the First Indenture dated as of August 14 1997 between the Operating Partnership

as Obligor and The First National Bank of Chicago First Chicago as Trustee Incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.1 filed with the Third Quarter 1997 Form 10-Q

4.2 First Supplemental Indenture dated as of August 14 1997 between the Operating Partnership as

Issuer and First Chicago as Trustee supplementing the First Indenture and relating to

$100000000 principal amount of the 7.10% Senior Notes due 2004 and $100000000 principal

amount of the 7.25% Senior Notes due 2007 of the Operating Partnership Incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.2 filed with the Third Quarter 1997 Form 10-Q

4.3 Senior Indenture the Second Indenture dated as of October 24 1997 between the Operating

Partnership as Obligor and First Chicago as Trustee Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3

filed with the Third Quarter 1997 Form 10-Q

4.4 First Supplemental Indenture dated as of October 24 1997 between the Operating Partnership as

Issuer and First Chicago as Trustee supplementing the Second Indenture and relating to the Fixed

Rate and Floating Rate Medium-Term Notes due Nine Months or More from Date of Issue of the

Operating Partnership Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 filed with the Third Quarter 1997

Form 10-Q

4.5 Second Supplemental Indenture dated as of January 12 1998 between the Operating Partnership

as Issuer and First Chicago as Trustee supplementing the Second Indenture and relating to the

Fixed Rate and Floating Rate Medium-Term Notes due Nine Months or more from Date of Issue of

the Operating Partnership Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 filed with the Registrants

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 31 1998 the First Quarter

1998 Form 10-Q

4.6 Third Supplemental Indenture dated as of April 20 1999 between the Operating Partnership as

Issuer and the First National Bank of Chicago as Trustee supplementing the Second Indenture and

relating to the $250000000 principal amount of 7.75% Senior Notes due 2009 of the Operating

Partnership Incorporated by reference to Exhibit filed with the Registrants Quarterly Report on

Form 0-Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 31 1999 the First Quarter 1999 Form 10-Q

4.7 Fourth Supplemental Indenture dated as of July 26 2000 between the Operating Partnership as

Issuer and Bank One Trust Company N.A as Trustee supplementing the Senior Indenture dated

as of October 24 1997 between the Operating Partnership as Obligor and Bank One Trust

Company N.A as successor to the First National Bank of Chicago as Trustee and relating to

$200000000 principal amount of 8.5% Senior Notes due 2010 of the Operating Partnership

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit to the Second Quarter 2000 Form 10-Q

4.8 Fifth Supplemental Indenture dated as of March 14 2001 between the Operating Partnership as

Issuer and Bank One Trust Company N.A as Trustee supplementing the Senior Indenture dated

as of October 24 1997 between the Operating Partnership as Obligor and Bank One Trust

Company N.A as successor to the First National Bank of Chicago as Trustee and relating to

$250000000 principal amount of 7.25% Senior Notes due 2011 of the Operating Partnership

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.10 filed with the Registrants Annual Report on Form 10-K

for the fiscal year ended December 31 2000
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EXHIBIT NO DESCRIPTION
4.9 Sixth Supplemental Indenture dated as of August 22 2002 between Liberty Property Limited

Partnership as Issuer and Bank One Trust Company N.A as Trustee supplementing the Senior

Indenture dated as of October 24 1997 between Liberty Property Limited Partnership as Obligor
and Bank One Trust Company N.A as successor to the First National Bank of Chicago as

Trustee and relating to $150000000 principal amount of 6.375% Senior Notes due 2012 of Liberty

Property Limited Partnership Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1.1 filed with the Registrants

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended September 30 2002 the Third Quarter
2002 Form 10-Q

4.10 Seventh Supplemental Indenture dated as of August 10 2004 between Liberty Property Limited

Partnership as Issuer and Bank One Trust Company N.A as Trustee supplementing the Senior

Indenture dated as of October 24 1997 between Liberty Property Limited Partnership as Obligor
and Bank One Trust Company National Association as successor to the First National Bank of

Chicago as Trustee and relating to $200000000 principal amount of 5.65% Senior Notes due

2012 of Liberty Property Limited Partnership Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1.2 filed with

the Registrants Quarterly Report on Form lO-Q for the fiscal quarter ended September 30 2004

the Third Quarter 2004 Form 10-Q

4.11 Eighth Supplemental Indenture dated as of March 2005 between Liberty Property Limited

Partnership as Issuer and Bank One Trust Company as Trustee supplementing the Senior

Indenture dated as of October 24 1997 between Liberty Property Limited Partnership as Obligor
and Bank One Trust Company National Association as successor to the First National Bank of

Chicago as Trustee and relating to $300000000 principal amount of 5.125% Senior Notes due

2015 of Liberty Property Limited Partnership Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 filed with
the Registrants Current Report on Form 8-KIA filed with the Commission on March 2005 the
March 2005 Form 8-K

4.12 Ninth Supplemental Indenture dated as of December 18 2006 between Liberty Property Limited

Partnership as Issuer and The Bank of New York Trust Company N.A as Trustee supplementing
the Senior Indenture dated as of October 24 1997 between Liberty Property Limited Partnership
as Obligor and The Bank of New York Trust Company N.A as successor to J.P Morgan Trust

Company National Association and the First National Bank of Chicago as Trustee and relating to

$300000000 principal amount of 5.50% Senior Notes due 2016 of Liberty Property Limited

Partnership Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.13 to the Registrants Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31 2006

4.13 Tenth Supplemental Indenture dated as of September 25 2007 between Liberty Property Limited

Partnership as Issuer and The Bank of New York Trust Company N.A as Trustee supplementing
the Senior Indenture dated as of October 24 1997 between Liberty Property Limited Partnership
as Obligor and The Bank of New York Trust Company N.A as successor to J.P Morgan Trust

Company National Association and the First National Bank of Chicago as Trustee and relating to

$300000000 principal amount of 6.625% Senior Notes due 2017 of Liberty Property Limited

Partnership Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrants Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended September 30 2007

4.14 Note Relating to the Issuance by the Operating Partnership on January 22 1998 of $75 Million

Principal Amount of its 6.375% Medium-Term Notes due 2013 Putable/Callable 2003

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 filed with the First Quarter 1998 Form lO-Q

4.15 Note Relating to the Issuance by the Operating Partnership on January 23 1998 of $100 Million

Principal Amount of its 7.50% Medium-Term Notes due 2018 Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 4.3 filed with the First Quarter 1998 Form 10-Q

4.16 Note Relating to the Issuance by the Operating Partnership on June 1998 of$100 Million

Principal Amount of its 6.60% Medium-Term Notes due 2002 Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit filed with the Registrants Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended

June 30 1998 the Second Quarter 1998 Form lO-Q
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EXHIBIT NO DESCRIPTION

4.17 Note Relating to the Issuance by the Operating Partnership on November 24 1998 of $20 Million

Principal Amount of its 8.125% Medium-Term Notes due January 15 2009 Incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 4.11 filed with the Registrants Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year

ended December 31 1998

10.1 Liberty Property Trust Amended and Restated Share Incentive Plan as amended effective May 17

2007 Incorporated by reference to Appendix to the Registrants Definitive Proxy Statement for

the Annual Meeting of Shareholders held on May 17 2007 filed with the Commission on April 17

2007

10.2 Contribution Agreement Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 filed with the Form S-il

10.3 Amended and Restated Limited Partnership Agreements of Pre-existing Pennsylvania Partnerships

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 filed with the Form S-i

10.4 Agreement of Sale for the Acquisition Properties Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 filed

with the Form S-li

10.5 Option Agreement and Right of First Offer Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 filed with the

Form S-il

10.6 Form of Indemnity Agreement Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 filed with the Form S-il

10.7 Contribution Agreement among the Trust the Operating Partnership and the Contributing Owners

described therein related to the Lingerfelt Properties Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1

filed with the Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on March

1995

10.8 Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of December 22 2005 by and among the

Operating Partnership the Trust certain affiliated co-borrowers with Bank of America N.A as

Administrative Agent JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A as Syndication Agent Wachovia Bank

National Association SunTrust Bank and Citizens Bank of Pennsylvania as Documentation

Agents PNC Bank National Association and Wells Fargo Bank National Association as

Managing Agents Banc of America Securities LLC and J.P Morgan Securities Inc as Joint Lead

Arrangers and Joint Bookrunners and the lenders party thereto Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.8 filed with Registrants Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31

2006

10.9 Liberty Property Trust Amended Management Severance Plan

10.10 Liberty Property Trust Employee Stock Purchase Plan Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.14 filed with the Registrants Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended

December 31 2000

10.11 Description of Compensation of Non-Employee Trustees Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1

to the Current Report on Form 8-K of the Registrants filed with the Commission on February 23

2005

10.12 Liberty Property Trust 2008 Long-Term Incentive Plan Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1

filed with the Registrants Quarterly Report on Form i0-Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 31

2008 the First Quarter 2008 Form iO-Q

10.13 Form of Restricted Share Grant under the Liberty Property Trust Amended and Restated Share

Incentive Plan Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K of the

Registrants filed with the Commission on February 24 2005 the February 24 2005 8-K

10.14 Form of Option Grant Agreement under the Liberty Property Trust Amended and Restated Share

Incentive Plan Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 filed with the First Quarter 2008 Form 10-

130



EXHIBIT NO DESCRIPTION

10.15 Amended and Restated Limited Partnership of Liberty/Commerz 1701 JFK Boulevard Limited

Partnership dated as of April 11 2006 by and among Liberty Property Philadelphia Corporation IV

East as general partner and the Operating Partnership and 1701 JFK Boulevard Philadelphia L.P
as limited partners Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 filed with the Registrants Quarterly

Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended June 30 2006 the Second Quarter 2006
Form 10-Q

10.16 NOT Support Agreement dated as of April 11 2006 by Liberty Property Limited Partnership in

favor of Liberty/Commerz 1701 JFK Boulevard L.P and 1701 JFK Boulevard Philadelphia L.P

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 filed with the Registrants Second Quarter 2006
Form l0-Q

10.17 Completion and Payment Agreement and Guaranty dated as of April 11 2006 by the Operating

Partnership for the benefit of 1701 JFK Boulevard Philadelphia L.P and Liberty/Commerz 1701

JFK Boulevard L.P Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 filed with the Registrants Second

Quarter 2006 Form 10-Q

10.18 Agreement of Limited Partnership of Liberty Washington L.P by and between Liberty Washington
Venture LLC and New York State Common Retirement Fund dated as of October 2007

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 filed with the Registrants Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the fiscal year ended December 31 2007

10.19 Contribution Agreement among New York State Common Retirement Fund and Liberty Property
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EXHIBIT NO DESCRIPTION

32.1 Certifications of the Chief Executive Officer of Liberty Property Trust required under Rule 3a-

14b of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended This exhibit shall not be deemed filed

for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended or otherwise

subject to the liability of that section Further this exhibit shall not be deemed to be incorporated by

reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933 as amended or the Securities Exchange

Act of 1934 as amended

32.2 Certifications of the Chief Financial Officer of Liberty Property Trust required by Rule 3a- 14b

under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended This exhibit shall not be deemed filed

for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended or otherwise

subject to the liability of that section Further this exhibit shall not be deemed to be incorporated by

reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933 as amended or the Securities Exchange

Act of 1934 as amended

32.3 Certifications of the Chief Executive Officer of Liberty Property Trust in its capacity as the general

partner of Liberty Property Limited Partnership required by Rule 13a-14b under the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 as amended This exhibit shall not be deemed filed for purposes of

Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended or otherwise subject to the liability

of that section Further this exhibit shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any

filing under the Securities Act of 1933 as amended or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as

amended

32.4 Certifications of the Chief Financial Officer of Liberty Property Trust in its capacity as the general

partner of Liberty Property Limited Partnership required by Rule 3a- 14b under the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 as amended This exhibit shall not be deemed filed for purposes of

Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended or otherwise subject to the liability

of that section Further this exhibit shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any

filing under the Securities Act of 1933 as amended or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as

amended

99.1 Portions of the Proxy Statement for the Liberty Property Trust 2008 Annual Meeting of

Shareholders

Filed herewith

Confidential treatment has been requested with respect to portions of this exhibit pursuant to Rule 24b-2 under

the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended
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The Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995 provides safe harbor for forward-looking statements Certain information included in this Annual Report as well as information included in oral

statements or other written statements made or to be made by the Companyl contain statements that are or wilt be forward-looking such as statements relating to rental operations business and property

development activitiesJoint venture relationships acquisitions and dispositions including related pro forma financial informationl future capital expenditures financing sources and availability litigation

and the effects of regulation including environmental regulation and competition These forward-looking statements generally are accompanied by words such as believes anticipates expects

estimates should seeks intends planned outlook and goal or similar expressions Although the Company believes that the expectations reflected in such forward-looking statements

are based on reasonable
assumptions the Company can give no assurance that its expectations will be achieved As forward-looking statements these statements involve important risks uncertainties

and other factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from the expected results and accordingly such results may differ from those
expressed in any forward-looking statements made by

or on behalf of the Company The Company assumes no obligation to update or supplement forward-looking statements that become untrue because of subsequent events These risks uncertainties

and other factors include without limitation uncertainties affecting real estate businesses generally such as entry into new leases renewals of leases and dependence on tenants business operations
risks relating to our ability to maintain and increase property occupancyand rental rates risks relating to construction and development activities risks

relating to acquisition and disposition activities risks

relating to the integration of the operations of entities that we have acquired or may acquire risks relating to joint venture relationships and
any possible need to perform under certain guarantees that we

have issued or may issue in connection with such
relationships possible environmental liabilities risks relating to leverage and debt service including availability of financing terms acceptable to the

Company and sensitivity of the Companys operations and financing arrangements to fluctuations in interest ratesl dependence on the primary markets in which the Companys properties are located
the existence of

complex regulations relating to status as REIT and the adverse consequences of the failure to qualify as REIT risks
relating to litigation including without limitation litigation involving

entities that we have
acquired or may acquire and the potential adverse impact of market interest rates on the market price for the Companys securities See Managements Discussion and Analysis of

Financial Condition and Results of OperationsForward-Looking Statements
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TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS

about the noisy state of the real estate

industrynoise concerning among other things real estate bubbLes and

rising cap rates With all this as backdrop Liberty went quietly about its

business of being real estate operating company

time when many real estate

companies are deriving increasing amounts of revenue from transactions

and fees 99% of Libertys revenue is stilt coming from rent This rent is

achieved from leases averaging nearly seven years in length The tenants

behind those leases are quality companies and none of them account for

more than 4% of our revenues This combination creates very visible

predictable earnings stream something we believe should be highly valued

by RET investors We went on to warn our readers of the danger to the

industry and the economy of transactionoriented landscape Very little

if any attention is being paid to the core operations of the business of

real estatetaking care of customers leasing expertise relationships

innovations in developmentin other words how we create value every day

If you sense some frustration in those words you are right Frankly Libertys

operating model was out of favor Too boring too stable in world of ever-

escalating expectations Other questions we got tired of hearing at the time

were whether we would ever consider utilizing more leverage Iloading up on

debt to increase our returns or getting into the merchant-building business

to increase FF0 The answer was no

We went on to state our view of the REIT value proposition We believe

there is place in the investment landscape for fully integrated REITs with

long-term operating perspectivesRE that can be relied upon to deliver

sustainable earnings and dividends for shareholders by simply being great

real estate operators

We still believe this and given the events of the last two years

even more so

FINANCAL PERFORMANCE

Operating revenue increased to $749 million in 2008 from $687 million in

2007 Net income decreased to $1.62 per share from $1.80 per share

Revenue rose primarily due to the increased size of the portfolio The

drop in net income was primarily due to increased amortization due to

higher tenant improvement costs Funds from operations increased to

$3.20 per share in 2008 from $3.18 per share in 2007

LIC PROPERLY IRU1



OP ER AT ON

Our portfolio performed as expected in 2008 given the

deteriorating economy The Liberty leasing machine was in

high gear and we leased more than 20 million square feet

of space Occupancy was off slightly but remained over 91%

Tenant retention was at the highest level in years consistent

with tenant behavior in an uncertain economy Rents on

leases executed in 2008 increased healthy 6.4%

Of particular note is the performance of our Horsham

Pennsylvania team Libertys Horsham portfolio was burdened

with 500000 square feet of vacancy going into 2008 vacancy

created when two of our Horsham tenants in need of

expansion and consolidation space moved into new facilities

we developed for them As we go to print 410000 square

feet of the space has been leased testimony to our

management and leasing abilities

From where we sit today we expect 2009 to be rugged but

manageable with occupancy remaining relatively flat and

rents under pressure

Fortunately only 11% of our portfolio significantly lower

than an average year will expire this year This is partially

attributable to many leases being renewed early and

put to bed in 2008

Also the uncertain economic climate will continue to make

renewing in place the most economical option for many

tenants Even if lower rents can be achieved elsewhere moving

expenses land hence the use of precious capital and the cost

of business disruption generally outweigh the savings Libertys

portfolio which offers highquality but valueoriented space

is highly competitive in this environment and we expect to

maintain high tenant retention rate

It is also important to consider Libertys geographic distribution

Our markets have historically outperformed during difficult

economic times Our largest market Greater Philadelphia

is one of the healthier real estate markets nationally

Ouring 2008 we completed 21 development projects totaling

3.9 million square feet representing an investment of $384

million We began development of only 10 projects and our

development pipeline has dropped to $560 million from $1 billion

two years ago We anticipate few if any development starts in

2009 and those that we do consider will be build4osuit

opportunities that offer appropriate returns on our investment

We acquired only one property for $17 million and we sold

13 properties and 25 acres of land for $84 million

CAPITAL AND BALANCE SHEET MANAGEMENT

In anticipation of continued deterioration in market liquidity

in the fall of 2008 we took number of steps to bolster our

capital position In October we raised $150 million through

the sale of 4.75 million common shares

In November we reduced our annualized dividend from $2.50

to $1.90 This will allow us to retain an additional $60 million

annually We will discuss this in more detail later in the letter

In December we began execution of continuous equity

sales program This program allows us to sell up to $150

million in shares

Also in December we began to opportunistically repurchase

our debt buying back $23 million of our 2010 senior notes

which were trading at 10% discount We will continue to

explore opportunities to purchase our debt as the market

allows in order to further strengthen our balance sheet

in manner advantageous to our shareholders

2009 CAPITAL PLAN

Our capital plan is intended to ensure that our 2009 requirement

of approximately $500 million is adequately covered This

requirement consists primarily of the repayment of maturing

loans and the completion of our development pipeline

We fund our capital requirements through combination

of debt equity and asset sales Working capital is provided

Occupancy
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through $600 million line of credit The line of credit is due

in 2010 and we can extend it for one year to January 2011

Our strong balance sheet and conservative financial

perspective which contribute to our investmentgrade

ratings had allowed us tremendous access to the unsecured

debt markets and so we have historically replenished our

credit line with proceeds from the sale of unsecured notes

With todays financial turmoil the unsecured debt market

has become extraordinarily expensive so it has become

less attractive financing option for us and many others

One of the financing options available to us is the secured

debt markets commercial mortgages Liberty has capably

accessed the market and has raised $317 million in 2009

Because we have typically utilized unsecured debt we

historically had very few mortgages which gives us enormous

capacity for accessing this funding source

As more REITs seek to access the mortgage market for funding

the investment community has become increasingly concerned

that companies may be in danger of testing their existing debt

covenantswhich among other things limits the amount of

secured debt allowable Breaching covenants can cause loans

to be placed in default Liberty has significant capacity to

access secured debt under our current debt covenants

The final source of funds is asset sales We anticipate selling

approximately $200 million in real estate in 2009

We expect the combination of these capital sources to be

more than adequate to finance our capital needs this year

and along with additional mortgage debt should provide the

necessary liquidity to satisfy 2010 requirements

DIVIDEND POLICY

Given our earlierstated position on the value of the dividend

as an integral part of the REIT model reducing our dividend

was very difficult decision for our board of trustees to make

In last years annual report we discussed the shortfall

expected to be temporaryin dividend coverage due to our

geographic repositioning strategy But the economic events of

2008 adversely affected our ability to close that funding gap in

the near term and clearly the most prudent course of action

was to retain our capital Our financial
flexibility

has been

significantly enhanced by the move which has been to the

benefit of all our shareholders

The Internal Revenue Service has granted REITs the option to

pay portion of our dividends in stock in 2009 We understand

that many of our shareholders depend on cash dividend

for income and our dividend reduction has already eaten into

that cash We believe that our capital plan for the year will be

sufficient to allow us to maintain the dividend at its current

level and pay it in cash But if we learned anything from 2008

it is that whatever you believe cannot happen may in fact be

just around the corner We will see where the world takes us

this year and the board of trustees will continue to consider

all options when safeguarding our shareholders investment

GOODBYE JAC AND THANVS

Jack Miller has served Liberty well for 14 years with his wisdom

good humor and business acumen but he will be leaving our

board of trustees at the end of his current term He is simply

wonderful man and he will be sorely missed

THE MORE TH NC HANC

TH MORE IHEYStAYTHE IME

2009 will be very ugly year There will be more bank losses

and closures There will be more layoffs and more foreclosures

But in world where the inconceivable keeps happening

Liberty is in an enviable place The Liberty franchise is solid

ship built to withstand this storm and an agile enough ship to

quickly adapt to an everchanging environment We have or

will have the capital to meet our liquidity needs We have the

diversification of assets markets and tenants to minimize our

risk profile We have the talent and experience to respond to

our customers needs We are focused and alert and given

the difficult waters glad to be on the Liberty ship

Sincerely yours

Itiam Hankowsky

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

FinanciaL Structure

data 12/31/os

Dcbt to Gross Assets
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